
 

 
 

CABINET 
 

4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 11TH SEPTEMBER, 2019 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the  
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION 

Strategic 

3. Formal Approval Of A New Welsh Government 
Sustainable Management Scheme (Sms) Project 
Entitled Taf Bargoed Catchment Restoration  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

5 - 10 

Portfolio 

4. Highway Adoption   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

11 - 14 

5. Petition from residents of Alexander Road, 
Penydarren (Park Ward)  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

15 - 18 

6. School Reorganisation 3-16 Voluntary Aided 
School  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

19 - 158 

7. Glebeland Place, Town Centre – Proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

159 - 166 

8. Petition from residents of Edwards Terrace, 
Quakers Yard  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

167 - 168 

9. Tramroad Side North, Town Centre - Proposed 
Permanent Traffic Regulation Order  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

169 - 176 

10. Care Inspectorate Wales Performance Review   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 

177 - 184 



 

11. Inspection Report – Community Mental Health 
Team  

 

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

185 - 222 

Information Reports 

12. Schools Balances 2018-2020   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

223 - 230 

13. NEETs Prevention and Performance   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

231 - 236 

14. Flying Start Programme Performance   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

237 - 246 

15. Garden Rent Review   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

247 - 250 

16. Garage Rent Review   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

251 - 254 

CLOSED SESSION 

Exempt 

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (13 & 14) under 
Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 
 

17. YMCA – Professional Team Appointment   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

255 - 258 



18. MTCBC Change Programme – Quarter One 
Progress 2019-2020  

 

 To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

259 - 264 

RE-OPENED SESSION 

19. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair) 

                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair)  
  
 Councillors     A Barry, C Davies, D Hughes and 

G Thomas 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

FORMAL APPROVAL OF A NEW WELSH GOVERNMENT SUSTAINABLE 
MANAGEMENT SCHEME (SMS) PROJECT ENTITLED TAF BARGOED 
CATCHMENT RESTORATION 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Welsh Government funded Sustainable Management Scheme (SMS) is part of 

the Co-operation and Supply Chain Development Scheme delivering under Measure 
16 Article 35 of Regulation (EU) 1305/2013. 

 
1.2 This report seeks to gain Cabinets agreement to formally approve and accept a grant 

of £417,000 from Welsh Government to undertake the proposed Taf Bargoed 
Catchment Restoration Project in the southern end of the County Borough. 

 
1.3 The fund aims to support collaborative landscape-scale projects delivering action 

that improves natural resources in a way that delivers benefits to farms, rural 
businesses and rural communities as well as hopefully reducing the amount of silt 
being brought down from the tributaries into the Taf Bargoed Lakes. 

 
1.4 The Taf Bargoed Catchment Restoration Project is a collaborative project made-up 

of a number of Council departments as well as major stakeholders like Welsh 
Government, National Resources Wales, South Wales Rivers Trust as well as 
others.  

 
1.5 The SMS has been designed to specifically contribute to the European Union’s 

overarching rural development policy that is designed ‘to meet the challenges faced 
by our rural areas, and unlocking their potential’ and provides grants of between 
£10,000 and  £5,000,000 in order to achieve this 

Date Written 28th August 2019 ** 

Report Author Chris Long, Ryan Barry & Harri Evans 

Service Area Community Regeneration  

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt  

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Council take on the role as grant recipient body (GRB) for the project as well as 

being the overarching project manager be approved.  
 
2.2 The acceptance of the SMS programme grant offer of £417,000 which equates to 

82% of the total project costs of £507,287.00 be approved. 
 
2.3 Approves the Council’s £60,191.34 match funding allocation as well as NRW’s 

£30,095.66 contribution towards the project be approved. 
 
2.4 The appointment of a three-year fixed term post to implement and manage the 

project, its finance and evaluation at the end be approved. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Taf Bargoed River Catchment Area, like many parts of the South Wales Valleys, 

has changed significantly due to rapid industrialisation and instances of human 
intervention (good and bad). 
 

3.2 The Taf Bargoed River Catchment, situated in the heart of the South Wales Valleys, 
has been an important part of the lives of the people it serves for generations. The 
communities of Trelewis, Treharris & Bedlinog in Merthyr Tydfil have the closest 
affinity with this spring-fed river; although the catchment encompasses other wards 
in Merthyr Tydfil and the wider County Borough of Caerphilly.   
 

3.3 In 2014, Capita wrote a report on the condition of the Taff Bargoed Lake citing the 
following: 
 
 “The silt build-up in the Taff Bargoed Lakes is a natural process associated 
 with the drop in flow energy as the water enters the lakes. If left untreated the 
 sedimentation along the banks of the lake will continue, eventually clogging  the 
lakes and creating a marshland habitat”   
  

3.4 At present, the Taf Bargoed River Catchment Area still experiences a number of 
issues. These include: 

 

 Poor water framework directive classification, 

 Spoil heaps adding sedimentation into the river, 

 Lateral erosion and instability of the river banks, 

 Bed incision, resulting in poor connectively between the river and its 
floodplain, 

 Leaching of the soil and mineral left over from the mining activities 
causing pollution at point sources, 

 Poaching and ford crossings exacerbating natural erosion process, 

Page 6



 Ecosystem and habitat components have become somewhat 
disconnected, 

 Siltation of Parc Taf Bargoed Lake, which at present rates will 
potentially lead to the loss of the community / visitor facilities and 
potentially compromise the structure of the lake, 

 A lack of community engagement with the river leading to apathy and 
antisocial behavioural issues such as fly tipping.  

 
3.5 In November 2018, the Council’s Community Regeneration Department applied for 

£417,000 from the Welsh Government’s Rural Communities – Rural Development 
Programme 2014-2020 Sustainable Management Scheme with a view of addressing 
some of the siltation and ecological issues at Parc Taff Bargoed Lakes and the 
surrounding areas.  
 

3.6 The Taf Bargoed Catchment Restoration Project will look to restore natural and 
ecological resilience processes, which in turn, will provide downstream benefits to 
both the wider environment and local communities.  
 

3.7 The ambition of the project is to develop a sustainable and proactive ‘guardianship’ 
approach between land owners and key stakeholders which should be adopted in 
order to manage the catchment long-term.  
 

3.8 In terms of project finance, there is an allocation aligned to the Council employing a 
Project Manager to coordinate the project as well as financing traditional and 
innovative physical interventions on the catchment area, implementing ecological 
monitoring / surveying systems, engaging with the community and implementing 
communication activities.  

 
 

4.0 PROJECT INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The Taf Bargoed River Catchment Area Project will look to improve and enhance 

habitats and connectivity in river channel, floodplains and riparian corridors by 
utilising a variety of river restoration techniques.  
 

4.2 As part of the project, strategic fencing, riparian corridor tree planting and natural 
regeneration schemes will look restore river banks, protect against river bank erosion 
and reconnect habitats within the identified area. This in turn will inevitably build 
resilience processes into the area’s biodiversity and ecosystems. 
 

4.3 The Taf Bargoed Catchment Project will also engage with the local community 
members, businesses and organisation in order to ascertain their needs and views 
on the project as well as providing volunteering opportunities surrounding river 
restoration activities. In addition, the project will also encourage walks of the 
catchment area in order to hopefully re-connect people with river and park, its social 
history and realise the health and wellbeing benefits of being outdoors. 
 

 
 

Page 7



4.4 The Taf Bargoed Catchment Project is a collaborative scheme between MTCBC and 
these key stakeholders: 
 

 Natural Resources Wales, 

 South Wales River Trust (SEWRT) 

 Friends of Taff Bargoed Park, 

 Merthyr Tydfil Biodiversity Partnership, 

 Merthyr (South Wales) Ltd, Gelligaer & Merthyr Commoners 
Association, 

 Mr. Ryan Laurence (Lord of the Manor) Representation from David 
Weston (Agent), 

 Relevant Landowners, 

 Local Businesses,  

 Aberfan Canoe Club,  

 Rock UK Summit Centre,  

 Taf Bargoed Angling Association, 

 Taf Bargoed Development Trust, 

 Cardiff University 

 Caerphilly County Borough Council 
 
4.5 Cardiff University will be tasked to lead on both a socio-economic study and 

hydrological data survey as part of the monitoring of resilience in the catchment area 
throughout the three-year project. 
 

4.6 A river habitat survey will be undertaken at the beginning and the end of the project 
to monitor any changes and report on the subsequent impact. 
 

4.7 Physical work will include the following activities:  
 

 7640m of tree planting,  

 9170m of fencing, 

 1130m of in channel measures, 

 400m of paleo-channel reconnection, 

 At least x11 in-channel structure adaptations. 
 
4.8 From the very start of the project one of the main responsibilities for the Project 

Manager will be set around ‘succession planning’ with a conclusive ‘Management 
Plan’ will be created which will provide a long term legacy and exit strategy for the 
project. 
 

4.9 As a result of the capital investment, the first year will be spent monitoring flows and 
the impacts of remedial works.  We know that for a project of this type we are not 
likely to realise the true benefits for at least five years (for example, the WFD (Water 
Framework Directive) classification, which is why a guardianship approach in the 
catchment is so important. 
 

4.10 River habitat surveys will continue to be undertaken and by year three it is envisaged 
that there will be a change in the wildlife and vegetation presence within the 

Page 8



catchment area. It is possible that some further interventions may be required at this 
stage due to the adaptive nature of the project.   

 
4.11 Five years after the project has ended, we will look to build on the work that the 

academic partners has produced, particularly in relation to carbon storage and soil 
and water quality to provide an updated report on their initial research and services 
as part of the project.  
  

4.12 Meanwhile, the community guardians, who will be undertaking small scale 
maintenance works as per the ‘Management Plan’ will act as community mentors for 
younger people who were engaged with as part of the schools/college element of the 
project. We would expect usage levels in the catchment area to increase over the 
project period and consequently after. 

 
 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 The total grant awarded to the Council is £417,000.00 which equates to 82% of the 

total project cost of £507,287.00. 
 

5.2 In respect of match funding at 18% of the total project costs, the Council will be 
providing £60,191.34 from within the Community Regeneration Departments ‘Core 
Capital Programme’ with the remaining balances of £30,095.66 being provided by 
Natural Resources Wales.   

 

 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Page 9



Summary:  
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity 
for all. This impact assessment demonstrates how the project meets MTCBC wellbeing 
objectives, considers the five ways of working and ensures no discrimination against all 
the protected characteristics. 
 

 
 
 

 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
PORTFOLIO MEMBER 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

(1) EOI 
(2) Full SMS Application 
(3) WG Offer Letter  

 
 

 Unit 5 Triangle Business Park 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 10



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Highway Adoption 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The attached Table 1in 3.4 outlines highways that have been constructed as part of 

a housing development in the County Borough. 
 
1.2 The highways have been inspected and have been constructed to the standards that 

enable the Council to adopt them as highways maintainable at public expense.  
 
1.3 In the event that Councillors accept the recommendation, as in 2.1 below, Notices 

will be displayed in the relevant locations declaring that the highways will be 
maintainable at public expense should no valid objections be received within one 
month of the date advised within the notice. 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The streets (as detailed in table 1) are adopted under the Highways Act 1980 

Section 38 and 228, be approved. 
 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The attached Table outlines highways that have been constructed as part of a 

housing development within the County Borough.  

Date Written 28th June 2019 ** 

Report Author Gerald Coughlan 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 13th September 2019 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



3.2 The highways have been inspected and have been constructed to the standards that 
enable the Council to adopt them as highways maintainable expense. 
 

3.3 In the event that Councillors accept the recommendation, as in 2.1 above, Notices 
will be displayed at relevant locations declaring them to be maintainable at public 
expense should no valid objections be received within 1 month of the date advised 
on within the Notice.  

 
3.4 Table 1: 

 
 
 
 

Road/Street 
Name 

 
 
 
Area 
(m²) 

 
Length 

(m) 

 
 
 

H. A 
Section 

 
 

No. of 
Street 

Lighting 
Columns 

 
 
 
No. of 
gullies 

 
 
 
Date of 
inspection 

 
Widths (m) 

>7.3      

Steps c/way f/way Verge Total 

Cwm Faenor  
Development 

 

4004 440 38 13 46 18-06-19 0 5.5 3.6 0 9.1 

 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  
 
4.1 Following the adoption of the streets in this report:- 
 

a) The Welsh Government will be informed of the change in County Borough highway 
lengths and the un-hypothecated funding system via future Standard Assessments 
(SSA) adjusted accordingly. 
 

b) On adoption, the highways will be immediately maintainable at public expense for 
which funding will need to be found from the highways revenue budget in future 
years and will need to be considered  by Council.   

 
4.2     Amendments to Welsh Government records, relating to the changes in the County                                                            
          Borough highway lengths will result in changes to the funding stream via the      
          Standard Spending assessment procedure.     
 
 
5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT     
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

Page 12



 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
3 of 10 of 10 7 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are:  
 
The Well Being objectives are that the proposal provides additional footway/highway 
networks for the benefit of the public of all ages that will assist in developing the 
environment and safer communities and supporting people.  
 
The Sustainable Development Principles are that the proposal will give opportunity to 
encourage more activity that leads to better physical health, promoting healthier 
behaviours and increased levels of physical activity. More physical activity will result in 
lesser dependency in motorised transport.  
 
No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-Being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Charactoristics, Welsh Language and 
Boiodiversity. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
JUDITH JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Petition from Residents of Alexander Road, 
Penydarren (Park Ward) 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To advise Cabinet of the response to a petition previously reported to Full Council on 

the 17th July 2019 from the residents of Alexander Road.   
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The non closure of the footway concerned be approved. 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The residents of Alexander Road submitted a petition for the ‘fencing off’, of the 

adopted public footway from Tramroad to the northern end of Alexander Road. 
 
3.2 Residents concerns were cleanliness, fly tipping, drug usage, criminal activities and 

vandalism by certain users of the footway.  
 
3.3 It was suggested in the petition that fencing off of the adopted footway would prevent 

the illegal activities. 
 
 

Date Written 20th August 2019 ** 

Report Author Gerald Coughlan  

Service Area Engineering  

Committee Division Portfolio  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



3.4 To stop up/close the adopted footway would initially require the Highway Authority to 
demonstrate that the footway is no longer needed for public use. 

 
3.5 There are two processes that then could be pursued, a Section116 or Section118, of 

the Highways Act 1980.  
 
3.6 If a S116 is utilised the application would then be presented before a magistrate.  
 
3.7 If a S118 is used to give notice requesting objections within a specific time limit. If 

there are no objections the order may be confirmed. If objections are received, and 
not removed, then the matter is sent to the Planning Inspectorate who will ultimately 
decide the outcome. 

 
3.8 It should be noted that with both processes the determining person 

(magistrate/planning inspector) must be satisfied that the criterion for ‘stopping up’, 
has been met.   

 
3.9 It is evident that the footway is in use and as such is required for public use, as such 

its closure cannot be justified. 
 
    

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the authority.       
 
 
 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Page 16



Summary: 
 
No positive or negative impacts have been identified against the Well-Being Objectives, 
the Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Characteristics, Welsh Language 
and Boiodiversity . 
 

 
 
 
JUDITH JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

 
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

CABINET REPORT 
 
Date Written 15th August 2019* 

Report Author Sue Walker 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

School Reorganisation – 3 to 16 Voluntary Aided 
School 
 

 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 At a meeting on 25th July 2018, Cabinet approved the proposal to commence formal 

consultation on the potential closure of St Aloysius Roman Catholic (RC) Primary, St 
Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High 
School creating a 3-16 all through Catholic education provision with effect from 1st 
September 2019.  

 
1.2 A public Consultation was undertaken during the period 3rd September – 14th 

October 2018 and a report prepared that provided details of the outcome.  This 
report was shared with Cabinet on 21st November 2018 and after discussion it was 
agreed that further  consultation should be undertaken naming the proposed sites for 
the new school. 

 
1.3 A second public Consultation was undertaken during the period 29th April – 30th June 

2019 and this report details the outcome of the Consultation. 
  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The information contained within the Consultation Reports, which include responses 

received during the consultation exercise (see attached Appendix 1 and 2) be noted 
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



2.2 The proposal to close St Aloysius Roman Catholic (RC) Primary, St Illtyd’s RC 
Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School 
creating a 3-16 all through Catholic education provision with effect from 1st 
September 2020 is amended to 1st September 2022, be approved.  

 
2.3 Issuing the appropriate Statutory Notice (in accordance with the Welsh Government 

legislation - School Organisation Code 006/2013), be approved. 
 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The Council is responsible for promoting high educational standards and for 
delivering efficient primary and secondary education.  Having the right schools in the 
right place and ensuring that they are fit for the 21st Century learner is the challenge 
facing the Council.  Achieving this will involve reviewing the number and type of 
schools the Council has in its area and assessing whether or not best use is being 
made of resources and facilities. 
 

3.2 The Council in conjunction with the Archdiocese has determined to review its 
Catholic faith provision on the basis of: 

 educational standards; 

 the need for places and the accessibility of schools; 

 the quality and suitability of school accommodation; and  

 effective financial management. 
 

3.3 Over the past three years, there has been extensive discussion with Officers from 
the Cardiff Archdiocese, Local Authority Officers and School Governors from the 
Catholic schools in Merthyr Tydfil regarding the future provision for Catholic 
education within the County Borough. 
 

3.4 The Archdiocese and Local Authority Officers held meetings with all Headteachers 
and Governing Bodies to consider the advantages and practicalities of the proposal.  
All stakeholders agreed to proceed with a formal Consultation process.   

 
3.5 The Proposal, if eventually agreed, will be to close St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s 

RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School 
creating a 3-16 all through Catholic education provision.  They will continue to 
provide education on existing sites until such time as the proposals for utilising 21st 
Century Band B monies are agreed by Council.  This proposal is aimed at 
rationalising educational provision across the County Borough in the interests of 
efficiency and effectiveness. 
 

3.6 The new school will have a single governance management structure.  Subject to the 
outcome of the Consultation, a temporary Governing Body for the new school will be 
set up to support the appointment of a substantive Headteacher. 
 
 
 

Page 20



4.0 PROPOSED NEW SCHOOL 
 

4.1 As part of the Council’s Band B proposals officers will work with the Archdiocese to 
secure a suitable site for the creation of a new, purpose built 3-16 school for all 
pupils from the four schools. 
 

4.2 The proposal to bring the schools together as one, prior to the new build, allows for 
the appointment of a substantive Headteacher who will then be able to work with the 
new Governing Body and be closely involved in the subsequent design and build. 

 
4.3 The proposed new 3-16 all-through school will provide for up to 525 full time primary 

school places, 63 full time equivalent nursery places and 520 secondary school 
places. 

 
4.4 Ultimately a new school build provides the opportunity to deliver a stimulating 

teaching and learning environment in state of the art, 21st Century facilities that will 
impact positively on the self-esteem and wellbeing of pupils and will aim to improve 
the learning outcomes for all children across the ability range. 

 
4.5 With a new school comes more choices and improved opportunities because there is 

more space and better facilities.  In the Estyn report of 2007, ‘An evaluation of 
performance of schools before and after moving into new buildings or significantly 
refurbished premises’, it is reported that the attainment and achievement of pupils 
improves significantly when they move into new or significantly refurbished buildings, 
particularly when schools are in areas with high levels of social and economic 
deprivation. 

 
4.6 The new school will ensure that pupils have adaptable ICT facilities suitable for 

learning in the 21st century.  Mobile technology will be integrated with a sound 
pedagogical base to provide pupils with enhanced learning experiences, equipping 
them with the key skills and motivation needed to raise standards. 

 
4.7 The new build school will be an exciting place for pupils and staff both internally and 

externally.  It will have spacious, light and airy classrooms, with access to a range of 
high quality and appropriate spaces for social interaction.  The 2015 report ‘Clever 
Classrooms’, found that well designed schools can significantly boost children’s 
academic performance in reading, writing and maths.  The school will allow for the 
delivery of a pupil-centred, inclusive and skills based curriculum that extends to 
social and sporting activities.  It will aim to promote equality and inclusion by 
providing facilities, sporting and cultural, which can be accessed by pupils and which 
the school can share with the community. 

 
4.8 A new build of this kind is a significant investment in the future of the young people of 

the area and clearly signals that the Council and Archdiocese are serious about 
making schools fit for purpose places of learning.   

  
 
 
 
 

Page 21



5.0 CONSULTATION No.1 – (03.09.18 – 14.10.18) 
 

5.1 The consultation process in respect of this proposal has been administered using the 
arrangements outlined in the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code, 
011/2018.  These arrangements stipulate that a Consultation Report must be 
prepared prior to the publication of any Statutory Notices which will progress the 
Proposal.   
 

5.2 Following Cabinet approval on 25th July 2018, we consulted on the merging of St 
Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools with 
Bishop Hedley High School to form a 3-16 voluntary aided school located on the 
schools’ existing sites. The purpose of the Consultation was to engage with all 
stakeholders to involve them in our decision-making by obtaining their views on the 
Proposal.  A copy of the Consultation Document is included as part of the 
Consultation Report. 
 

5.3 The Consultation was held from the 3rd September 2018 to 14th October 2018.  The 
process used for consultation took a varied range of methodologies to ensure as 
wide a response as possible.  This included: 

 

 Consultation meetings at the four affected Catholic schools.  Parents/Carers, 
Governors and Staff were encouraged to come along where they would have the 
opportunity to ask questions and learn more about the Proposal.   
o St Illtyd’s R.C Primary  –  10th September 2018 
o St Mary’s R.C Primary  –  10th September 2018 
o Bishop Hedley R.C High  –  11th September 2018  
o St Aloysius R.C Primary –  13th September 2018 

 

 An online questionnaire was designed using Smart Survey so people could 
respond electronically. 

 

 Paper questionnaires were made available at each of the Consultation meetings 
for attendees to formally express their views and were also available upon request 
from Corporate Communications and the Learning Department. 

 

 A press release was posted on the Council website, plus several messages 
posted on Social Media informing the general public of the Consultation and how 
to take part. 

 

 Notification of the Consultation and a copy of the Consultation Document were 
emailed to the following groups/individuals: 
o Merthyr Tydfil Cabinet members and Councillors 
o Trade Unions 
o Directors of Education in neighbouring Local Authorities (Blaenau Gwent, 

Bridgend, Rhondda Cynon Taff, Powys, Caerphilly and Vale of Glamorgan) 
o Estyn 
o Member of Parliament 
o Assembly Member 
o Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Page 22



o Welsh Government 
o The College, Merthyr Tydfil 
o Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 
o Local Police and Crime Commissioner 
o Welsh Language Commissioner 
o Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG) 
o Communities First partners 
o Youth Cabinet 
o MTCBC’s Transport department 
o Archdiocese of Cardiff, The Commissioner for School and Colleges 
o Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

 
5.4 At the end of the Consultation period, a report was prepared outlining the feedback 

from the public Consultation exercise, which included a response from Estyn, and 
the report was presented to Cabinet on 21st November 2018 for approval.  See 
Appendix 1.  
 

5.5 Following discussion at Cabinet on 21st November 2018, Cabinet requested that 
further public consultation was carried out and the proposed sites for the new school 
were identified as part of the Consultation process.   
  

6.0 CONSULTATION No.2 – (29.04.19 – 30.06.19) 
 

6.1 A second consultation was held from 29th April 2019 to 30th June 2019 and was 
administered using the arrangements outlined in the Welsh Government’s School 
Organisation Code, 011/2018. 
 

6.2 The process used for consultation took a varied range of methodologies to ensure as 
wide a response as possible.  This included:- 

 drop-in sessions for Parents/Carers, Governors and Staff of the affected Catholic 
schools and parishioners who were encouraged to come along where they would 
have the opportunity to ask questions and learn more about the Proposal.  This 
included:- 

 
Date Time Venue 

Monday, 18th 
March  2019 

5.30pm – 
7.30pm 

St Illtyd’s RC Primary School, Rocky Road, 
Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 3BT 

Tuesday, 19th 
March 2019 

10.30am – 
12.30pm 

St Aloysius Church, Chestnut Way, Gurnos, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 9SB 

Tuesday, 19th 
March 2019 

6.00pm – 
8.00pm 

Bishop Hedley High School, Gwaunfarren Road, 
Penydarren, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 9AN 

Thursday, 21nd 
March 2019 

5.00pm – 
7.00pm 

St Mary’s RC Primary School, Caedraw Road, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8HA 

Monday, 25th 
March 2019 

4.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Joseph’s Primary School, Ashvale, Tredegar, 
Blaenau Gwent, NP22 4AQ 

Monday, 25th 
March 2019 

5.30pm – 
6.30pm 

All Saints and St Mary’s (Brynmawr) (joint 
meeting) 

All Saints Primary School, Heol Yr Ysgol, Ebbw 
Vale, NP23 6QP 

Thursday, 28th 
March 2019 

2.30pm – 
3.30pm 

St Margaret’s Primary School, Ty Fry, Aberdare, 
CF44 7PP 

Page 23



Monday 3rd June 
2019 

3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Mary’s RC Primary School, Caedraw Road, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8HA 

Tuesday 4th June 
2019 

3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Aloysius RC Primary School, Cedar Way, 
Gurnos Estate, Merthyr Tydfil CF47 9PA 

Wednesday 5th 
June 2019 

3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

Bishop Hedley High School, Gwaunfarren Road, 
Penydarren, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 9AN 

Thursday 6th 
June 2019 

3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Illtyd’s RC Primary School, Rocky Road, 
Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 3BT 

 

 An online questionnaire was designed using Smart Survey so people could 
respond electronically. 
 

 Paper questionnaires were made available at each of the drop-in sessions for 
attendees to formally express their views and were also available upon request 
from Corporate Communications and the Learning Department. 

 

 A press release was posted on the Council website, plus several messages 
posted on Social Media informing the general public of the Consultation and how 
to take part. 

 

 Notification of the Consultation and a copy of the Consultation Document were 
emailed to the following groups/individuals: 
o Merthyr Tydfil Cabinet members and Councillors 
o Trade Unions 
o Directors of Education in neighbouring Local Authorities (Blaenau Gwent, 

Bridgend, Rhondda Cynon Taff, Powys, Caerphilly and Vale of Glamorgan) 
o Estyn 
o Member of Parliament 
o Assembly Member 
o Cabinet Secretary for Education 
o Welsh Government 
o The College, Merthyr Tydfil 
o Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 
o Local Police and Crime Commissioner 
o Welsh Language Commissioner 
o Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG) 
o Communities First partners 
o Youth Cabinet 
o MTCBC’s Transport department 
o Archdiocese of Cardiff, The Commissioner for School and Colleges 
o Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

 
6.3 Further detail, including the feedback from the second public consultation exercise, 

can be found in the Consultation Report.  See Appendix 2. 
 

6.4 Estyn also provided a second response to the proposal, which is included in the 
Consultation Report. 
 
 
 

Page 24



7.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS 
 
7.1 Through the Consultation process concerns were raised over the appointment of a 

Headteacher for September 2020 which related to the timing and the affordability of 
the appointment.  
 

7.2 Following further discussions with the Archdiocese it was therefore recommended 
that the Proposal is amended to appoint the Headteacher from September 2022, a 
year before the school is due to move onto one site.  Until September 2022 the 
schools would remain as they are. 
 

7.3 Further consideration over the two sites currently proposed will take place over the 
next twelve months.  This will include consultation at the earliest opportunity with 
local residents and other relevant parties.   

 

8.0 THE STATUTORY PROCESS 
 
8.1 The Statutory Notice for this Proposal will be to: 

 close St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary 
Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School creating a 3-16 all through Catholic 
education provision. 
 

8.2 The Statutory Notice will, if agreed, be published on 1st October 2019 and will allow 
for a 28-day period for objections, ending on 28th October 2019.  If any objections are 
received, in accordance with the aforementioned Code, an Objections Report will be 
prepared and submitted at a future Cabinet meeting. 

 
9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 

9.1 If this school reorganisation proposal is agreed there is potential to make savings 
and the details of this will be shared with Cabinet at a future date. 
 

10.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

10.1 
 Positive 

Impacts 

Negative 

Impacts 

Not 

Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives  

1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

 5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

Page 25



3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

3 of 10 0 of 10 7 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 

The main positive impacts are that the proposal will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives and the Sustainable Development Principles. The proposal will have a positive effect 
on the ‘Best Start to Life’ Well-being Objective and on three of the protected characteristic 
groups. 
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 
At this stage, in phase one of the proposal, there is neither a positive or negative affect on 
Biodiversity. This may change if/when the proposal moves to phase two (school relocation). 
 

 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Consultation Document August 2018 
April 2019 

Learning Department 

Minutes of Consultation 

Meetings 

Various Learning Department 

Online Survey Results 30th June 2019 Learning Department 

School Organisation 

Code, 006/2013 

July 2013 https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskill

s/publications/guidance/school-

organisation-code/?lang=en 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of each 

proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 26

https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/school-organisation-code/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/school-organisation-code/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/school-organisation-code/?lang=en


 
 

 

CONSULTATION REPORT 
 

 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE CONSULTATION REPORT  
 
This report is prepared in accordance with the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code, statutory 
document 006/2013.  Its purpose is to inform on the outcome of the 42-day public consultation on the 
proposal to create a single 3-16 Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil.  The Consultation was held during 
the period Monday 3rd October - Sunday 14th October 2018 between all stakeholders and interested 
parties listed. 
 
2.0 THE PROPOSAL  
 
The proposal consulted upon is to create a single 3-16 Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC, St Mary’s RC and also Bishop Hedley RC 
Schools and creating a single, all through 3-16 Catholic education school with effect from 1st September 
2019. 
 
Details of the proposal and the rationale behind it are fully outlined in the Consultation Document that 
was circulated to all the stakeholders listed below and which is attached as Appendix A.  
 
3.0 WHO DID WE CONSULT WITH?  
 
A copy of the Consultation Document, which fully outlined and explained our proposal, was sent to the 
following stakeholders:-  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil Cabinet members and Councillors 

 Trade Unions 

 Directors of Education in neighbouring Local Authorities (Blaenau Gwent, Bridgend, Rhondda 
Cynon Taff, Powys, Caerphilly and Vale of Glamorgan) 

 Estyn 

 Member of Parliament 

 Assembly Member 

 Cabinet Secretary for Education 

 Welsh Government 

 The College, Merthyr Tydfil 

 Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 

 Local Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Welsh Language Commissioner 

 Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG) 

 Communities First partners 

 Youth Cabinet 

 MTCBC’s Transport department 

 Archdiocese of Cardiff, The Commissioner for School and Colleges 

 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 
 
  

Page 27



Page 2 of 90 
 

Letters were sent to the four affected Catholic schools informing them of the Consultation. 
Parents/carers, governors and staff were invited to attend Consultation meetings where they would 
have the opportunity to ask questions and learn more about the proposal.  The following meetings were 
convened: 

 
Detailed notes of all of the above meetings were taken and are attached as Appendix B.  These notes 
outline all questions raised, comments and statements made with responses provided where 
appropriate. 
 
4.0 THE CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
All stakeholders listed were sent electronic copies of our Consultation Document. 
 
All other interested parties (parents/carers, governors, school staff and the wider public) were directed 
to the online questionnaire where the Consultation Document was available and where they could 
complete the Online Survey.  
 
A press release regarding the Consultation was published on our website and was advertised on our 
social media channels.  
 
Paper questionnaires were made available at the Consultation meetings and could also be requested 
from our Corporate Communications team. 
 
5.0       SUMMARY OF RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION  
 
Responses received via the Online Survey and at the Consultation meetings have been analysed to 
identify views and concerns, and are summarised below. 
 
In the consultation, the positive responses received include: 
 

Nature of consultation Date/Time Venue 

Meeting with parents 10th September 3.20pm St Illtyd’s 

Meeting with parents 10th September 4.30pm St Mary’s 

Meeting with staff  10th September 5.30pm St Mary’s 

Meeting with federated governing body  10th September 6.30pm St Mary’s 

 

Meeting with pupils 11th  September 9.30am Bishop Hedley 

Meeting with pupils 11th September 11.00am St Aloysius 

Meeting with pupils 11th September 1.00pm St Mary’s 

Meeting with pupils 11th September 2.15pm St Illtyd’s 

Meeting with parents 11th September 5.30pm Bishop Hedley 

Meeting with governors 11th September 6.30pm Bishop Hedley 

 

Meeting with staff 12th September 3.30pm Bishop Hedley 

 

Meeting with parents 13th September 2.30pm St Aloysius 

Meeting with staff 13th September 3.30pm St Aloysius 

Meeting with governors 13th September 4.30pm St Aloysius 

Page 28



Page 3 of 90 
 

 It is a good opportunity for pupils and having a modern school with great facilities is the way 

forward.  Pupils and the wider community will benefit from state of the art facilities. 

 It will ensure the future of Catholic education in Merthyr Tydfil, and the new school will become 

the number one Catholic school in the Heads of the Valleys area.  Therefore, it secures the school 

in the long term. 

 It would allow for better transition for pupils throughout school – academically and socially. 

“Through teaching” will significantly help our pupils with their education.  Also there will be an 

opportunity to plan for education from Foundation Phase right through to Key Stage 4.  

 Issues faced at the current schools such as school parking and congestion, lack of playing fields, 

extra-curricular activities and outdated facilities can be addressed.  

 It will improve the availability of facilities and resources for primary schools and allow staff to 

work collaboratively to write and embed effective schemes of work. 

Concerns raised in the feedback can be broadly summarised into several key areas: 
 

1. Of primary concern to a large proportion of respondents is regarding how the new school will 
work, with specific mention to the layout.  Some respondents are a little unsure of three year 
olds sharing a school with 16 year olds.  Some respondents approve the idea if the primary and 
secondary classes are not in the same area. 
 

2. Some respondents raised concerns regarding the location.  As the location of the new school has 
not been identified at this stage, they felt it was difficult to have a complete view on the 
proposal and say for definite if they are in agreement or not.  Consequently, some respondents 
fear that pupil numbers may drop if the new school is built on a site that isn’t as easy to get to as 
the current schools.  The current schools are within walking distance for a large number of pupils 
and the concern is those pupils may not be able to get to the new school so easily. 
 

3. Some respondents say they like the way the schools work currently as small community schools. 
They fear if you combine the schools this individuality will be lost. 
 

4. The safety of the children was raised as a main concern, especially around the potential traffic 
issues that the new school may bring.  With so many pupils attending the same school they 
wonder how can this be managed? 
 

5. Some respondents highlight how the needs of primary school children are vastly different to 
those of secondary pupils and wonder how will this be managed? 
 

6. Concern has been raised by respondents who are staff at the current schools regarding their jobs 
if the schools were to be amalgamated. 
 

7. Respondents like the idea of a brand new school but are unsure how this can be managed 
effectively by one Headteacher.  They are concerned standards may not be maintained. 
 

8. There is a concern that the Catholic education in Merthyr Tydfil will not thrive if the school is not 
built within the heart of the community.  They also ask can the new school keep the strong links 
that currently exist between the church, the schools and the community? 
 

Page 29



Page 4 of 90 
 

9. Some respondents have concerns regarding class sizes and whether the children will be in bigger 
classes than they are used to. 
 

10. Questions were raised regarding how this proposal may impact on other ‘partner’ primary 
schools outside the County Borough. 

 

At the Consultation meetings held at the four schools, most of the above concerns were vocalised by 
attendees and below are the responses given by the Officers in attendance. 
 

 Why appoint a new Headteacher? - In other local authorities where 3-16 schools have been 
created, the approach without an overall structure in place first hasn’t worked. Therefore the 
proposal is to appoint a Headteacher from September 2019 to work closely with the new 
governing body. Otherwise the Headteacher of the new 3-16 school would have no say in the 
design or be involved in key decisions. With the appointment of a new Headteacher, they can 
then formulate and propose the leadership, management and staffing structures for the new 
school.  
 

 Concerns over job loses - When the 3-16 school is built, the new governing body will determine 
the staffing structure and the LA and Archdiocese will support the school to ensure the staffing 
structure is appropriate.  The recommendation will be that staff positions are ring-fenced and 
posts are offered to existing school staff in the first instance. 
 

 Site location - The site of the school is not known at this time.  A number of sites are currently 
being looked at.  Once the site has been determined, it is estimated the new school building will 
be ready 2022/2023. 
 

 Concerns over primary and secondary pupils mixing - In the new school, there will be separate 
areas for the different key stages. Also primary and secondary will have their own school yards 
and separate entrances. Lunchtimes will also be separated in terms of areas and times. The 
benefits to one through school is the opportunity for all pupils to access specialist facilities and 
resources e.g. science and technology, and the ability for secondary pupils to learn in the 
primary phase, especially around care related activities and for meeting requirements of the 
Welsh Baccalaureate.  
 

 Class sizes - Class sizes in the new school will be similar to now and in-line with Welsh 
Government guidance. 
 

 Safety concerns - The new school will be designed to meet all the current health and safety 
guidance. Arrangements for parking and drop off points will be included in this. There will be 
huge consideration to the safeguarding of all learners within the new build.  
 

 Losing the community feel - The primary schools will have the same staff and there will always 
be a nurture element as part of a primary school. The same ethos would still exist in a larger 
school with staff and pupils continuing to have a close relationship. 
 

 Partner Primary schools - The archdiocese will ensure to work with all feeder partner schools. 
The governing body and new Headteacher will ensure transition arrangements are put in place 
to support pupils joining the school from primary schools outside the County Borough, so that 
pupils transferring at year 7 are not disadvantaged. 
 

Page 30



Page 5 of 90 
 

 Maintaining standards - The proposal is to strengthen the Catholic education system with an all-
through school and the new governing body will continue to monitor standards going forward to 
ensure they continue to improve. 

 

We welcomed any suggestions or alternatives to the proposal through the Consultation process and 
responses to these can be found in Appendix B.   
 
6.0     THE VIEW OF ESTYN (HER MAJESTY’S INSPECTORATE OF EDUCATION AND 

    TRAINING IN WALES) OF THE OVERALL MERITS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 

Estyn has provided us with the following as their response to this consultation process:  
 
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in Wales.  
 
Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, 
proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a body that is 
required to act in accordance with the Code, and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in 
respect of school organisation matters. Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 
opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals.  
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following response to 
the information provided by the proposer and other additional information such as data from Welsh 
Government and the views of the Regional Consortia, which deliver school improvement services to the 
schools within the proposal.  
 
Introduction  
 
This consultation proposal is from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.  
 
The proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil by: 

 Discontinuing St Aloysius RC Primary, the federation of St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC 
Primary and also Bishop Hedley RC Secondary 

 Creating a single all-through 3-16 Catholic Education School  
 
Summary/Conclusion  
 
As the proposal provides too little information on the quality of, or structure of, the leadership at the 
proposed all-through school, Estyn is not able to assess whether this proposal is likely to maintain or 
improve the standard of education in the area.  
 
Description and benefits  
 
The proposal sets out that the local authority plans to discontinue St Aloysius RC Primary, the Federation 
of St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary schools and Bishop Hedley High school from 1 
September 2019 to create a 3 to 16 school based across the existing four sites of the current schools.  The 
local authority has an appropriate rationale for this, based on improving provision and outcomes for 
pupils and supporting the long-term sustainability of Catholic education within the borough. However, 
under the heading of ‘The Proposal’ the document also sets out in detail other works, such as the 
building of a new school on an unspecified site, which are not part of this proposal. As a result, it may not 
be clear to the reader what the local authority is including in this particular consultation.  

Page 31



Page 6 of 90 
 

In the document, other similar inconsistencies exist.  For example, when considering the impact of the 
proposal on educational outcomes, this proposal document considers in detail the impact of ‘having 
primary and secondary aged pupils on one site’. It notes that ‘It would expect that there would be a clear 
distinction between the secondary aspect of the site and the primary aspect’. However, the building of a 
new school on an ‘unspecified site’ and its consequences are not a part of this proposal. This may cause 
consultees further confusion. 
 
The proposal set out suitably and fairly the expected benefits and disadvantages when compared with 
the status quo. It identifies well a range of risks associated with the proposals. However, in either case, it 
does not set out clearly how the local authority will address and minimise difficulties or issues.  
 
The proposer sets out well a broad range of alternative options to the current proposal and appears to 
have considered these appropriately.  However, the local authority conflates this consultation with other 
plans.  When identifying the six alternatives proposals, the local authority sets out proposal six (its 
preferred option) as ‘Create a new 3-16 Catholic school, ultimately on one site’.  However, the building of 
a new school and the move to one site is not part of this proposal and this may confuse consultees.  
The local authority has considered the impact of the changes on learner travel arrangements suitably. 
 
The proposal sets out in useful detail the projected demand for places in the schools and the level of 
potential surplus.  It identifies a high surplus capacity of 34% in the secondary school involved in the 
proposal by 2023. When outlining its favoured option in the proposal, the local authority lists as one of 
the advantages that it will ‘remove surplus places’.  However, it does not explain clearly how this 
proposal will do this.  As no school in this consultation provide education through the medium of Welsh, 
it is unlikely that there will be any impact on Welsh medium provision within the local authority.  
 
Educational aspects of the proposal  
 
When considering the impact of the proposal on the quality of outcomes and provision, the local 
authority identifies a range of intended benefits of the proposal suitably.  However, it has not been 
consistently clear about how the school will achieved these benefits.  For example, when considering the 
impact on educational provision, the local authority notes that this proposal will improve the range and 
quality of facilities and learning resources available.  However, as the four school buildings in the 
proposal will remain, it is not clear how the local authority will bring this about.  
 
When considering the impact on the quality of leadership, the proposal does not set out well enough the 
possible effects of changing the leadership structures of three primary schools and one secondary school 
across four different sites, and the impact that this may have on the schools.  The proposer outlines the 
current Welsh Government categorisation of each of the schools appropriately.  However, the proposal 
does not contain further information on the consortium’s view on the quality of leadership and 
management at the schools.  
 
The proposal document identifies the current condition of the separate buildings using a letter code, for 
example condition ‘C-‘.  However, it is not clear to the consultees what this coding means, and the 
proposer gives no further information about the condition of the buildings or if they need improvement.  
 
The proposal appears not to consider in detail the impact of the proposals on vulnerable groups, 
including children with Special Educational Needs.   
 
 
 

Page 32



Page 7 of 90 
 

The proposal only sets out the number of pupils with additional needs in each school and states that ‘a 3-
16 provision would allow for improved continuity of support for learners with additional needs and 
support these learners through transition from one key stage to the next’.  
 
The proposal considers the impact of the changes on learner travel arrangements suitably.  
 
As all schools named in the proposal are of a religious nature, the proposer notes the outcomes of 

Section 50 inspections of Catholic ethos suitably. However, the proposer does not provide clear enough 

information on these important reports. For example, for St Mary’s RC and St Aloysius RC primary 

schools it notes that both current performance and prospects for improvement are ‘adequate’, but gives 

no indication as to why, or whether the schools have improved. 

7.0 CONCLUSION  
 
This report was presented to Cabinet at the meeting held on 21st November and following discussion it 

was agreed to re-consult in accordance with the School Organisation Code (2nd Edition).  This decision 

was made as a result of responses received as part of the consultation, specifically in relation to the site 

of the new school. 

 

 

 

  

Page 33



Page 8 of 90 
 

Appendix A 

 
 

 
CONSULTATION 

DOCUMENT 
 
 
 

On the proposal to create a single 3-16 
Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil by: 

 

1. Discontinuing St Aloysius RC, The Federation of St Illtyd’s RC, St 
Mary’s RC and also Bishop Hedley RC Schools 

2. Creating a single all-through 3-16 Catholic Education School 

 
  

Page 34



Page 9 of 90 
 

CONTENTS 

 

Foreword – Rt Rv’d George Stack – Archbishop of Cardiff.……………………………………………………………… 3 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

Explanation of terms used in this document ......................................................................................... 6 

Involving children in the consultation .................................................................................................... 7 

Involving parents, governors and staff - how you can find out more and give your views ................... 8 

Your Views Matter .................................................................................................................................. 9 

Background  ............................................................................................................................................ 9 

The Proposal ........................................................................................................................................... 10 

Catchment Area ...................................................................................................................................... 11 

Schools serving the area at present ....................................................................................................... 11 

Information about the schools ............................................................................................................... 11 

Current performance ............................................................................................................................. 13 

The intended impact on education outcomes ....................................................................................... 22 

What are the advantages of this proposal? ........................................................................................... 25 

What are the disadvantages of this proposal? ...................................................................................... 25 

Alternative options ................................................................................................................................. 25 

Transition Plan if the proposals are approved ………………………………………………………………………………….27 

Risks associated with the proposal ........................................................................................................ 27 

Admissions and catchment area arrangements..................................................................................... 27 

Finance ................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Human Resources matters ..................................................................................................................... 28 

Transport Matters .................................................................................................................................. 28 

Learner travel arrangements.................................................................................................................. 28 

Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language .................................................................................... 29 

Equality Impact Assessment ................................................................................................................... 29 

Considering Community Impact ............................................................................................................. 29 

Key dates ................................................................................................................................................ 29 

Consultation Period ................................................................................................................................ 30 

Statutory Notice ..................................................................................................................................... 30 

Determination of the proposals ............................................................................................................. 30 

Decision Notification .............................................................................................................................. 30 

Frequently Asked Questions .................................................................................................................. 31 

Consultation Response Form ................................................................................................................. 33 

 

Page 35



Page 10 of 90 
 

FOREWORD 

 

 

 
“The mission of the school is to develop a sense of truth, of what is good and beautiful. And this 

occurs through a rich path made up of many ingredients”. 
  
“True education enables us to love life and opens us to the fullness of life”. 

  
These words of Pope Francis addressed to school teachers in Italy on 10 May 2014, together with many 
educational documents and policies of the Catholic Bishops of England and Wales, have been an 
inspiration to me as I explore new patterns of collaboration between the schools of the Archdiocese of 
Cardiff. My core purpose is to ensure the future viability of our schools and to provide the best possible 
education for the children entrusted to our care. 
 
Within the Archdiocese of Cardiff part of our mission is to build on our current good practice to ensure 
the future excellence and viability of Catholic education. This mission is based on strong spiritual values 
and sound educational research. Our ambition is: 
 

- The creation of a world class Catholic education system that enables all the children of the 
Archdiocese to achieve their spiritual, educational and human potential. 

- To work closely with stakeholders on re-structuring our schools to deliver a sustainable system 
that is fit for the future. 

 
Our mission is wholly in line with Welsh Government’s aspirations for education. This is backed by 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) evidence. I am conscious of the need 
for closer working between our schools. Our proposal for a new 3-16 school to replace St Aloysius’, St 
Illtyd’s and St Mary’s Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley High School will allow for a seamless transition 
from early years up to GCSE. It will put us in an advantageous position to deliver the new curriculum and 
give our children the benefits of an uninterrupted educational journey. It will allow us to continue to 
build upon the very good education currently offered by those schools in a state-of-the-art campus. It 
will provide significant benefits for the out-of-county Catholic schools which currently feed into Bishop 
Hedley High School by establishing closer working and planning arrangements with the new 3-16 school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



Page 11 of 90 
 

I firmly support this proposal which will develop: 
 

 a learning campus where children will develop their faith, skills and knowledge as confident 
citizens of the 21st century who are proud of their community and heritage; 

 continued improvement founded on current good practice; 

 a campus with excellent facilities for each age range; 

 a centre of excellence in Catholic teaching and learning that works in close partnerships with all 
its feeder church schools; 

 a worship and social centre for the schools’ parishes and their communities. 
 
This consultation process will give all associated with our community of Catholic schools the chance to 
ask questions about this exciting proposal. It is important that the vision of what can be achieved for our 
community is shared and understood by all. 
 
I am confident that the proposed 3-16 Catholic school will be a strong and nurturing environment. I 
know the school will build on the ethos, successes and achievements already recognised in the four 
separate schools it will replace. It will continue to build on the high standards of its out-of-county feeder 
primaries by working in ever closer partnership with them. 
 
Your children deserve nothing less. 
 
 
The Most Reverend George Stack 
 
Archbishop of Cardiff 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 37



Page 12 of 90 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 
This consultation is an opportunity for you to learn about the school re-organisation proposal being put 
forward for St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC and St Mary’s RC primary schools and also 
Bishop Hedley High School and to tell you how to let us know your views. It is your chance to ask 
questions and provide comments that will be considered when the Council decides how to proceed. 
 
This document explains the joint proposal between Archdiocese of Cardiff & Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council (the proposers) to discontinue St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC and St 
Mary’s RC primary schools and also Bishop Hedley High School by:  
 discontinuing St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC, and St Mary’s RC and also Bishop 

Hedley RC Schools 

 create a single 3-16 faith school provision 
 
The consultation process follows Welsh Government guidelines outlined in the School Organisation 
Code 2013 and therefore, a range of individuals and groups are being asked for their views about these 
proposals. 
 
Before any decisions are made the proposers need to ensure that they offer a number of opportunities 
for individuals and interested groups to make their views and opinions known on the proposal. 
 
The proposers are consulting with the following groups: 
 
St Aloysius RC Primary School 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Governors 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils 
 
St Illtyd’s RC Primary School (*) 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Federated Governing Body (with St Mary’s) 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils 
 
St Mary’s RC Primary School (*) 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Federated Governing Body (with St Illtyd’s) 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils 
 

*The two schools St Illtyd’s and St Mary’s are currently in a federation with one governing body, one 
headteacher 
 
Bishop Hedley High School 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Governors 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils

Page 38



Page 13 of 90 
 

Other Groups 

 Communities First Partnership 

 Assembly Members (AMs) 

 Members of Parliament (MPs) 

 Regional Assembly Members 

 Local Councillors 

 Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) 

 Welsh Language Commissioner 

 Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG) 

 Neighbouring Primary and Secondary schools in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 Trade Unions 

 Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 

 Directors of Education – all neighbouring authorities 

 Estyn 

 Further and Higher Education Institutions 

 Local Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Welsh Government Ministers 

 Council’s Transport Department 

 Diocesan Directors of Education 
 

Page 39



 
 

EXPLANATION OF TERMS USED IN THIS DOCUMENT 

 

Admissions Number – all maintained schools must admit pupils up to at least their published admission 
number.  The admission number is the number of pupil places available in each year group. 
 
Amalgamation – the process of combining or uniting a number of schools into one school. 
 
Character of a School – the overall profile of the school.   
 
Compulsory School Age – the start of the term following a child’s fifth birthday. 
 
‘CSC’ – Central South Consortium Joint Education Service – the regional School Improvement Service 
for the five local authorities of Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of 
Glamorgan. 
 
The Council – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
DDA – Disability Discrimination Act.  Schools must not treat disabled pupils less favourably than others.  
They must make “reasonable adjustments” to ensure that disabled pupils are not at a substantial 
disadvantage, and they must prepare school accessibility plans to show how they will increase access to 
education for disabled pupils over time. 
 
Discontinuing – where the local authority recommends that they cease to maintain the school. 
 
‘EIA’ – an Equality Impact Assessment [EIA] is a process designed to ensure that a policy, project or 
scheme does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or vulnerable people. 
 
‘Federation’ – this is a formal arrangement where two or more schools are governed by one governing 
body with one executive Headteacher and a single leadership structure. 
 

‘FSM’ – Free School Meals. 
 

‘LA’ – local authority means Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 

‘LSA’ – Learning Support Assistant. 
 

‘Number on roll’ – the number of pupils attending a school. 
 

‘PLASC’ – Pupil Level Annual School Census.  In January of every year, verified information is collected by 
schools for submission to the Welsh Government.  This includes the number of pupils enrolled in each 
school, their age groups, home addresses, ethnicity and data on Welsh language, free school meals 
eligibility, special education needs and first language. 
 

‘SEN’ – Special Educational Needs. 
 

School Action (SA) – when a class or subject teacher identifies that a pupil has SEN they provide 
interventions that are additional to or different from those provided as part of the school’s usual 
curriculum. 
 

School Action Plus (SA+) – when a class or subject teacher and the SEN Co-ordinator are provided with 
advice or support from outside specialists, so that alternative interventions additional or different to 
those provided for the pupil through School Action can be put in place. 

Page 40



Page 15 of 90 
 

 

‘LRB’ –Learning Resource Base for children with SEN. 
 

Statemented – a child has a Statement of Educational Need if he or she has learning difficulties which 
require special educational provision to be made to him or her.  A learning difficulty means that the 
child has significantly greater difficulty in learning than most children of the same age or that the child 
has a disability that needs different educational facilities from those that the school generally provides 
for children. 
 

Statutory Notice – a Statutory Notice is the formal publication of a finalised proposal, if approved by the 
Council’s Cabinet, and will only be considered once they have received all the responses from the 
consultation process.  This is a legal requirement as outlined in the School Organisation Code 2013. 
 

Full time school provision – the Council’s policy allows all children who have reached their fourth 
birthday on or before 31 August to attend full time school that September.  This is not a legal 
requirement.  Some parents / carers choose to send their child to school at the Compulsory School Age.  
It has been the local authority’s long standing position that every child should have access to free part-
time nursery education from the term following the child’s third birthday.  In practice, children start 
attending nursery schools or nursery classes at the age of three or four years, depending on class 
number limitations and local demand. 
 
INVOLVING CHILDREN IN THE CONSULTATION 

 

The proposers firmly believe that the pupils of all schools involved should be given the opportunity to 
make their views known about this proposal.  
  
A consultation workshop will be held with the School Council of all of the schools involved in the 
proposal to gather the children’s views about the proposal.  The information gathered at these sessions 
will be included in the final consultation report.  The full report will be submitted to the Council’s 
Cabinet and diocesan officers for consideration following the consultation period. 
 
INVOLVING PARENTS, GOVERNORS AND STAFF – how you can find out more and give your views 

 
The proposers intend to hold drop in sessions for all stakeholders consulted as part of the process.   
 
Parents and carers of pupils at both the nursery and primary schools are invited to attend the parents’ 
drop in session(s) where you can ask any questions about the proposal.  We will always ask that you 
complete a consultation response form, as we can only accept views in writing. 
 
The date and venue for the drop in session(s) will be displayed via the schools’ notice boards, schools’ 
and the local authority’s websites. 
 
We have also arranged meetings for Staff and the Governing Body of the schools. 
 
This document and further supporting information can also be found on the Merthyr Tydfil website: 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/have-your-say/ 

 
Links to this document can be found on social media through the Merthyr Tydfil Council Twitter feed 
and via the Merthyr Tydfil Council Facebook page. 
 
Details of the consultation meeting dates are given below: Page 41

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/have-your-say/


Page 16 of 90 
 

 

Nature of consultation Date/Time Venue 

Meeting with parents 10th September 3.20pm St Illtyd’s 

Meeting with parents 10th September 4.30pm St Mary’s 

Meeting with staff  10th September 5.30pm St Mary’s 

Meeting with federated 
governing body  

10th September 6.30pm St Mary’s 

 

Meeting with pupils 11th  September 9.30am Bishop Hedley 

Meeting with pupils 11th September 11.00am St Aloysius 

Meeting with pupils 11th September 1.00pm St Mary’s 

Meeting with pupils 11th September 2.15pm St Illtyd’s 

Meeting with parents 11th September 5.30pm Bishop Hedley 

Meeting with governors 11th September 6.30pm Bishop Hedley 

 

Meeting with staff 12th September 3.30pm Bishop Hedley 

 

Meeting with parents 13th September 2.30pm St Aloysius 

Meeting with staff 13th September 3.30pm St Aloysius 

Meeting with governors 13th September 4.30pm St Aloysius 

  

Page 42



Page 17 of 90 
 

YOUR VIEWS MATTER 

 
The consultation period will run from Mon 3rd September – Sunday 14th October.  You can respond to 
our proposals at any time during this period. 
 
Your views are important to us, and there are a number of ways that you can let us know. 
 
You can: 

 Complete the on line response form at:  
http://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/creationofsingle3-16catholicschool 

 Attend the drop-in session and speak to us in person.  This is a good way to be able to get answers 
to any questions you many have about the proposals.  We will still ask that you complete a 
consultation response form, as we can only accept views in writing. 

 Complete and return the consultation response form to the address given below: 
o Chief Education Officer, Learning Department, Unit 5, Pentrebach, Merthyr Tydfil CF48 4TQ 

 
All responses given to us in writing, using the consultation response form, will be considered by the 
Council’s Cabinet before it decides whether or not to publish a statutory notice about the proposals. 
 
Responses received from consultees who are opposed to these proposals, although considered as part 
of the consultation report, will not be treated as statutory objections.  A statutory objection would form 
part of the statutory notice period, if it is approved at the next stage, by the Council’s Cabinet. 
 
If you wish to object to the notice at the next stage of the process, should it proceed, you will need to do 
so in writing during the statutory objection period.  These key dates are outlined in the Statutory 
Process Timetable on page 21. 
 
The closing date for responses to this consultation is 14th October 2018.  Unfortunately responses 
received after this date will not be considered by the Council. 
 
BACKGROUND 

 
Since 2015, officers from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, in conjunction with officers from the 
Archdiocese of Cardiff, have been carrying out informal consultation meetings on the future of Catholic 
education in Merthyr Tydfil. A number of issues were brought to light during this process that need 
addressing to achieve long-term sustainability for Catholic education within the borough. These included 
the need to improve the learning environment and ensure there is excellent leadership across the 
sector. 
 
The Council accepts there is a need to modernise education provision throughout the borough. 
Education improvement will not be sustained without changes in the way educational provision is 
delivered. 
 
Improving education for all is a priority for the Council; this is reflected in the Council’s vision and 
corporate plan. 
 
The Council is committed to enhancing the faith offer within the borough and working alongside the 
Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff ensures the sustainability of the offer for future generations not just in 
Merthyr Tydfil but also neighbouring parishes. 

Page 43

http://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/creationofsingle3-16catholicschool


Page 18 of 90 
 

THE PROPOSAL 

 
The Council proposes to discontinue St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC and St Mary’s RC 
primary schools and also Bishop Hedley High schools from 1st September 2019 and that the Catholic 
Archdiocese of Cardiff would create an ‘all through’ 3 to 16 school based across the existing sites of the 
schools. 
 
If the current proposal is agreed and implemented the current schools would close on 31st August 2019.  
The governance structure of the new all through school would start as of 1st September 2019.  
 
As part of the overall proposal Welsh Government, the Council and the Diocesan Authority are 
committed to investing approximately £27 million to replacing the current schools’ buildings. This would 
mean that, should this proposal be implemented, a purpose built 3-16 school will be created and 
located in new facilities purpose built for modern methods of learning. The site for a new school has yet 
to be finalised. 
 
The Council is currently delivering on its vision to transform school buildings through its capital 
programme in partnership with the Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools and Education 
Programme. This programme has supported the Afon Taf refurbishment and is supporting the new Ysgol 
Y Graig build. This current proposal is part of the Band B funding stream and the council in partnership 
with Welsh Government has secured almost £54 million for investment between 2018/19 and 2025/26. 
 
The new Catholic School will be for young people aged 3 to 16 and would be classified as English 
Medium, Voluntary Aided. ‘Voluntary aided’ category schools are church schools that manage their own 
school admissions processes. The governing body employs the staff and sets the admissions criteria. 
School buildings and land are often owned by a charity, usually the Church. 
 
Subject to parental preference, all young people currently attending the schools named in the proposal 
would transfer to the new 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
The primary section of the school will be for 525, therefore a 2.5 form entry with an admission number 
of 75. The secondary section of the school will be for 600 therefore a 4 form entry with an admission 
number of 120. 
 
It is important to note that any decision to proceed with the proposal will be a joint decision between 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and the Archdiocese of Cardiff. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is permitted to publish proposals to discontinue a voluntary 
aided school or foundation school; as are the Governors. As such the formal publication of the closure of 
the four existing schools may be carried out by the Council following the correct statutory procedure. 
 
The proposal to establish a new voluntary aided school will be published by the Catholic Archdiocese of 
Cardiff in partnership with Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. Whilst Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council could seek to establish a new voluntary aided school it is considered appropriate that 
such provision is planned in partnership with the Diocesan authority that will be responsible for the 
operation of the school. The role of the Council in the establishment of the new voluntary aided school 
would be advisory/supportive. Thus the proposal relating to the formation of the new 3-16 school will 
be published by the Archdiocese in partnership with Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
CATCHMENT AREA 

Page 44



Page 19 of 90 
 

The catchment area of the proposed new school covers the whole of the County Borough of Merthyr 
Tydfil. In addition the secondary provision within the school covers the Parishes of Aberdare, Hirwaun, 
Glynneath, Rhymney, Tredegar, Ebbw Vale and Brynmawr. 
 
SCHOOLS SERVING THE AREA AT PRESENT 

 
Nursery Provision 

 Nursery education is provided by the primary schools across the County Borough including the 3 
primary schools within this proposal 

 
Primary Provision  

 English medium primary education is provided across the County Borough including the 3 primary 
schools included within this proposal 

 Welsh medium primary education is provided by Ysgol Santes Tudful and Ysgol Rhyd y Grug 
 
Secondary Provision 

 There are 3 English medium secondary schools within the County Borough as well as the secondary 
school included within this proposal 

 Welsh medium secondary education is available at Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd y Waun 
 
INFORMATION ABOUT THE SCHOOLS 

 
Current demand for places  
 

GENERAL SCHOOL INFORMATION 

School Type of 
school 

Language 
category 

Admission 
number 

School 
capacity 

Number on 
roll 2017/18 

Age range 

St Aloysius 
RC Primary 

Voluntary 
Aided 

English 
Medium 

23 (2017/18) 
165 

(2017/18) 
174 3-11 

St Illtyd's RC 
Primary  

Voluntary 
Aided 
Federated 
With St 
Mary's RC 
Primary 

English 
Medium 

22 (2017/18) 
155 

(2017/18) 
166 3-11 

St Mary's RC 
Primary 

Voluntary 
Aided 
Federated 
With St 
Illtyd's RC 
Primary 

English 
Medium 

28 (2017/18) 
198 

(2017/18) 
232 3-11 

Bishop 
Hedley High  

Voluntary 
Aided 

English 
Medium 

153 
(2017/18) 

767 
(2017/18) 

496 11-16 

 
 
 
 

CURRENT LEVEL OF SURPLUS PLACES 

School School capacity  Number on roll 
(Excluding 

Surplus places % of Surplus 
places 

Page 45



Page 20 of 90 
 

nursery) 
St Aloysius RC 
Primary 

165 152 13 7.9% 

St Illtyd's RC 
Primary  

155 146 9 5.8% 

St Mary's RC 
Primary 

198 192 6 3.0% 

Bishop Hedley High  767 496 271 35.3% 
 
Future demand for places 
 
The following table provides information about the number of children attending the schools and the 
number expected to attend in the future. 
 

FUTURE DEMAND FOR PLACES 

School 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

Sc
h

o
o

l 

C
ap

ac
it

y 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
2

0
1

5
 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
2

0
1

6
 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
2

0
1

7
 

2
0

1
7

/1
8

 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

1
8

/1
9

 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

1
9

/2
0

 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

2
0

/2
1

 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

2
1

/2
2

 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

2
2

/2
0

2
3

 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

St 
Aloysius 
RC 
Primary 

165  
172  

148 Ex 
Nursery 

171  
157 Ex 

Nursery 

172  
148 Ex 

Nursery 

174 
152 Ex 

Nursery 

181  
153 Ex 

Nursery 

180  
158 Ex 

Nursery 

180  
153 Ex 

Nursery 

186  
159 Ex 

Nursery 

181  
154 Ex 

Nursery 

St 
Illtyd's 
RC 
Primary  

155 
171  

140 Ex 
Nursery 

179  
147 Ex 

Nursery 

182  
151 Ex 

Nursery 

166  
146 Ex 

Nursery 

180  
152 Ex 

Nursery 

168  
145 Ex 

Nursery 

167  
143 Ex 

Nursery 

175  
151 Ex 

Nursery 

178  
154 Ex 

Nursery 

St 
Mary's 
RC 
Primary 

198 
206 

172 Ex 
Nursery 

214  
182 Ex 

Nursery 

211  
177 Ex 

Nursery 

232  
192 Ex 

Nursery 

225  
197 Ex 

Nursery 

213  
187 Ex 

Nursery 

220  
192 Ex 

Nursery 

219  
191 Ex 

Nursery 

216 
188 Ex 

Nursery 

Bishop 
Hedley 
High  

767 499 482 474 496 503 513 520 515 506 

 

School Projections 
 

Pupil projections anticipate the number on the roll in the primary schools will increase to 496 by 
January 2023 indicating a potential surplus capacity of 4%. Within the secondary school the surplus 
capacity is projected to be 34 %. 

 

  

Page 46



Page 21 of 90 
 

CURRENT PERFORMANCE 

 
The Council works closely with the governing bodies of all schools to ensure that standards in the 
schools are high, that teaching and learning is of a high quality and that leadership and governance is 
strong.  The Council works with two organisations in order to monitor the performance of schools and to 
support school improvement: 

 Central South Consortium (CSC), Joint Education Service 

 Estyn 
 
In the case of Catholic education it works with the Archdiocese of Cardiff to monitor Section 50 
inspections of the Catholic ethos of schools. 
 
The Central South Consortium (CSC) was established in September 2012.  The Consortium supports and 
challenges all schools in Merthyr Tydfil on behalf of the Council. 
 
Estyn is the office of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales.  It is a Crown 
body, established under the Education Act 1992.  Estyn is independent of the Welsh Government but 
receives its funding from the Welsh Government under section 104 of the Government Wales Act 1998. 
Estyn inspects quality and standards in education and training providers in Wales. 
 
Schools are inspected by Estyn as part of a national programme of school inspection.  The purpose of an 
inspection is to identify good features and shortcomings in schools in order that they may improve the 
quality of education offered and raise the standards achieved by their pupils (Estyn). 
 

During each school inspection, inspectors aim to answer three key questions: 
 

Key Question 1: How good are the outcomes? 

Key Question 2: How good is provision? 

Key Question 3: How good are leadership and management? 

 

Inspectors also provide an overall judgement on the school’s current performance and on its prospects 
for improvement.  In these evaluations, inspectors use a four-point scale: 
 

Judgement What the judgement means 
 

Excellent Many strengths, including significant examples of sector-
leading practice 
 

Good Many strengths and no important areas requiring 
significant improvement 
 

Adequate Strengths outweigh areas of improvement 
 

Unsatisfactory Important areas for improvement outweigh strengths 
 

 
  

Page 47



Page 22 of 90 
 

Estyn Reports 
 
ST ALOYSIUS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL – inspected in June 2013. 
Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Good 

The school’s prospects for improvement Good 

 
Current Performance 

 The school’s current performance is good because: 
o standards in mathematics and English are high, particularly in pupils’ writing skills; 
o most pupils make good progress from their starting points; 
o pupils who need extra help with their learning make rapid progress; and 
o most teaching is good and, in a very few cases, it is excellent. 
 

Prospects for improvement 

 The school’s prospects for improvement are good because: 
o the school has a strong recent track record of raising standards; 
o it has effective systems for self-evaluation; 
o leaders and mangers challenge underperformance well; and 
o they monitor the school’s progress against its targets effectively. 

 

Key Question Judgement 
 

Key Question 1:  How good are outcomes? 
 Standards – Good 
 Wellbeing – Adequate  

 

Good 

Key Question 2:  How good is provision? 
 Learning experiences – Adequate 
 Teaching – Good 
 Care, support and guidance – Good 
 Learning environment – Adequate 

 

Good 

Key Question 3  How good are Leadership & Management? 
 Leadership – Adequate 
 Improving quality – Good 
 Partnership working – Good 
 Resource Management – Good 

Good 

 
The latest inspection report for St Aloysius RC Primary School can be found at: 
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753307 
 
Section 50 Inspection of Catholic Ethos Reports 

ST ALOYSIUS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL – inspected in June 2013. 
Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Adequate 

The school’s prospects for improvement Adequate 

ST ILLTYD’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL – inspected in February 2013. 
Page 48

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753307


Page 23 of 90 
 

Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Good 

The school’s prospects for improvement Excellent 

 
Current Performance 
The school’s current performance is good because 

 standards are good because the quality of teaching and learning support is good overall; 

 pupils’ wellbeing is good; 

 pupils’ development of Welsh skills is good; 

 intervention programmes are having a positive effect on pupils’ standards in literacy and numeracy; 

 the use of the new tracking system has resulted in better differentiated support for learners; 

 assessment for learning strategies help pupils make good progress; 

 achievement throughout the school has improved considerably in recent months; and 

 many pupils make good progress from low starting points especially pupils who have English 
additional learning needs. 

 
Prospects for improvement 
Prospects for improvement are excellent because: 

 of the rapid transformation of the culture, expectation of standards and morale of the whole school 
community school since the appointment of the new headteacher; 

 there are very strong systems in place for evaluating, monitoring and planning for improvement; 

 the school empowers staff to lead improvements effectively; 

 it has clear priorities and challenging targets for improvement; and 

 the school has secured improvements in teaching and learning. 
 

Key Question Judgement 
 

Key Question 1:  How good are outcomes? 
 Standards – Good 
 Wellbeing – Adequate  

 

 
Good 

Key Question 2:  How good is provision? 
 Learning experiences – Adequate 
 Teaching – Good 
 Care, support and guidance – Good 
 Learning environment – Adequate 

 

 
Good 

Key Question 3  How good are Leadership & Management? 
 Leadership – Adequate 
 Improving quality – Good 
 Partnership working – Good 
 Resource Management – Good 

 
Excellent 

 
Inspection and monitoring visits reports for St Illtyd’s Primary School can be found at 
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753300 
 
 
 
 

Page 49

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753300


Page 24 of 90 
 

Section 50 Inspection of Catholic Ethos Reports 
 
ST ILLTYD’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL – inspected in February 2013. 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Good 

The school’s prospects for improvement Excellent 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



Page 25 of 90 
 

ST MARY’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL – inspected in October 2013. 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Adequate 

The school’s prospects for improvement Adequate 

 
Current Performance 
The school’s current performance is good because 

 standards in both key stages are rising; 

 the school generally performs well when compared to its family; 

 many pupils make good progress from their starting points; and 

 many pupils who receive support for English as an additional language achieve very well. 
 

However: 

 standards in the Foundation Phase remain in the lower 50% of those for similar schools; 

 more able pupils do not always achieve highly; 

 many pupils do not use their literacy and numeracy skills well enough in all subjects; and 

 there are important shortcomings in teaching in a very few classes. 
 
Prospects for improvement 
Prospects for improvement are excellent because: 

 the new headteacher has a clear understanding of the school’s strengths and shortcomings; 

 in a short time she has put into place a range of initiatives to develop leadership and management 
that are already having a beneficial impact on provision and staff engagement; and 

 there are clear plans and targets for school improvement. 
 
However: 

 it is too early to judge the impact of initiatives on pupil outcomes; 

 there are shortcomings in the leadership structure of the school; and 

 not all staff are involved effectively in self-evaluation or improvement planning. 
 

Key Question Judgement 
 

Key Question 1:  How good are outcomes? 
 Standards – Adequate 
 Wellbeing – Adequate  

 

 
Adequate 

Key Question 2:  How good is provision? 
 Learning experiences – Adequate 
 Teaching – Adequate 
 Care, support and guidance – Good 
 Learning environment – Good 

 

 
Adequate 

Key Question 3  How good are Leadership & Management? 
 Leadership – Adequate 
 Improving quality – Adequate 
 Partnership working – Good 
 Resource Management – Adequate 

 
Adequate 

 
Page 51



Page 26 of 90 
 

In April 2015 St Mary’s was judged to have made good progress in respect of the key issues for action 
following the above inspection and was removed from further monitoring by Estyn. 
Inspection and monitoring visits reports for St Mary’s Primary School can be found at  
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753306 
 
Section 50 Inspection of Catholic Ethos Reports 
 
ST MARY’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL – inspected in February 2014. 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Adequate 

The school’s prospects for improvement Adequate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753306


Page 27 of 90 
 

 
 
BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH SCHOOL - inspected in November 2013 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Adequate 

The school’s prospects for improvement Adequate 

 

Current performance  

The school’s current performance is adequate 

 in key stage 4, the strong performance over the past three years in indicators that do not include 
English and mathematics, which compares favourably with that in similar schools;  

 improving standards in the core subjects at key stage 3;  

 the secure knowledge and understanding gained by pupils, who develop worthwhile skills in the 
majority of lessons;  

 the strength of most pupils’ general wellbeing, including their behaviour, attendance, and the 
development of their social and life skills;   

 effective teaching in the majority of lessons; and  

 a very supportive and inclusive ethos.  
 
However: 

 there is weak performance at key stage 4 in English and mathematics;  

 a minority of pupils have weak literacy and numeracy skills; and  

 teaching in a minority of lessons lacks sufficient pace and challenge to ensure that pupils make 
enough progress.  

 
Prospects for improvement  
The school’s prospects for improvement is adequate because:  

 the leaders have been effective in raising standards at key stage 3, improving the indicators that 
include a wide range of qualifications at key stage 4 and raising attendance rates and general levels 
of wellbeing successfully;  

 senior leaders have a secure understanding of the school’s strengths and areas for improvement;  

 clear aims, strategies and policies focus suitably on raising standards and the school’s vision is 
communicated effectively;  

 the improved use of data across the school and increasingly robust mentoring systems now ensure 
that intervention strategies to raise pupils’ standards are more effective; and  

 most governors understand their roles well and act effectively as critical friends to the school.  
 
However:  

 in general there has not been enough impact on the quality of teaching across the school or on the 
key indicators that include English and mathematics at key stage 4;  

 senior leaders do not use the findings from self-evaluation well enough to ensure they are fully 
effective in improving provision; and  

 majority of performance management targets do not focus enough on raising standards or 
improving the quality of teaching.  

 
 
 
 Page 53



Page 28 of 90 
 

 
 
 

Key Question Judgement 
 

Key Question 1:  How good are outcomes? 
 Standards – Adequate 
 Wellbeing – Good  

 

 
Adequate 

Key Question 2:  How good is provision? 
 Learning experiences – Adequate 
 Teaching – Adequate 
 Care, support and guidance – Good 
 Learning environment – Good 

 

 
Adequate 

Key Question 3  How good are Leadership & Management? 
 Leadership – Adequate 
 Improving quality – Adequate 
 Partnership working – Good 
 Resource Management – Adequate 

 
Adequate 

 

In November 2015 Bishop Hedley was judged to have made good progress in respect of the key issues 
for action following the above inspection and was removed from further monitoring by Estyn. 
 
Inspection and monitoring visits reports for Bishop Hedley High School can be found at 
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6754600  
 

Section 50 Inspection of Catholic Ethos Reports 
 
BISHOP HEDLEY RC HIGH SCHOOL – inspected in November 2013. 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Good 

The school’s prospects for improvement Good 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6754600


Page 29 of 90 
 

 
Welsh Government categorisation of schools 
 
In 2014 Welsh Government introduced a new categorisation system that considered each school’s 
standards alongside the school’s capacity to improve to understand the level of support that 
organisations such as the CSC need to give the school in order that they achieve their targets. 
 
The categorisation system is described below: 
 

Category 
 

What the Category means 
 

 
Green 

 
A highly effective school, which is well run, has strong leadership and is clear about its 
priorities for improvement. 

 
Yellow 

 
An effective school which is already doing well and knows the areas it needs to 
improve 

 
Amber 

 
A school in need of improvement which needs help to identify the steps to improve or 
to make change happen more quickly 

 
Red 

 
A school in need of greatest improvement and will receive immediate, intensive 
support. 

 
To determine the colour-coded category as explained in the table above, schools are placed in one of 
four groups for bringing about improvement (A-D) with one being the highest grouping for standards 
and ‘A’ being the highest for improvement capacity. 
 
For further information about the categorisation scheme, please see Welsh Government’s parents’ 
guide to the National School Categorisation System: http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-
parents-guide-en.pdf 
 
The categorisation for 2017/18 for each school is shown below 
 

School 
Improvement 

Capacity 

 
Overall Category 

 

 
St Aloysius 

 
B 

 
Yellow 

 

 
St Illtyd’s 

 
C Amber 

 
St Mary’s 

 
A Green 

 
Bishop Hedley 

 
A 

 
Green 

 

  
Page 55

http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-guide-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-guide-en.pdf


Page 30 of 90 
 

The following table provides information about the additional learning needs of current pupils 
 

2017/18 
St Aloysius RC 

Primary 
St Illtyd's 

RC Primary 
St Mary's 

RC Primary 

Bishop 
Hedley 

High 
Wales 

Percentage of 
total cohort who 
have Special 
Educational 
Needs 

School Action 
 

13.8% 9.0% 8.2% 17.7% 12.4% 

School Action 
Plus 
 

5.7% 6.0% 3.9% 7.7% 7.4% 

Statemented 
 

0.0% 0.0% 0.9% 0.8% 2.8% 

Total  19.5% 15% 13.0% 26.2% 22.6% 
 

It would be expected that a 3-16 provision would allow for improved continuity of support for learners 
with additional needs and support these learners through transition from one key stage to the next. 
 
The condition of school buildings and facilities 
 

The Council aims to provide the best possible facilities for children in Merthyr Tydfil to support their 
learning.  Since 2014/15 a five-year rolling programme of building reviews have been undertaken.   
 

The condition survey involved a visual assessment of all exposed parts of the buildings to identify any 
significant defects and items of disrepair. 
 

School 
 

Type of School 
 

 
Condition of 

School Building 
 

 
Cost of Identified 

Repairs 
 

St Aloysius RC Primary Voluntary Aided B £49,050 

St Illtyd's RC Primary  
Voluntary Aided 
Federated With St Mary's RC Primary 

C £194,862 

St Mary's RC Primary 
Voluntary Aided 
Federated With St Illtyd's RC Primary 

B £157,342 

Bishop Hedley High  Voluntary Aided C- £1,337,821 

 
 

THE INTENDED IMPACT ON EDUCATION OUTCOMES 

 
Any school organisational change should be able to articulate the educational benefits that the change 
will offer, particularly in relation to overall improvements in standards, but also in terms of the social 
and emotional development of children, which would usually impact beneficially on their overall 
achievement and outcomes.  
 
It is the Council’s view that creating an all through 3-16 school will:  
 
Improve educational outcomes by 

 providing teaching and support staff with more opportunity to develop professionally;  

 enabling greater opportunities for staff to move between key stages and further develop expertise;  

 providing a more appropriate curriculum and wider extra-curricular opportunities which will improve 
attendance and educational outcomes;  

Page 56



Page 31 of 90 
 

Improve educational provision by 
 

 providing the conditions that will enable a broader and more diverse curriculum to be developed to 
better meet the needs of the school’s young people and in ways that will be viable and sustainable 
over the longer term;  

 improving the range and quality of facilities and learning resources available to the benefit of all 
pupils;  

 enabling greater continuity of support for vulnerable groups of pupils;  

 allowing  for the potential for financial savings in terms of staffing structures and purchase of 
services, which accrue to a larger school;  

 broadening the range of extra-curricular and out-of-school activities and develop them in ways that 
are sustainable over the longer term;  

 continuing to embed the catholic ethos across all age ranges within the school. 
 
Improve leadership and management by  
 

 providing the opportunity for the headteacher to distribute key leadership tasks such as child 
protection, literacy, numeracy, special educational needs etc to a greater number of staff and across 
phases of education;  

 creating leadership opportunities for other staff, and for others to specialise in key areas, which will 
enhance educational provision and outcomes;  

 allowing teaching and support staff access to a wider range of responsibilities:  
 
Why a 3-16 school? 
 
In bringing schools together be that through amalgamation, federation or informal clustering, the over-
riding purpose has to be to improve teaching and learning and pupil outcomes. The benefits of 3-16 
schools can be summarised as follows:  
 

 by having a common ethos pupils do not have to adapt to a new culture on moving schools, in the 
case of this proposal this would also strengthen the catholic ethos and culture.  

 through coherent and consistent styles of teaching and learning across the school pupils’ learning 
experiences are more stable; 

 the comprehensive and common system for assessing, recording and tracking pupil progress 
throughout his/her schooling ensures a more preventative intervention process is available and 
therefore pupils with additional needs can maintain relationships with supporting agencies 
throughout their school career if required; 

 a greater flexibility to provide the appropriate curriculum for individuals regardless of age;  

 increased access for pupils to a range of specialist accommodation, facilities and learning resources;  

 a common attendance and behaviour policy means that routines are established and values 
understood from an early age;  

 parents may remain more involved in their children’s education as they do not have to establish new 
relationships with staff.  

 
The great strength of all-through education is the continuity of educational experience which negates 
the transition “dips” in pupil performance. A 3-16 school provides the opportunity to provide a “bridge” 
between key stages in order to create a seamless transition for pupils in terms of curriculum planning, 
learning and teaching. It can allow for a significant sharing of subject expertise and primary pedagogy in 
particular across key stages 2 and 3. 
 
 Page 57



Page 32 of 90 
 

What about having primary and secondary aged pupils on one site? 
 
It must be emphasised that a 3-16 school would not result in young children sharing playgrounds or 
break times with much older pupils. If the proposal is accepted there would be consideration to 
safeguarding of all learners within the new build. It would expected that there would be a clear 
distinction between the secondary aspect of the site and the primary aspect however, all pupils would 
be given have the opportunity to develop their curricular skills through the use of specialised facilities 
e.g. science and technology. Secondary phase pupils will also be able to have learning opportunities in 
the primary phase especially around any care related vocational activities and meeting some of the 
requirements of the Welsh Baccalaureate.  
 
What about the impact on other ‘partner’ primary schools? 
 
It would be expected that as part of the proposals the schools the wider catchment area schools would 
have the opportunity to strengthen their relationship and transition arrangements. This is an area that 
officers from the Archdiocese are keen to develop and they alongside the senior leadership of the school 
would work closely with all schools to ensure that pupils transferring at year 7 are not disadvantaged. 
 
What about the impact on pupils? 
 
The principal changes will be improved transition between educational phases and an improvement in 
the quality of the educational provision, and this should have a significant impact on the educational 
performance of the pupils. There will be no changes to the current provision of home to school 
transport and the Council’s policy regarding free school transport will continue to apply. There is a 
statutory duty placed upon the local authority (LA) to provide learners with free transport to their 
nearest suitable school if they reside beyond safe “walking distance” to that school. The law relating to 
safe “walking distance” is defined as two miles for learners of compulsory school age receiving primary 
education and three miles for learners of compulsory school age receiving secondary education. 
 
What about the impact on staff? 
 
If the proposal is accepted, the schools involved in the proposal will close and the Archdiocese will be 
asked to open a new school with a new governing body. Should the proposal proceed, a temporary 
governing body will need to be appointed for the interim period until the new school opens.  
 
The temporary governing body will appoint a new headteacher, who will then formulate and propose 
the leadership, management and staffing structures for the new school. In line with statutory guidance 
it would be advisable that appointments at Headteacher and deputy Headteacher level are advertised 
nationally. The Council and the Archdiocese will recommend that if the proposal is accepted, that the 
temporary governing body of the new school “ring fences” for recruitment, all other teaching and 
associated staff posts to staff within the existing schools in the first instance. 
 
 

 

  

 

 

Page 58



Page 33 of 90 
 

WHAT ARE THE ADVANTAGES OF THIS PROPOSAL? 

 
The proposal is considered to have the following educational benefits:  

 A single Leadership Team and Governing Body, supporting a Headteacher who would have a ‘whole 
school’ responsibility 

 Opportunities to provide staff with continuing professional development opportunities by enabling 
them to gain experience within an ‘all through’ learning environment 

 A single set of policies and code of behaviour consistent across all year groups 
 Continuity of provision, reflecting a single ethos and culture 
 Releases funding which could be reinvested into learning and teaching 
 Streamlined communication between parents and staff with a single point of contact 

throughout their statutory school career 
 
WHAT ARE THE DISADVANTAGES OF THIS PROPOSAL? 

 
It is acknowledged that there may be some potential disadvantages or risks that will have to be 
managed by the school and the Council to avoid any detrimental impact: 

 Management of staff and resources may be disrupted during the restructuring process, although the 
Council’s experience in the amalgamation of schools will ensure that disruption is kept to a minimum 
and that the children’s education does not suffer 

 The reduction to one Headteacher could impact upon accessibility to the leadership for staff, parents 
and pupils; although the new senior leadership structure would ensure accessibility for all 
stakeholders. 

 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
The options that have been considered are:- 
1. Maintain the status quo 
2. Undertake refurbishment of all schools 
3. Federate all the primary schools named in the proposal and remain on current sites 
4. Federate all schools named in the proposal and remain on current sites 
5. Consult on one Catholic secondary school across Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf 
6. Create a new 3-16 Catholic school, ultimately on one site 
 
The main advantages and disadvantage of each option are outlined below 
 

 Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 1 – Status Quo No capital investment required 
by the Council;  
No disruption to the pupils, 
parents and the staff;  
No impact on home to school 
transport;  
The schools have a strong 
tradition and are well supported 
in the local communities.  
 

 

Does not address the need to 
reduce the high number of 
surplus places in the Secondary 
school;  
Poor condition of St Illtyd’s and 
Bishop Hedley in particular 
would not be improved; 
Transition between KS2 & KS3 
still required. 
 

 
  

Page 59



Page 34 of 90 
 

Option 2 – Undertake 
refurbishment of all schools 

It would be straightforward to 
progress as there would be no 
changes required to school 
reorganisation. 
 

High cost to the Council; 
Could not be completed at same 
time – would be a long process; 
Does not address the need to 
reduce the high number of surplus 
places in the Secondary school;  

High disruption to staff and 
pupils whilst work was going on; 
Transition between KS2 & KS3 still 
required. 

 

Option 3 - Federate all the 
primary schools named in the 
proposal and remain on current 
sites 

Education provision would 
continue as present;  
Opportunities for sharing staff 
expertise and good practice;  
Minimum disruption to pupils, 
parents and staff;  
No impact on home to school 
transport.  
 

 

Does not address the need to 
reduce the high number of surplus 
places in the Secondary school;  
Transition between KS2 & KS3 still 
required; 
Poor condition of St Illtyd’s and 
Bishop Hedley in particular would 
not be improved. 

 

Option 4 - Federate all the 
schools named in the proposal 
and remain on current sites 

Education provision would 
continue as present;  
Opportunities for sharing staff 
expertise and good practice;  
Minimum disruption to pupils, 
parents and staff;  
No impact on home to school 
transport.  

 

Does not address the need to 
reduce the high number of surplus 
places in the Secondary school; 
Poor condition of St Illtyd’s and 
Bishop Hedley in particular would 
not be improved. 

 

Option 5 - Consult on one 
Catholic secondary school across 
Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda 
Cynon Taf 
 

Education provision for primary 
pupils would continue as 
present; 
 
 

Poor condition of primary 
schools would not be improved; 
Transition between KS2 & KS3 
still required; 
More travelling for pupils with 
related cost in time and 
transport. 

Option 6 – Close all schools in 
proposal and create a new 3-16 
Catholic  school 

Removes surplus places in 
Secondary school; 
Enables the primary and 
secondary pupils to share 
specialist facilities; 
Improves transition from KS2 to 
KS3; 
Allows the Catholic ethos to be 
enhanced. 

3-16 schools are relatively new 
concept across Wales and 
parents will have concerns over 
how their children will be 
supported within this structure. 

 
On analysis of these options – Option 6 is the preferred option of the Council and the Archdiocese and 
as such this is the proposal that is being consulted upon. 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



Page 35 of 90 
 

TRANSITION PLAN IF THE PROPOSALS ARE APPROVED 

 
The proposals would mean that the new school would open at the start of the autumn term in 
September 2019.  It is anticipated that if the proposal is fully approved at all stages a final decision will 
be made in March 2019 which would allow for the appointment of the Headteacher for September 2019 
 

All pupils on roll at the four schools would transfer to the new school in September 2019, except for 
pupils entering reception for the first time, where parents will have to apply for a place in the reception 
class, in line with the normal admissions procedures. 
 
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROPOSAL 

 
 Potential difficulties in bringing together three different sets of working practice into the one 

school 
 The challenge of operating across separate buildings 
 Possible resistance to or disengagement with the change process amongst stakeholders 

 

The challenges outlined above will be managed by the Headteacher, Senior Leadership Team and 
Governing Body of the amalgamated school, with support from the Council and Archdiocese.  All the 
schools have effective and flexible working practices and already have strong working partnerships.  The 
Headteacher, Senior Leadership Team and Governing Body will need to adopt a transparent and 
equitable change management process to ensure that all who work, teach and are taught in both 
schools have minimum disruption through the process of this proposal and any ultimate changes. 
 
ADMISSIONS AND CATCHMENT AREA ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Voluntary aided schools are maintained by the local authority but are governed by the Roman Catholic 
Archdiocese in partnership with the local authority. The admissions authority for the new school will be 
the governing body and they will draw up the admission criteria. The ethos of the school will be 
Catholic. The school will be founded by the Catholic Church to primarily provide education for children 
of Catholic families residing within the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil at primary age and included 
neighbouring parishes at secondary age. The school is conducted by its Governing Body as part of the 
Catholic Church in accordance with its Trust Deed and Instrument of Government and seeks at all times 
to be a witness to Jesus Christ. All parents applying for a place will be asked to respect this ethos and its 
importance to the school community. This will not affect the right of parents who are not of the faith of 
this school to apply for and be considered for a place. 
 
The catchment area for the school will remain the same. 
 
FINANCE 

 

Running costs 
 
The amalgamation of the four schools would initially result in funding continuing to be allocated to each 
school as currently. This would be on a transitional basis until the single site school is ready to be 
occupied. 

Page 61



Page 36 of 90 
 

The new school would be required to pool all funding made available in order to benefit from a single 
budget under the responsibility of a single governing body. All running costs of the school during the 
period until the new school site is opened will be taken from this pooled budget. 
 
A revised 3-16 school formula funding model will then be provided to meet the needs of the single 
school site. The detail of this funding model requires further discussion and agreement and will be 
considered as part of the business case process. 
 
Capital Investment 
 
Whilst this proposal requires no capital investment initially it is linked to the Council’s 21st Century Band 
B Programme 2019-2026, approved by WG, which includes a proposed new build 3-16 VA school 
estimated to cost £27 Million.  
 
The £27 M capital investment is required to be provided by both WG and the MTCBC as follows; WG - 
£23M (85%), MTCBC - £4M (15%) 
 
WG and the Council have both set aside the required monies for this new build project, subject to 
successful business cases, as part of the overall Band B programme. 
 
The next steps to secure this funding from WG requires the local authority to complete the detailed 
business case process involving three business cases; Strategic Outline Case (SOC), Outline Business Case 
(OBC) and the Full Business Case (FBC). Each of these business cases is subject to WG approval. 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES MATTERS 

 
The Council will support the Governors, Headteachers and Staff at both schools with any changes that 
may be required. 
 
All schools will have access to the Merthyr Tydfil CBC Human Resources department’s policies and 
procedures such as the Redundancy Policy.  Human Resources services will work closely with Governors 
to ensure regular and clear communication takes place. 
 
TRANSPORT MATTERS 

 
As there will be no change to the overall capacity of the schools or any extension to current facilities it is 
not envisaged that there will be any changes to traffic or congestion around the school until the new 
build is completed. Initially, there will be no impact on pupils’ journeys as a result of the proposal and 
available walking routes to school will remain the same, changes when the new build is finalised will be 
mitigated at that time. 
 
LEARNER TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Under these proposals there are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the transport of children to 
and from schools. 

 
The Council has a statutory duty to provide pupils with free school transport to the nearest available 
school if they reside beyond ‘walking distance’ to that school.  The law relating to walking distance is 
defined as two miles for primary age.  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council currently provides 

Page 62



Page 37 of 90 
 

transport for primary age pupils residing over two miles from their nearest or designated catchment 
area primary school. 
 
The Council does not provide free school transport for nursery-age children other than those children 
who have a Statement of Special Educational Need, which can be found at 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/special-educational-needs-
sen/trafnidiaeth-gyfer-disgyblion-sydd-ag-anghenion-addysgol-arbennig-anabledd-aneu-gyflwr-
meddygol/ 
 
 
IMPACT OF THE PROPOSAL ON THE WELSH LANGUAGE 

 
A programme of utilising incidental Welsh will be developed across the Foundation Phase curriculum 
with use of the language gaining in frequency and complexity as the children move through the year 
groups into Key Stage 2, this will be further developed as the children move into Key Stages 3 and 4. 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out as part of this consultation and will be included in the 
consultation report. 
 
CONSIDERING COMMUNITY IMPACT 

 
The new 3-16 school will provide the opportunity to enhance community engagement across an 
extended age range. The current facilities available for pupils, the community and parents will not be 
adversely affected by these proposals. 
 
KEY DATES 

 
The feedback from this consultation will be collated and summarised and a report presented to the 
Council’s Cabinet. The consultation report will be available for everybody to view on the Council 
website.  Copies can also be obtained on request by using the contact details within this document.  
There are a number of further stages that the Council have to go through before a final decision is made 
by the Council which are set out below.  The proposed timetable may be subject to change.   
 

Timescale Statutory Process 

3rd September 2018 Consultation document published 

14th October 2018 Closing date for receipt of comments / points of view on the proposal 

21st November 2018 
 
 
 

Consultation report presented to Cabinet (publication of Consultation 
Report) 
Cabinet to decide whether to approve publishing a Statutory Notice.   
If approved – proceed to Statutory Notice 
If not approved – proposal to be withdrawn/reassessed 

26th November 2018 

Publish Statutory Notice 
If approved, the Statutory Notice will be published on the Council’s 
website and posted in the named schools.  Copies of the Notice will be 
made available to the relevant schools to distribute to pupils, 
parents/carers and members of staff 

9th January 2019 Closing date for receipt of objections to the Proposal 
Page 63

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/special-educational-needs-sen/trafnidiaeth-gyfer-disgyblion-sydd-ag-anghenion-addysgol-arbennig-anabledd-aneu-gyflwr-meddygol/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/special-educational-needs-sen/trafnidiaeth-gyfer-disgyblion-sydd-ag-anghenion-addysgol-arbennig-anabledd-aneu-gyflwr-meddygol/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/special-educational-needs-sen/trafnidiaeth-gyfer-disgyblion-sydd-ag-anghenion-addysgol-arbennig-anabledd-aneu-gyflwr-meddygol/


Page 38 of 90 
 

16th  January 2019 

Where objections received: 
Objection report presented to 
Cabinet 
Cabinet to determine proposal in light 
of the objections received and the 
contend of the Objection Report 

Where no objections received: 
Report presented to Cabinet 
Cabinet to determine proposal 
Where objections received 
refer to Welsh Government – 
28 day period 

17th January 2019 /14th March 
2019  

Publication of Cabinet Decision if no objections/Publication of Decision 
if referral to Welsh Government.  

1st September 2019 Implementation of Proposal 

 
CONSULTATION PERIOD 

 
The consultation period for this proposal will run from Monday 3rd September – Sunday 14th October.  
See page 7 for further details of how to respond and make your views known. 
 

Following the consultation period the Archdiocese and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council will 
consider the responses.  A full report will be published on the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
website.  Hard copies of the report will also be available on request.  The report will summarise the 
issues raised by consultees during the consultation period and provide the Council’s response to these 
issues.  The report will also contain Estyn’s view of the proposals. 
 

The Council’s Cabinet will consider the consultation report and decide whether or not to proceed with 
the proposals. 
 

If the Cabinet decides to continue with the proposals the Council must publish a Statutory Notice. 
 
STATUTORY NOTICE 

 
The Statutory Notice would be published on the Council’s website and posted at or near the main 
entrance to the schools that are named as part of the consultation process.  Copies of the notice would 
be made available to all schools in the proposal to distribute to pupils, parents, guardians, and staff 
members (the school may also distribute the notice by email).  The notice will set out the details of the 
proposals and invite anyone who wishes to object to do so in writing within the period specified. 
 
DETERMINATION OF THE PROPOSALS 

 
The Cabinet will determine the proposals. Cabinet may decide to approve, reject or approve the 
proposals with modifications.  In doing so, Cabinet will take into account any statutory objections that it 
has received. 
 
DECISION NOTIFICATION 

 
Following determination of proposals all interested parties will be informed of the decision which will be 
published electronically on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Page 39 of 90 
 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 

 
Who will be the governors of the new school? 
 
A temporary governing body will be established at in January 2019 should the proposal go ahead. A new 
governing body will be established when the school opens in September 2019. 
 
Who will be the Headteacher of the new school? 
 
The temporary governing body will work with the Archdiocese and local authority to appoint the 
Headteacher of the new school. The aim is for the Headteacher to be appointed in order to start on 
September 1st 2019. 
 
What will happen with the staff? 
 
It is anticipated that the staff of the schools would be incorporated into the new school. Details of the 
staffing structure would be decided upon by the Headteacher and Governing Body of the new school. 
 
What will the proposal mean for children currently attending the four schools? Will my child be 
offered a place at the new school? 
 
All children attending the four schools at present will be guaranteed a place at the new school. 
 
All families who wish to apply for a place in the reception classes as part of the 2018/19 primary school 
place admissions process should follow the normal procedures for the four schools as set out in the ‘A 
Guide to Policy and School Admission Arrangement 2018-2019‘ which can be found at 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/admissions-and-appeals/school-
admissions/ 
 
What will the admission arrangements be for children applying for a place in the Reception Class of 
the primary school for September 2019? 
 
The current governing bodies will continue to be the admitting authority for September 2019. Children 
can start full time education in the September following their fourth birthday. 
 

What will the admission arrangements be for children applying to the Nursery Class of the new 
school? 
 
For September 2019 parents should apply through the current admissions policy of the schools, from 
September a new admissions policy will be drawn up for future admissions. 
 

Will there be any changes to the local catchment area if the proposal goes ahead? 
 
There will be no change the catchment area because of the proposal. 
 
What will be the name of the school?  
 
The temporary governing body in conjunction with current staff and pupils will seek views on the name 
of the school. This will be undertaken in conjunction with the Archdiocese who formally open the 
school. 
 

Page 65

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/admissions-and-appeals/school-admissions/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/admissions-and-appeals/school-admissions/


Page 40 of 90 
 

What about school uniform? 
 
This discussion will be had with the temporary governing body in conjunction with the current leaders 
of the schools – options will be considered and a consensus taken on the best way forward for 
September 2019. 
 
What about policies? 
 

This will be a decision of the Governing Body and the Headteacher of the school.  The school will review 
its policies to ensure that all children in the school are covered by the school’s governance and 
safeguarding policies. 
 

How will links between the schools and the individual parishes be retained – what role will the 
Archdiocese play to ensure that parishes do not feel isolated from the process? 
 
Whereas Catholic primary schools usually link with the individual parish from which their pupils are 
drawn, a Catholic secondary school covers a wider catchment area and will normally have links with a 
number of parishes. In the same way a 3-16 school will have links with all local parishes. 
 
The membership of the temporary governing body will be drawn from all the parishes. 
  

Page 66



Page 41 of 90 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM 

 
 

CREATION OF A SINGLE 3-16 CATHOLIC SCHOOL WITHIN MERTHYR TYDFIL 
 
Your views matter, please tell us what you think about the proposals by: 

 completing the online response form at https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/creationofsingle3-
16catholicschool/ 

 answering the consultation questions and adding your points of view on this form, which should 
be returned to the address at the bottom of the form. 
 

The closing date for responses to this consultation is 14th October 2018. 
 

Unfortunately no responses received after this date can be considered by the Council. 
 

Consultation responses will not be counted as objections to the proposals, although considered by 
Cabinet when making its decision. 
 

Objections can only be registered following publication of a Statutory Notice. 
 

Any responses received can be requested under the Freedom of Information Act and may have to be 
made public.  However any information that would identify an individual such as name, email address 
and postal address would be removed. 
 
 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
 

  Name of current School 

1.  Parent   

2.  Pupil   

3.  Governor   

4.  Member of staff   

5.  Local resident   

6.  Other (please specify)    
 

QUESTIONS 
 

1. Do you support the proposal to create a 3-16 Catholic faith school from September 2019 by 
discontinuing St Aloysius RC, St Illtyd’s RC, St Mary’s RC and Bishop Hedley RC Schools and 
opening a 3-16 provision initially on the sites of the existing schools? 
 

Yes  ☐ No  ☐ 

 

If you support or do not support the proposal then please explain why. 
__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
  Page 67

https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/creationofsingle3-16catholicschool/
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/creationofsingle3-16catholicschool/


Page 42 of 90 
 

 

2. If you would like to suggest any changes or alternatives to the proposals, please detail these below. 
_________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

3. Any other comments 
 _________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
Thank you for your comments. 
 
NB - Please return this form to the address below no later than Sunday 14th October 2018 
 

Chief Education Officer 
Learning Department 
Unit 5 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TQ 
 
 
NOTES  

 
 
Notes on Consultation Document 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Page 43 of 90 
 

Appendix B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT: Mr J Long 

Mrs J Sambrook 

Mrs J Griffiths 

Reverend D O’Keefe 

Mr A O’Neill 

Mrs J Budding 

Mrs P Crawford 

Mrs J Gillett 

Mrs S Thomas 

Mrs T Jenkins 

Mrs J Lewis 

Mrs K Acreman 

Mrs K Wathan 

Mrs K Lewis 

IN ATTENDANCE: Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Education, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

1.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 

 

FEDERATION OF ST. MARY’S RC AND ST. ILLTYD’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOLS 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH GOVERNORS 

Page 69



Page 44 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
C: When we had our previous meeting with you, we were led to believe the new 

headteacher would be appointed when the new school was built.  Now in the document 
each school would continue on their own site and a new headteacher would oversee the 
three schools from September 2019. 

R: No, the proposal is to have a 3-16 one school with a new headteacher with effect from 
2019, with schools remaining on their own separate sites until a new school is built. 

 
Q: This is a real shock to us as governors and this was not explained to us in previous 

meetings, why has this changed? 
R: In other local authorities they have tried this approach and it hasn’t worked so the proposal 

is to appoint a headteacher from September 2019 to work with the new governing body 
otherwise the headteacher of the new 3-16 school would have no say in the design of the 
new school or be able to work with the governing body on the staffing structure and be 
involved in decisions. 

 
C: I can understand the reasons but this was not made clear to governors, so now 3 schools 

will cease on 31st August 2019 and one headteacher will be in post and our existing 
headteachers will be reporting to the new headteacher. 

R: Yes, a new headteacher from September 2019 and one governing body who would then 
determine the appropriate staffing structure for a 3-16 school. 

 
C: Everyone thought this and not just me and this miscommunication worries us for the 

future.  
 
Q: Whoever is appointed as the new headteacher will have 4/5 years of working across three 

schools (four sites) and during this time our current headteachers could leave or go 
elsewhere. 

R: This decision would be for the headteachers to make, all we can do is apologise if this was 
not conveyed/made clear to you. 

 
C: We all support a new 3-16 school to promote Catholic education but the new headteacher 

from September 2019 was a bit of a shock. 
 
Q: So will there be separate budgets and separate Estyn inspections from September 2019? 
R: No there would be one budget and one inspection with one governing body.   
 
Q: What if existing schools have created a structure which is detrimental to the other 

Page 70



Page 45 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

schools? 
R: When they become a 3-16 school the new governing body will determine the staffing 

structure and the LA and Archdiocese will support the school to ensure the staffing structure 
is appropriate. 

 
Q: What if there are too many senior leadership staff for the new school? 
R: The governing body will determine the leadership structure and initially this will need to 

reflect the fact the schools are on separate sites. 
 
C: The primaries are as big as the secondary school, it’s important that the provision is right 

for all our Catholic pupils.  
Q: So the interim governing body will appoint the new headteacher and then determine the 

schools staffing structure? 
R: Yes a temporary governing body will make the appointment of the new headteacher from 

September 2019, there will be one governing body. 
 
Q: I am worried about the current structures across our Catholic schools.   
R: The new governing body will determine the new staffing structure and the LA and 

Archdiocese will support the process. 
 
C: Not all schools engage with the LA and therefore there could be an issue around 

transparency. 
R: We would encourage schools to work closely with the LA, Archdiocese and HR on all staffing 

matters and the new governing body would be supported during this process. 
 
C: We will look at current structures across the four sites in readiness for the 3-16 school. 
 
Q: So the one 3-16 school in September 2019 would have a new DFE number and this could 

be inspected as one school on four sites? 
R: No, that couldn’t happen straight away.  Estyn will normally inspect a newly established 

school within four years but no earlier than twelve months after opening. 
 
C: If you want to have your voice heard and be part of the 3-16 school then you can express 

an interest to stand for the new governing body. 
 
Q: So the current governing bodies will be dissolved on 31st August 2019, a temporary 

governing body will be set up and there will be a new name for the school, new 
headteacher, new mission statement, new vision etc.?  

R: Yes, the LA closes the schools on 31st August and the Archdiocese opens the 3-16 new 
school September 2019. 

  
Q: This didn’t happen in Rhyl.  Rhyl was on separate sites with individual headteachers and 

their own identities, then a new headteacher was appointed when pupils moved into their 
new build.  

R: This approach will allow the headteacher to have a voice in the new school/design/SLT etc. 
 
Q: How will the temporary governing body be appointed? 
R: We will use regulations and ask for expressions of interests. 
 
Q: The role of the chair is crucial, who will be chair? 

Page 71



Page 46 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: The chair would be elected by the governing body. 
 
Q: We need more new independent governors on the new temporary governing body. 
R: We will work together to establish a new governing body for the new 3-16 school. 
 
Q: Will the feeder partnership schools be represented on the new governing body? 
R: The Archdiocese will be meeting with the partnership schools and expressions of interest 

will be requested for membership of the new governing body. 
 
Q: Will feeder primary school children start at Year 7? 
R: Yes, it is expected that pupils will continue to start Year 7.  
 
Q: Where did the capacity figures come from? 
R: The capacity figures are from Welsh Government. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT:   Twenty-seven Parents 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Schools, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

2.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 

 

ST. ILLTYD’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH PARENTS 

Page 72



Page 47 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
Q: Where will the site for the new school be? 
R: We have looked at a number of sites, no decision has been made. 
 
C: The site of the new school is an important factor for parents and should be part of the 

proposal. 
R: We need to wait for a decision on the proposal and then the site will be looked at again.  

The location of the site will be consulted on with stakeholders. 
 
C: There are rumours that the 3-16 school will be on the Goatmill Road. 
R: We have not determined the site as yet. 
 
Q: When will our pupils start at the new 3-16 building? 
R: Once the site has been determined, it is estimated the new school building will be ready 

2022/2023. 
 
Q: So from 2019, St. Mary’s and St. Illtyd’s will be one school? 
R: The proposal is to create a single school 3-16 from September, with schools remaining on 

their own sites with one headteacher until the new school is built. 
 
Q: Will there be a new uniform? 
R: The governing body will determine this with the new headteacher. 
 
Q: When will the final decision be made on the proposal? 
R: The timeline is outlined in the documentation; a final decision will be made in January 2019, 

if there are any objections. 
 
Q: How will you separate the children in such a large school? 
R: The proposal is to have one all-through school, but there will be separate areas for key 

stages. 
 
Q: Will the primary pupils have their own yard? 
R: Yes, absolutely and separate entrances for different age ranges.  
 
Q: How will the school be organised at dinnertime for the different ages? 
R: The lunchtimes will have different times and separate areas. 
 
C: Across Wales there are a number of 3-16 schools and we will look at what has worked well 

Page 73



Page 48 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

and share the good practice. 
 
Q: Has the Archdiocese got any other 3-16 Catholic schools? 
R: Not so far, however there are a number of 3-16 schools across Wales and five of them have 

been inspected. 
 
C: We chose this school because it’s a Catholic school with a church next door. 
R: There will be a place of worship on site in the new 3-16 school.  
  
C: At the moment our pupils have the opportunity to attend a church and this is an 

important part of our faith. 
R: Yes this is important, and children will still be encouraged to attend church. 
 
Q: Are we having this discussion because our schools are federated? 
R: No, the 3-16 proposal is about the strengthening of Catholic education that is fit for purpose 

to deliver the new curriculum and not to do with federation. 
 
Q: Will the class sizes be the same? 
R: Yes, class sizes will be similar and in-line with Welsh Government guidance. 
 
Q: Where will the site for the new school be? 
R: The new site has not yet been determined. 
 
Q: Are pupils involved in the consultation process because all should have a say? 
R: We will be meeting pupils tomorrow and the School Council will be able to ask questions 

and make comments as part of the consultation process. 
 
Q: Where is the money coming from to build a new school? 
R: The 3-16 school will be funded from Welsh Government as part of the 21st Century Schools’ 

Programme. 
 
Q: How much will it cost to build a new school? 
R: It will cost approximately £27 million. 
 
Q: Can parents visit the new build before they decide if they want their pupils to go there? 
R: This would be up to the headteacher and governing body there would be an opening 

evenings and a process to engage with pupils, parents and community during the build. 
 
Q: If the 3-16 school doesn’t go ahead, will the money be spent refurbishing our schools? 
R: Governing bodies, LA and Archdiocese had a lot of discussions regarding this option and we 

believe this is the best options to strengthen Catholic education. 
 
Q: Will pupils have transport to the new school, if they live away from the school? 
R: Once the site has been determined, transport will be considered in-line with the LA policy. 
 
Q: Will the new school have a car park or a drop off point and will this be safe? 
R: The new school would be designed to meet all the current health and safety guidance and 

arrangements for parking e.g. drop off point primary and drop off secondary will be 
included. 

 

Page 74



Page 49 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

Q: What if parents want to talk to the teacher about their child? 
R: Yes, these arrangements will continue. 
 
Q: What happens when primaries out of Merthyr join in Year 7? 
R: The headteacher and SLT would work to strengthen the current transition provision to 

ensure that there is a seamless transition. 
 
Q: My child is very quiet and has been quite distressed about this, what support is there for 

pupils if we decide to send them to the 3-16 school? 
R: The new headteachers role is key and will work with all stakeholders and parents.  This is 

going to be a big change and needs to be managed.  Staff in the three schools would work 
together to ensure pupils transition is seamless.   

 
Q: Are staff guaranteed their jobs? 
R: The governing body will determine staffing and it is recommended staffing is ring-fenced.   
 
Q: How will children be split in their classes depending on age or ability? 
R: This will be the decision of the new headteacher. 
 
 Q: Will the headteacher be as accessible with so many pupils and working across four sites? 
R: The headteacher would have an appropriate SLT in place to run a 3-16 school.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT:   Thirty-eight Parents 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Schools, Archdiocese  

Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

3.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 

 

ST MARY’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH PARENTS 

Page 75



Page 50 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
Q: Will the new school have sufficient capacity? 
R: If the proposal goes ahead the new build will be big enough for the three schools (four 

sites). 
 
Q: So from September 2019, there will be one 3-16 school? 
R: From September the schools will become one 3-16 school, but will remain on their own sites 

until the new school is built.  There will be a brand new school on a site to be determined. 
 
C: If this goes ahead, I don’t think parents will go to the 3-16 school. 
R: When a new school is build this will usually attract more pupils.  The proposal is to 

discontinue St. Mary’s, St. Illtyd’s, St. Aloysius and Bishop Hedley from September 2019 to 
create one 3-16 school with a new headteacher and then to determine a new site.  The plan 
is to have a 2.5 form entry for primaries and 4 form entry for the secondary school.   

 
Q: One headteacher over all the sites? 
R: Yes, from September 2019. 
 
Q: Will there be one governing body? 
R: Yes, one governing body and one headteacher over the 3-16 school from September 2019. 
 
Q: When will pupils move to the new school build? 
R: Once the site has been determined, it is planned the new school will be built in 2022/2023 

and pupils will be hugely involved in the process. 
 
Q: I have read the consultation document and I have concerns about where the new school 

will be built.  What will the arrangements be for transport, because not all parents drive?  
Will it be the same as now? 

Page 76



Page 51 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: Transport will be considered in more detail when the new site has been agreed. 
 
Q: Will parents be allowed on the bus for the first week of school, if this goes ahead? 
R: The site is not yet determined.  We are looking at a variety of sites, and transport will be 

considered in detail once a site has been identified.  Currently it is 2 miles for primary 
schools and 3 miles for secondary schools to qualify for the bus.   

  
C: I think a 3-16 school is going to impact on pupil numbers in Catholic schools. 
R: The proposal is to strengthen Catholic Education and transport will be part of our 

consideration when determining the site. 
 
C: We live in RCT, and there were issues with transport when a 3-16 school was built.  The 

site for the new school is an important factor for parents. 
R: We will work closely with all stakeholders when considering transport and we will look at 

what worked well in other authorities. 
 
C: I have a daughter in Year 1 at St. Mary’s and every member of staff knows her name.  I am 

concerned this won’t be the case in such a big school. 
R: I would disagree.  The primary schools will have the same staff and there will always be a 

nurture element as part of a primary Catholic School.  I would be disappointed if the names 
of pupils were not known.  It may take a little longer but the same ethos would exist. It will 
be a larger primary phase, but staff will remain constant. 

 
Q: What size will the classes be? 
R: Class sizes will be similar to now as they are still governed by the same Welsh Government 

Regulations. 
 
Q: Will our pupils be mixed with pupils from other schools? 
R: When they are on one site, then they may be mixed across the primary phase.  The new 

headteacher will be appointed for September 2019 to look at this and to work across the 
sites to ensure children get to know each other. 

 
Q: So, St. Mary’s, St. Illtyd’s and St. Aloysius will all be together as a primary phase? 
R: Yes and there will be a 2.5 form entry from the primaries when the school is on one site. 
Q: Will current pupils be guaranteed a place? 
R: Yes. 
 
Q: If the Archdiocese can sustain numbers on current sites, why don’t you change it to a 

primary school? 
R: Across the three primary schools there is a high percentage of Catholic pupils and pupil 

projections will mean there will be a 2.5 form entry from the primaries.  The condition of the 
buildings is also a factor that has been taken into account. 

 
Q: How do you know a new 3-16 school will be successful? 
R: Currently there are thirteen 3-16 schools set up across Wales.  Five have been inspected and 

three are very similar set up and have been judged as good by Estyn. 
 
Q: Will you look at other 3-16 projects to ensure good practice is shared? 
R: Yes, we have thirteen case studies to use to ensure best practice is taken into account. 
 

Page 77



Page 52 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

Q: Will there be any disruptions to St. Margaret’s and St. Joseph’s and other feeder schools 
when they go into the 3-16 school at Year 7? 

R: The Archdiocese will ensure to work across all the feeder partner schools and the governing 
body and new headteacher will ensure transition arrangements are put in place to support 
pupils. 

 
Q: Will the name of the school be Bishop Hedley High School? 
R: The governing body will determine the school name. 
 
Q: When the 3-16 school is in one building, will there be any disruptions for our GCSE pupils 

etc?  What are the timescales for the new building? 
R: In 2019, one 3-16 but on the same sites, but when the new school is built all pupils would go 

into the new school at the same time, which will be at the start of an academic year. 
 
Q: In the new 3-16 school, will there be segregation of younger and older pupils? 
R: The 3-16 will be one building and with separate areas for key stages. 
 
Q: Is it a bit aspirational to have one headteacher from 2019 to run four sites.  Will there be a 

deputy headteacher on each site? 
R: The governing body will determine the staffing structure of the new 3-16 school. 
 
Q: So could we have a completely new headteacher from September 2019? 
R: The new headteacher post will be advertised nationally in line with regulations. 
 
Q: Will our teachers lose their jobs? 
R: It will be recommended that teaching staff posts will be ring-fenced. 
 
Q: You must have an idea on the sites for the new school? 
R: We are looking at a number of options, no decision has been made yet. 
 
Q: A new headteacher will be appointed in September 2019, we have three headteachers 

now.  So does this mean two headteachers will lose their jobs. 
R: HR will work with SLT staff when the staffing structure has been determined by the new 

governing body.   
 
Q: If the new headteacher is appointed for September 2019, when will the SLT be agreed?  
R: The temporary governing body will look at appointing the new headteacher and the new 

headteacher and governing body will determine the SLT structure. 
 
Q: Parents won’t have a relationship with the headteacher because the school will be too big.  

What if I want to see the headteacher and no-one else? 
R: The schools will have an appropriate structure in place and parents will have a point of 

contact.  The new governing body will decide the structure and this will be appropriate for a 
3-16 school. 

 
Q: Who will parents contact if there is an issue from September 2019?  
R: There will be a new headteacher from September 2019, and each site will still have a point 

of contact for parents. 
 
C: The new headteacher will need a visible presence across the sites. 

Page 78



Page 53 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: Yes, the new headteacher will be a key appointment and will work across all sites. 
 
Q: What will happen to our headteacher who already works across two schools? 
R: The temporary governing body will appoint a new headteacher and HR will work with the 

governing body on the staffing structure.  
 
Q: The proposal is 2019 one school, and then what date will the school be in the new 

building? 
R: The new build is planned to be ready for 2022-2023. 
 
Q: So the new headteacher will be in place long time, why appoint now and not in four years’ 

time? 
R: We want the new headteacher and all stakeholders to be involved in the planning of the 

new build and to be part of the process from the start. 
 
Q: Is there a ‘Plan B’ if this proposal does not go ahead? 
R: Council will make a decision on the proposal to create a single 3-16 school on one site and 

take into account all comments. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT:   Thirty-nine Members of Staff 
  

IN ATTENDANCE: Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Schools, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Glynis Estebanez (GE) – HR Department, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

4.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 

 

FEDERATION OF ST. MARY’S RC AND ST. ILLTYD’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOLS 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH STAFF 

Page 79



Page 54 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
Q: How successful have 3-16 schools been in other areas? 
R: There are thirteen 3-16 schools currently in place.  Five have been inspected, three were 

judged as good, two were judged as adequate.  You can visit ‘my local schools’ website for 
evidence of 3-16 schools.  

 
C: The pupil numbers in the document show the primary schools together are larger than the 

secondary school and the surplus capacity in the secondary school is 34%. 
 
Q: We have stable pupil numbers; will we be expected to reduce our numbers going 

forward? 
R: No, the school is its own Admissions Authority.  If the proposal is agreed this will be looked 

at in more detail.  
 
C: A new 3-16 school build would look to reduce surplus places but also plan for opportunity 

to grow. 
 
Q: I understand that numbers for primaries are more than secondary provision, with Brexit 

etc, pupil numbers may go down.  What will this mean as far as capacity for the new 
school? 

R: We will look at this in much more detail if approved.  I believe the new build will attract 
more pupils and the building will be a fit for purpose 21st century school to meet the 
demands of the new curriculum. 

 
Q: What will happen to staff? 
R: The recommendation is that staff positions are ring-fenced and teaching and non-teaching 

posts are offered to existing school staff in the first instance.  The new governing body will 
determine the new 3-16 staffing structure. 

 
Q: What about the SLT and the headteacher, deputies?  Is there a requirement for those 

applicants to be Catholic? 
R: The headteacher and deputy headteacher posts will be externally advertised and candidates 

Page 80



Page 55 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

will need to be practising Catholic in order to meet the job specification.  
 
C: Within the document there are a list of frequently asked questions and an outline of the 

professional timeline, if you have any questions, you can give them to the headteacher.  
 
C: We love our Catholic schools and this is a real shock to everyone.  The term of closure, 

detailed in the document, has caused a panic and we are worried about our schools. 
 
Q: The school budget is a massive factor and also the structure needs to be fair across the 

primary and secondary phase. 
R: The staffing structure will be determined by the new governing body and the new 

headteacher of the 3-16 school. 
 
Q: With 21st century schools and successful futures, it must be about retaining fantastic staff 

and currently staff do not feel secure in their posts. 
R: The LA and Archdiocese will work with the new governing body to ensure the new staffing 

structure is appropriate for a 3-16 school.  
 
Q: What if the proposal doesn’t go ahead?  What happens? 
R: Status quo and then we would look at our options again. 
 
Q: Why can’t we use the money for other ideas? 
R: The 3-16 proposal would provide a state-of-the-art building fit for purpose and aims to 

strengthen Catholic Provision across the Authority.  
  
C: There is definitely a need to invest in faith education.  If this goes ahead, it has to be fair 

to both sectors.  A 3-16 school gives an opportunity to build on excellence and to address 
the condition of the buildings which is a real issue.  This is an opportunity to have a 
flagship Catholic School in Merthyr.  The proposal is to create a 3-16 school which can 
deliver the new curriculum and promote Catholic Education. 

 
Q: Where will the 3-16 school be located?  
R: We are currently looking at various sites; no decision has been made. 
 
Q: If the proposal does not go ahead, what happens to the money? 
R: The money will go back to the Welsh Government. 
 
C: People are saying the school will be built on Goatmill Road, if this happens then pupils 

wouldn’t travel that far, they would go to other schools. 
R: The site has not been determined as yet.  Once decided the authority would look at 

transport in line with the council policy. 
 
Q: Is there a commitment from Merthyr and the Archdiocese to have a flexible approach to 

transport to support pupils or we will lose our pupils to other schools? 
R: Transport will form part of the consultation report and will also be looked at when deciding 

on the site. 
 
C: Parents have concerns about putting four year old pupils on a bus and so transitional 

arrangements need to be put in place. 
R: Yes, we would have to take this into account, when deciding on a new site. 

Page 81



Page 56 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
Q: If the proposal goes forward and pupil numbers decrease, what happens then? 
R: A new school usually attracts more pupils and the proposal is to strengthen Catholic 

Education. 
 
Q: Why can’t we have a 3-19 school and have our sixth form back? 
R: The proposal is for a 3-16 school to promote Faith Education. 
 
Q: Is there anything happening with other faith schools across the diocese? 
R: The Archdiocese will continue to look at schools across the diocese as part of its plan to 

strengthen and promote the Catholic ethos. 
 
C: Some authorities still have their sixth forms. 
R: Merthyr has already gone through a process and the sixth forms are already in the college.  

This is a proposal for a 3-16 Catholic school. 
 
Q: If the proposal goes ahead a new headteacher would be appointed in 2019, what happens 

to our headteacher? 
R: A temporary governing body will appoint a headteacher of the 3-16 school and then the 

staffing structure would be determined.  Schools would work with HR on the process. 
 
Q: As a school we have an excellent headteacher and worry about the lack of direction and 

what happens from September 2019? 
R: The appointment of the new headteacher is a key part of the process and the new 

headteacher will work across the four schools with the new governing body.  
 
C: This is about providing the best opportunity for the pupils and the Archdiocese and LA will 

work with the new governing body and headteacher. 
 
C: If nothing changes then the 2.5 form entry will mean there will be job losses. 
R: If the proposal is agreed the headteacher and governing body will determine the staffing 

structure.  HR will work with the new governing body to support the process.   
 
Q: What are the timescales for responding? 
R: Timescales are in the document, questionnaires need to be completed by 14th October.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



Page 57 of 90 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT:   Twenty-one Parents 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Education, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

5.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
C: Parents have not had a great experience of a 3-16 school in Ebbw Vale.  I am not 

 

BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH PARENTS 

Page 83



Page 58 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

convinced that a 3-16 school will work. 
R: Across Wales there are thirteen 3-16 schools and there are more in the planning.  Five have 

been inspected and information in relation to performance is available online.  
 
C: Our primary school in Tredegar has not been included and there are no dates to meet with 

them. 
R: As Chief Education Officer, I have no jurisdiction to go into other authorities.  The 

Archdiocese will be meeting with our out of county primary feeder schools.  
 
Q: Will our views count or has the decision already been made? 
R: All the comments will be included in the report and parents can go online or fill out the 

questionnaire. 
 
Q: If we say no to a 3-16, will the 3-16 school still go ahead? 
R: All comments will be received and included in the report. 
 
Q: Does the consultation document take on board capacity numbers for Merthyr and outside 

the Authority?  
R: Yes.  If the proposal goes ahead the school will be built big enough to house Merthyr schools 

and the feeder primary schools. 
 
Q: What is the capacity intake across all feeder schools for the new 3-16? 
R: There will be a 2.5 entry and a 4 form entry for the secondary sector.  
 
Q: Will all parents have a say? 
R: Yes, there will be meeting in all three schools and we will involve other feeder schools in the 

process and parents can fill out the questionnaire online or in the consultation document. 
 
C: This is a Catholic school and the spiritual aspect of education is very important.  How will 

you engage with the Parish who were responsible for establishing Catholic schools across 
Merthyr?  We need a discussion with parishioners and recognition that Catholic schools 
were built in our Parishes.  Parents choose to send pupils here, you have already closed 
our sixth form and now you want a 3-16 school.   

 
Our Catholic values are very important and I feel the LA doesn’t care about this and I feel 
passionate that Catholic Education needs to be protected.  

R: The proposal is to create a 3-16 school which will strengthen and promote Faith Education 
and at the same time it must also provide a good education for pupils. 

 
Q: Pupils leave our school at 16 and they are forced to go to sixth form provision outside 

Merthyr, why can’t we have a 3-19 school? 
R: The proposal is for a 3-16 school, the decision has already been made on sixth form.  
 
Q: If this doesn’t go ahead, can we have our sixth form back? 
R: Again, the decision on sixth form has been made.  The proposal is for a 3-16 school Catholic 

school. 
 
C: I support a 3-16 but we need to involve all heads from our feeder schools inside/outside 

of Merthyr.  There needs to be a true consultation of all parties. 
 

Page 84



Page 59 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

C: The 3-16 proposal has not been mentioned in church at all.  
R: The Archbishop will be asked to communicate with parishioners.  
  
Q: Why is the LA leading this? 
R: This proposal is supported by the Archdiocese and LA who have worked with governing 

bodies to put forward this as an option. 
 
Q: Why now? 
R: This is a result of informal discussions and the LA and Archdiocese have worked in 

partnership. 
Q: At St. Aloysius, there were issues around who was paying for repairs to the school field.  

Who is paying for the new school? 
R: School is funded via Welsh Government Grant and will cost approximately £27 million. 
 
Q: So why is the Council involved? 
R: Legally, it is the LA who closes a school and the Archdiocese opens a school and this is 

funded from Welsh Government. 
 
Q: How/when will funding be released?  
R: At this stage this is a proposal to create a 3-16 school, so this is not quantifiable until a 

decision has been made by Cabinet. 
 
Q: So what stage are we at with the business case for funding from the 21st century school 

programme? 
R: We are at the outline business case stage once this has been accepted and the site has been 

identified the business case has to be approved by Welsh Government. 
 
Q: When is the new school expected to be completed? 
R: it is estimated to be completed by 2022-2023. 
 
Q: What is the capital value of our land? 
R: This will be looked at as part of our discussions, some sites have a higher value and there 

will also be discussions on who owns the land (i.e. LA or Archdiocese) and this will be used 
towards the contribution to the £27 million building costs. 

 
Q: Does all the £27 million come from Welsh Government? 
R: No, 85% Welsh Government and 15% LA.   
 
Q: Catholic Education ends in year 11 and our pupils, can’t get into Cardinal Newman sixth 

form.  Why can’t we revisit the sixth form? 
R: The proposal is for a 3-16 Catholic school and not a 3-19 school. 
 
Q: Our standards must not suffer? 
R: The proposal is to strengthen Catholic Education in Merthyr and the 3-16 school will have an 

appropriate structure to deliver the best possible education. 
 
Q: At Bishop Hedley attainment is good and pastoral care is excellent.  My son has ALN and 

the new ALN Bill puts additional pressure on schools, how will the governing body 
maintain this in a 3-16 school? 

R: A 3-16 school offers continuity with no breaks for pupils at Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 so a 

Page 85



Page 60 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

continued support and the ALNCo will work across school. 
 
Q: Ok, but on a daily basis, how will this work to ensure pupils needs are met and pupils have 

the support? 
R: This will be addressed by the new headteacher and governing body and appropriate 

structures will be in place for a 3-16 school. 
 
C: ALN is managed better by some schools than others. 
R: A 3-16 school would have seamless transition and would aim to ensure every child is 

supported and nurtured.  
 
C: In a 3-16 school children will get lost, in our small schools everyone knows the pupils. 
R: The staff would remain and all three primaries together would be about the same size as a 

large primary school.  
 
Q: Where will it be built?  This very important, not everyone has a car.  Very concerned about 

this, we should know the site. 
R: This is a proposal and we are looking at sites.  No decision has been made yet and if it goes 

ahead we will consider all comments made and consult with parents. 
 
Q: So one headteacher and one governing body to determine the SLT structure of the school? 
R: Yes, the headteacher post will be a national advert and the staffing structure will be agreed 

by the new governing body. 
 
Q: Will there be any changes to staffing? 
R: The new governing body will decide the structure and the recommendation is that staffing is 

ring-fenced. 
 
Q: How will the new governing body be established? 
R: A temporary governing body initially and then one governing body with representatives 

from all sites from September 2019. 
 
Q: From parents’ point of view, this is an experiment and will impact on our Catholic schools. 
R: This proposal has come from a series of informal discussions and the proposal is now to 

create a 3-16 school and parents views/comments will be included in the report to Cabinet.  
 
Q: What if the proposal doesn’t go ahead? 
R: Then the status quo remains. 
 
Q: What if the capital investment is not agreed? 
R: We already have an outline approval from Welsh Government. 
 
Q: You have looked at six options (page one), advantages/disadvantages, why was this one 

picked? 
R: Following discussions a 3-16 single school was considered the right option to strengthen 

Catholic Provision. 
 

 

 
Page 86



Page 61 of 90 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT: School Council – Eleven pupils 

One Teacher 

IN ATTENDANCE: Sarah Bowen (SB) – Inclusion Manager, MTCBC  

Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

6.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
Introductions were made from Council Officers and the Archdiocese. 
 
SB outlined the proposal to discontinue St Aloysius, The Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and 
Bishop Hedley High Schools and to create a single 3-16 faith school.  The consultation process 
was explained and the timescales were noted. 
 
SB advised that the feedback from the meeting with pupils, parents, staff and governing bodies 
will be included in the report to Cabinet and a decision will be made on 21st November on 
whether to approve the proposal. 
 
SB went on to outline the reasons behind the proposal and explained that bringing the schools 
together would strengthen catholic provision and would enable all pupils to have a seamless 
transition from early years to GCSE. 
 
SB then explained if the proposal goes ahead a temporary governing body would be formed and 
they would appoint a new headteacher from September 2019.  The temporary governing body 
and headteacher would then determine the staffing structure for the new school.  
 
SB and BP then asked if there were any questions/comments from the School Council: 
 
Q: All the schools will close in August 2019, what will happen with the teachers?  
R: There will be the same number of pupils and so there would need to have the same number 

of staff. 
 
Q: Will the old primary school sites be knocked down? 

 

BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH SCHOOL COUNCIL 

Page 87



Page 62 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: There would be discussions with the LA and Archdiocese to determine what happens to the 
existing sites. 

 
Q: What is the process to follow to go into one building/school? 
R: If the proposal goes ahead and when the site is confirmed, the school would continue in 

their own sites until the new school build is ready. 
 
Q: Will all the primary schools and high school have the same uniform? 
R: Yes, probably, the new governing body would decide with the new headteacher and there 

would be a consultation with pupils. 
 
Q: Where will the new school be? 
R: The site for the new school has yet to been confirmed. 
 
Q: So all primary schools and high school in Merthyr will be one school, what about the 

pupils from Tredegar and Aberdare? 
R: The admissions process is managed by the school so the same arrangements would continue 

with pupils from all feeder school and it is possible that a new school could attract more 
pupils. 

 
Q: What are the plans to section school for primary and secondary pupils? 
R: A 3-16 school will have different phases set up.  This will be agreed in the design stage to 

cater for all needs and this could include opportunities for high school pupils to have 
experience in the primary phase for e.g. teaching, childcare. 

 
Q: Will there be more job opportunities for staff than if the schools remain separate? 
R: I can’t answer that at this stage, the structure will need to be agreed by the new governing 

body.  There maybe new opportunities for staff to support transition from key stage 2/key 
stage 3. 

 
Q: In the new school will we be sharing equipment and how will this be safe? 
R: The new school will have distinct phases which will be age appropriate but pupils may share 

the library area, this will be timetabled and risk assessed.  
 
Q: How would you separate the students in a 3-16 school? 
R: In the new school there will be a four form entry for the high school and 2.5 form entry for 

the primary.  The school would remain on separate sites initially until the new school is built. 
 
Q: Do you think a 3-16 school will impact on Year 7 pupils? 
R: No, I don’t think there will be an issue, it will just allow transition to be seamless. 
 
Q: How many 3-16 schools are there at the moment? 
R: Thirteen across Wales, there are thirteen 3-16 schools, however there are a lot more in the 

pipeline. There is also common practice abroad.  
 
Q: Where does the money come from for the new school? 
R: It is estimated the new school will cost £27 million and this will be funded mainly from 

Welsh Government. 
 
Q: Will there be a timetable for the shared facilities? 

Page 88



Page 63 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: Yes, there will be separate areas/phases and a timetable. 
 
Q: Will there be savings to run one school? 
R: Funding would be allocated for a 3-16 school and the governing body would determine the 

staffing structure. 
 
Q: What date will the new school be built? 
R: Hopefully building will start in 2022.  The existing schools will close in 2019 and become one 

school but remain in their separate sites until the new build was ready. 
 
Q: Will the build happen over the six-week period? 
R: Schools would continue on their own sites until the new school is built.  Pupils would move 

into the new school at the start of an academic year. 
 
Q: Will there be less student/teacher time? 
R: The same structure would be in place to support pupils and there will be different phases 

across the school. 
 
Q: Would GCSE lessons be taught by primary teachers or non-specialist teachers? 
R: Within a 3-16 school there will be opportunities for staff to learn and share good practice 

i.e. Year 5-Year 8, there is opportunity for a continuum of education.  In Year 6, there is 
sometimes repetition currently and a 3-16 school could help to alleviate this and also 
subjects such as Music, Welsh could be taught at a younger age. 

 
Q: Who will be the headteacher of the new 3-16 school? 
R: The new governing body would appoint a headteacher for the new 3-16 school. 
 
Q: What is the estimated pupil numbers for the 3-16 school? 
R: The current numbers on roll are in the consultation document (page 12) together with 

projections up to 2022-2023.  It is estimated there will be 1200 pupil on role in the new 
school. 

 
Q: Will pupils have to re-apply for a place in the new school? 
R: No, pupils already in school will have a place.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 89



Page 64 of 90 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT: School Council – Ten pupils 

One Teacher 

IN ATTENDANCE: Sarah Bowen (SB) – Inclusion Manager, MTCBC  

Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

7.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
Introductions were made from Council Officers and the Archdiocese. 
 
SB outlined the proposal to discontinue St Aloysius, The Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and 
Bishop Hedley High Schools and to create a single 3-16 faith school.  The consultation process 
was explained and the timescales were noted. 
 
SB advised that the feedback from the meeting with pupils, parents, staff and governing bodies 
will be included in the report to Cabinet and a decision will be made on 21st November on 
whether to approve the proposal. 
 
SB went on to outline the reasons behind the proposal and explained that bringing the schools 
together would strengthen catholic provision and to enable all pupils to have a seamless 
transition from early years to GCSE. 
 
SB then explained if the proposal goes ahead a temporary governing body would be formed and 
they would appoint a new headteacher from September 2019.  The temporary governing body 
and headteacher would then determine the staffing structure for the new school.  
 
SB and BP then asked if there were any questions/comments from the School Council: 
 
Q: Do all schools agree on what’s happening?  
R: There are lots of viewpoints and this is currently out for discussion with pupils, parents, staff 

and governing bodies. 
 
Q: What will happen with our current school? 

 

ST. ALOYSIUS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH SCHOOL COUNCIL 

Page 90



Page 65 of 90 
 

Angry Sad 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: The schools will close and a new school will be built for all pupils.  There will be a new state 
of the art school that is fit for purpose. 

 
Q: So will the schools get knocked down? 
R: This has not been decided, but there would be discussions and plans made for each of the 

four sites if the new school goes ahead. 
 
Q: How do you feel about this happening? 
R: The idea is to ensure the best provision for faith pupils across the borough and for improved 

transition between key stages.  
Q: Will our school lose popularity?  Our school is in walking distance and moving the school 

will mean parents may look elsewhere. 
R: We are hoping the opposite and that a new school would attract more pupils.  Also the 

Authority would look at transport for pupils depending on where the school is built. 
 
Q: Why are you going to shut all our schools? 
R: Part of the Archdiocese/Local Authority’s work is to look at schools to ensure they are fit for 

purpose.  The schools require a lot of maintenance/repairs and so it might be better to build 
a new one and then decide what happens to the other buildings, which are very old. 

 
Q: Will the teachers be guaranteed their jobs? 
R: We don’t know the structure of the new school yet; this will be agreed with the new 

governing body. 
 
Q: Where will the new school be? 
R: We don’t know the site at this stage. 
 
Q: What will the new school be called? 
R: We don’t know yet, there will be a consultation and this will be decided by the new 

governing body. 
 
Q: What will the uniform look like? 
R: Again, there will be consultation and this will be decided by the new governing body. 
 
Q: Will all classes be mixed from our school and other primaries? 
R: The classes may change however there will be transition meetings to ensure pupils are with 

some of their friends. 
 
Q: Will the high school and primary school mix together in the new school? 
R: No, a 3-16 is usually organised in phases, so similar to what you have now i.e. foundation 

phase, key stage 2, key stage 3/4 etc.  You may find there are opportunities to have access 
to shared areas, for example the library/chapel etc. 

 
Q: What will happen to this school, will it be a park? 
R: The new site has not been decided, there will be lots of discussions to plan what happens 

with the existing schools. 
 
C: Pupils shared their feelings with the following mind map: 
 
 

Page 91



Page 66 of 90 
 

Scared 

Nervous 

Annoyed 
Happy 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
R: Some of these feelings you may have, when changing classes or going to high school and 

having one through school may help with this. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT: School Council – Ten pupils 

One Teacher 

IN ATTENDANCE: Sarah Bowen (SB) – Inclusion Manager, MTCBC  

Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

8.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
Introductions were made from Council Officers and the Archdiocese. 
 
SB outlined the proposal to discontinue St Aloysius, The Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and 
Bishop Hedley High Schools and to create a single 3-16 faith school.  The consultation process 
was explained and the timescales were noted. 
 
SB advised that the feedback from the meeting with pupils, parents, staff and governing bodies 
will be included in the report to Cabinet and a decision will be made on 21st November on 
whether to approve the proposal. 
 
SB went on to outline the reasons behind the proposal and explained that bringing the schools 
together would strengthen catholic provision and to enable all pupils to have a seamless 
transition from early years to GCSE. 
 
SB then explained if the proposal goes ahead a temporary governing body would be formed and 
they would appoint a new headteacher from September 2019.  The temporary governing body 

Our Feelings 

 

ST. ILLTYD’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH SCHOOL COUNCIL 

Page 92



Page 67 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

and headteacher would then determine the staffing structure for the new school.  
 
SB and BP then asked if there were any questions/comments from the School Council: 
 
Q: Where will the new school be built and will there be a chapel on site?  
R: We don’t know where the school will be, but there will definitely be a chapel/worship 

centre in the new build to allow everyone to come together to worship.  
 
Q: What will happen to our classes when the three primary schools sites come together? 
R: The plan is to have a 2.5 entry from the primary schools and a four form entry from the 

secondary school.  Schools will consider friendship groups when deciding the classes. 
 
Q: What will happen with our school? 
R: This has not been decided as yet, this will be looked at if the proposal goes ahead. 
 
Q: Will this affect our catholic community? 
R: No, this is the reason we are suggesting a 3-16 school to promote faith education and bring 

parishes together, hopefully this will strengthen our Catholic Faith Provision. 
Q: Would we have dinner cards like Bishop Hedley? 
R: For the primary phase the current arrangements would probably continue. 
 
Q: What is the point of a 3-16 school? 
R: A new building with state of the art facilities to deliver the new curriculum i.e. shared sports 

areas, science labs etc. 
 
Q: Will there be more classes will be in the new school? 
R: Yes, because three primary sites will come together and there will be some opportunities to 

share labs, sports areas, which will all be timetabled. 
 
Q: Would be have the same uniforms? 
R: The plan would be to have the same uniform initially and then the governing body would 

consult with pupils on a new uniform. 
 
Q: Who will be the new headteacher? 
R: If agreed we would advertise for one headteacher to oversee the whole 3-16 school. 
 
Q: Would there be two separate yards? 
R: Yes definitely, within the school design there would be distinct areas and timetabled use of 

shared areas. 
 
Q: What will be the PE timetable for the new school? 
R: When the new school is built PE would be timetabled for both the primary and secondary 

phase. 
 
Q: Will there be a football pitch? 
R: This will be looked at during the design of the new school. 
 
Q: What if the school is too far away from home? 
R: We don’t know where the new build will be, it would be somewhere in Merthyr and 

transport would be provided in line with the LA policy. 

Page 93



Page 68 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
Q: Will all teachers go to the new school? 
R: The plan is to continue with the same teachers, but there could be changes.  The new 

headteacher would look at the staffing structure. 
 
Q: Would classes be bigger?   
R: No class sizes for primary pupils will be the same. 
 
Q: Will the primary and secondary pupils finish school the same time? 
R: The times of school would be determined by the new governing body and may be slightly 

different. 
 
Q: How many floors would be in the new school? 
R: The design has not been decided as yet. 
 
Q: Would there be lifts for disabled pupils? 
R: Yes, this would be included in the new building. 
 
Q: What will happen to this school? 
R: We are not sure, if this goes ahead there will be further discussions on the existing sites. 
 
Q: Would there still be a school council? 
R: Yes, the School Council will continue in the new school. 
 
Q: How big will the new school be? 
R: Difficult to say, at least two floors – similar size to Cyfarthfa High School who has similar 

pupil numbers. 
 
Q: Will we have different yards? 
R: This will be determined when designing the new school. 
 
Q: Will they knock St Illtyd’s down? 
R: The four school sites will stay open until the new school is built. 
 
Q: Would we have Chrome books/IPads in our new school? 
R: Yes, IT would remain a priority of the new school. 
 
Q: Would we have a school bus? 
R: School transport will be provided depending on where you live. 
 
Q: Will we have two entrances for primary and secondary pupils? 
R: There will be distinct phases and this will be considered when the new school is being 

designed. 
 
Q: Will we have a new school logo? 
R: If the proposal goes ahead, the new governing body and headteacher would consider the 

school logo. 
 

 

 Page 94



Page 69 of 90 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT:   School Council – Twelve pupils 

IN ATTENDANCE: Sarah Bowen (SB) – Inclusion Manager, MTCBC  

Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

9.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
Introductions were made from Council Officers and the Archdiocese. 
 
SB outlined the proposal to discontinue St Aloysius, The Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and 
Bishop Hedley High Schools and to create a single 3-16 faith school.  The consultation process 
was explained and the timescales were noted. 
 
SB advised that the feedback from the meeting with pupils, parents, staff and governing bodies 
will be included in the report to Cabinet and a decision will be made on 21st November on 
whether to approve the proposal. 
 
SB went on to outline the reasons behind the proposal and explained that bringing the schools 
together would strengthen catholic provision and to enable all pupils to have a seamless 
transition from early years to GCSE. 
 
SB then explained if the proposal goes ahead a temporary governing body would be formed and 
they would appoint a new headteacher from September 2019.  The temporary governing body 
and headteacher would then determine the staffing structure for the new school.  
 
SB and BP then asked if there were any questions/comments from the School Council: 
 
Q: Our school is a Gold Rights Respecting School; if we have a new school will that be taken 

away?  
R: No not at all, you will still have this and you will also have the opportunity for St. Mary’s to 

share this good practice across the new school. 

 

ST. MARY’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH SCHOOL COUNCIL 

Page 95



Page 70 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
Q: When the new school is built, who will be the new headteacher? 
R: There will be a new governing body and they will appoint a new headteacher and the post 

will be advertised externally. 
 
Q: Would we need new teachers or would our teachers move to the new school? 
R: There would be a new staffing structure and a recommendation that staffing is ring-fenced. 
 
Q: What if the new school is further away than our school? 
R: Depending on where the site is, there could be buses and this would be discussed fully when 

the site is agreed. 
 
Q: If the new school is built, will the college join? 
R: No, this is a 3-16 school but links will continue with the college for sixth form. 
 
Q: If our school closes, how long will it take to build a new one? 
R: The schools would remain on their sites until the new build is ready.  Timescales would be 

agreed to build the new school and the build/design will be discussed with all parties. 
 
Q: Would pupils still be with their friends? 
R: Yes, friendship groups would be considered when pupils move into the new school. 
 
Q: Will this effect pupils sitting their GCSEs? 
R: No, schools will continue, teachers would continue to teach as normal until the new school 

was built, pupils would not move until the start of the academic year. 
 
Q: If majority didn’t want to move schools, what would happen? 
R: We would hope pupils would go to the new school; however parents have a right to choose. 
 
Q: If we get a new school, how will we know where to go? 
R: School will have separate phases and this would be reflected in the design and be 

appropriate to the ages of pupils. 
 
Q: Will we still have cards for dinner in Year 7? 
R: Yes, this will continue in the new school. 
 
Q: Will we still have one class or move around the school? 
R: This might change, there are more opportunities for specialist teachers i.e. welsh lessons, 

music lessons etc. 
 
Q: Will there be three year olds walking around school? 
R: No, this would not happen, separate phases for key stages would be in place.  Some pupils 

could share assemblies; this would be decided by the new headteacher. 
 
Q: How much will the new school cost? 
R: £27 million is allocated for the new build. 
 
Q: How big will it be? 
R: Quite big, a similar size to Cyfarthfa High School. 
 

Page 96



Page 71 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

Q: Who came up with the idea? 
R: The Archdiocese and Local Authority have been talking about this for a while and have 

worked with the governing bodies. 
 
Q: Will our Year 6 teacher still teach Year 6? 
R: The new governing body will determine the staffing structure and teachers could move 

around the school. 
 
Q: Would primary pupils be mixed with the high schools pupils? 
R: No, there would be distinct phases throughout the school. 
 
Q: Will our school be the same as the 3-16 in Aberdare? 
R: Not exactly the same, this decision will be determined with the new headteacher and 

governing body. 
 
Q: Will we have a sports hall and a lunch hall? 
R: Again, this will be determined in the design of the new school. 
 
Q: Will we have a new uniform? 
R: Yes, possibly, this will be decided by the governing body and pupils will be consulted with. 
 
Q: What if the new school is further away? 
R: The site for the new school has yet to be agreed and the LA would look at transport in line 

with their policy. 
 
Q: If we had gym, would everyone have PE together? 
R: PE would be timetabled across phases. 
 
Q: How long until the new school will be built? 
R: If this goes ahead, hopefully building will start in four years. 
 
Q: Can we pick army stuff? 
R: No, there will be a school uniform. 
 
Q: Can we build a primary and secondary school? 
R: We have looked at a number of options and this option was agreed as the best option. 
 
Q: £27 million, are we expected to fundraise? 
R: No, this is a grant from Welsh Government. 
 
C: We have an idea for the new badge, include all four badges on the one badge. 
R: Pupils will be part of a consultation when the governing body consider the new uniform. 
 
Q: If we have a new school would we still have Year 6 leaving assemblies and secondary 

celebrations? 
R: Yes, celebrations will still be held to mark the end of each phase. 
 

 

 

Page 97



Page 72 of 90 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT:   Twenty Members of Staff 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Education, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Donna Perry (DP) – HR Department, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

10.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 

 

ST. ALOYSIUS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH STAFF 

Page 98



Page 73 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
Q: Across the four sites there are four cooks, will there be staffing reductions when we 

become one school? 
R: In September 2019, the four sites will remain and then moving forward the staffing will be 

considered with LA officers. 
 
Q: If pupil numbers fall what will happen then? 
R: Staff will be ring-fenced an then as we create a new school, the staffing structure will be 

determined by the new governing body. 
 
Q: What if pupil numbers fall and there are too many staff in the 3-16 school?  
R: The governing body and headteacher will consider staffing and pupil numbers annually as 

part of their budget setting process and make decisions accordingly. 
 
Q: Staff have worked here for many years and have mortgages, when will we know if there 

are going to be staff losses? 
R: Initially there will be no change to staffing and when the new governing body is established 

they will look at staffing to reflect a 3-16 school moving towards a school on one site. 
 
Q: Will we have to apply for our own jobs? 
R: No existing staff will be slotted into the structure any new posts would need to be applied 

for, this process will be supported by HR. 
 
Q: Where is the evidence to support a 3-16 school? 
R: There is information on ‘My Local School’ which shows data across the thirteen schools in 

Wales, five have been inspected and three are doing particularly well. 
 
Q: This proposal could mean that staff will apply to leave the Catholic setting, which will be a 

real shame and a great loss to our pupils and this may result in a lack of continuity. 
R: Experience from a nearby LA would suggest pupil numbers stayed the same, some staff 

changed but the majority of staff remained.  
 
Q: Will St. Mary’s and St. Joseph’s still join at Year 7? 
R: Yes, this will remain the same. 
 
Q: Who was consulted in Archdiocese on this? 
R: Informal meetings across all RC schools to look at different options. 
 
Q: What about consulting with the Parish? 
R: There will be discussions; the Archbishop to agree on how to liaise with parishioners. 
  
Q: How long do we have to respond? 
R: Questionnaires need to be completed by 14th October 2018. 
 
Q: How will schools outside the Merthyr area be consulted with? 
R: There will be meetings arranged with the headteachers of the feeder schools outside the LA. 
 
Q: Have you visited a 3-16 school? 

Page 99



Page 74 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: Yes, we have had an opportunity to visit 3-16 schools and there are thirteen across Wales. 
 
C: Our school is very special and we want to remain this in our local community. 
 
Q: Why can’t we have the money to refurbish our school? 
R: The money is from Welsh Government as part of the 21st century schools programme and 

the criteria is to fund new school builds. 
 
C: Our school is in a challenging area and is a place of safety; we want to keep this in our 

local community. 
R: The site for the new school has not yet been decided but there would be consultation. 
 
C: I chose St. Aloysius because of its size and there it is and it’s a very special school.  We 

have already had a massive change losing our sixth form and I think this will go ahead 
anyway regardless what we say.  The primary sector phase will be a similar size to other 
large primary schools in Merthyr. 

R: We have held meetings across the three schools with parents, staff, pupils and governors 
and held open and frank discussions about the proposal.  All questions/comments will be 
included in the consultation document. 

 
Q: There are six options in the document.  What process was used to get to the option in 

front of us today? 
R: We held informal meetings and looked at the disadvantages/advantages and agreed to put 

this option forward. 
 
Q: If the proposal goes ahead on a site to be determined, how will our children get to new 

the school? 
R: Transport has been brought up in previous meetings and we will look at the transport routes 

when deciding the site and identifying a range of opportunities for children to be able to 
access the new school.  

 
Q: So, if the school is two miles away will they have a bus? 
R: Pupils will have transport in line with the Schools Transport Policy. 
 
C: You must have looked at locations and know where the school will be built. 
R: Yes, there have been discussions over the last eighteen months and some sites have been 

looked at.  However, there is no preferred site at this stage, once a decision has been made 
on the proposal further discussions and feasibility studies will be arranged. 

 
C: Even if primary pupils get to schools two miles away what if they become ill during the 

day or how will they attend after school clubs/breakfast clubs? 
 
Q: This decision on the site will affect timelines and will impact on parental choice; we will 

know the site so we can make a decision.  
R: If the proposal goes ahead we will have a decision in January 2019.   
 
Q: In September 2019, one headteacher will be appointed, what about our current 

headteachers? 
R: The new 3-16 school will have a new staffing structure and the LA and Archdiocese will work 

with the temporary governing body to decide on the structure to reflect the new school. 

Page 100



Page 75 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
C: You are asking us to make a decision but there are so many ‘ifs’ and ‘buts’. 
R: We cannot give definite answers this is a proposal to go out to statutory notice. 
 
Q: I am sure this will go ahead, there is no doubt in my mind, but will you consult with 

parents on site? 
R: Yes, we would have to engage with the community and work with all parties to move 

forward with the 3-16 school. 
 
Q: What will happen if pupils decide to go elsewhere? 
R: Catholic schools have their own admissions policy and this would continue and pupils have 

the right to choose the school. 
 
Q: From September 2019, will there be changes to staffing and would new staff be appointed 

on permanent contracts? 
R: We are recommending staffing is ring-fenced and any new contracts would be on a 

temporary/fixed term contract until the new school is built. 
 
Q: Will current staff be safeguarded with their current jobs? 
R: It is recommended that staff are ring-fenced and then the headteacher and new governing 

body would look at staffing structure. 
 
Q: Will we keep our separate identities from 2019 or will there be changes to uniform? 
R: This will be decided by the new governing body and the new headteacher. 
 
Q: So when the 3-16 school is built, we will be on one site for primary and secondary but in 

separate phases? 
R: Yes, one building but the 3-16 will have areas for key phases.  
  
Q: So this is the same as we are now then? 
R: No, there will be one building but separate areas for key phases. 
 
C: The site is a major factor and it is difficult to sell this to parents when we don’t know 

where the school will be built. 
R: The staffing will be constant for the new school and the good work will continue as soon as 

a decision is made on the proposal the site will be taken forward. 
 
Q: Are staff guaranteed their jobs in 2019? 
R: For September 2019, schools will remain on their sites, we are not expecting any changes 

when the new school is built.  The staffing structure will be determined by the new 
governing body. 

 
Q: Will the same staff be there in 2022? 
R: The aim is to retain staff however the new governing body will determine a staffing 

structure fit for a 3-16 school. 
 
Q: So what about catering staff, there are four cooks? 
R: This will be considered when the new school is built by LA officers. 
 
Q: Is this the same for caretakers because there are caretakers on each site? 

Page 101



Page 76 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: In 2019, if goes ahead continue with same number of caretakers and then this will be looked 
at going forward by the governing body. 

 
Q: Will staffing change? 
R: As with all schools, pupil numbers will impact on funding and governing bodies have to 

make decisions if pupil numbers change. 
 
C: I think the proposal will cause a real dip in pupil numbers, parents have already said they 

will not send their children to a 3-16 school. 
R: St. Aloysius is a good school and parents chose a Faith Education we will engage with 

parents if the proposal goes ahead and ensure communication is strong. 
 
Q: What about transport if the site is less than two miles away? 
R: There will be a discussion on when looking at sites and this will go out for consultation 

under the LA policy. 
Q: This has to be right because our pupils will not have a second chance.  How many faith 3-

16 are there? 
R: There are thirteen 3-16 schools in Wales and more in the pipeline and 5 have been 

inspected.  Information can be found online in relation to school performance. 
 
C: We are jumping into the unknown; there is no evidence that a 3-16 Catholic School will 

work? 
R: This is an opportunity to have a new although 3-16 faith school which will strengthen the 

faith provision across the authority.   
 
C: What is the new 3-16 school going to offer that we haven’t got now, you said we would 

have a chapel but we already have a church on our doorstep. 
R: There will be opportunity of a brand new facility with an opportunity to share expertise and 

to have seamless transition and to strengthen Catholic Provision. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT: Mr J Caple 

Mrs M Davies 

Father C Hancock 

Mr T Foley 

Mr M Tiani-Tanzi 

Mr J Agar 

Mrs S Hopkins 

 

BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH GOVERNORS 

Page 102



Page 77 of 90 
 

Dr B Timothy-Webber 

Mrs R Moran  

 

IN ATTENDANCE: Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Education, Archdiocese  

Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

Mrs N James (NJ) – Clerk to the Governors, Bishop Hedley 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

11.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
C: We are in favour of a new 3-16 school, but we have concerns about the process and the 

standards/outcomes of the schools going forward with one headteacher over the three 
schools and one governing body.  

R: There would be one governing body and one Headteacher from September 2019.  We 
already have a federation of Catholic schools (St. Mary’s and St. Illtyd’s) with one governing 
body and one headteacher over two sites.  The Archdiocese and LA would work with the 
schools to establish a larger governing body with representation across the schools and 
raising standards would continue to be a priority. 

 
Q: What will the size of the new governing body be? 

Page 103



Page 78 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: With schools over six hundred pupils, schools can opt for the larger size governing body 
which includes twelve foundation governors. 

 
Q: What will the impact be on the schools SLT and one headteacher running four sites? 
R: The governing body will continue to have a role to monitor standards and the LA and 

Challenge Adviser would also support the school. 
 
Q: Can we delay the appointment of a headteacher until the new school is built and use a 

committee and the same management structure?  
R: If the proposal goes ahead, no, there is a statutory requirement to establish a new 

governing body.  The interim governing body would appoint a new headteacher to start in 
September 2019 or as soon as possible after that.  The new headteacher would be involved 
in the school from the start. 

 
C: In Wrexham when two primaries and one secondary school came together the 

headteacher was appointed after the school was built, so there are alternatives. 
R: We have looked at the model from other LAs and believe the headteacher needs to be in 

place for September 2019 to oversee the project. 
 
C: The proposal is to consult on creating a 3-16 single Catholic school so if you have any 

comments you can complete the questionnaire online or in the document and this will be 
included in the consultation report for members. 

 
Q: There is a fear that not many people are in favour of this proposal and the timescales are 

very tight, what if on-one applies for the headteacher post? 
R: Timescales are tight but manageable and the Archdiocese and LA will work closely with the 

schools.  A temporary governing body would be established to start the process to appoint a 
headteacher in March 2019; if necessary the governing body could go back out to advert if 
there were no suitable applicants first time. 

 
Q: What happens to the existing headteachers from September 2019, once a new 

headteacher is appointed to the new 3-16 school? 
R: During the consultation period, HR would work closely with the schools and trade unions on 

the staffing structure.  If the headteacher appointment was left for two years then the 
governors could still have an issue appointing a headteacher and my feeling is that there are 
suitable candidates out there. 

 
Q: So a new headteacher would be appointed for September 2019, when the new school 

build is going ahead and the governing body will determine the new staffing structure? 
R: Yes, that is the proposal. 
 
Q: Again, we don’t oppose the 3-16 school but question whether or not timescales are 

reasonable? 
R: The Archdiocese and LA will work with the temporary governing body to ensure timescales 

are met and governors will be asked for expressions of interest to be part of the new 
governing body. 

 
C: You will be taking out a layer of the structure by losing the headteachers from the current 

schools. 
R: The governing body and headteacher will determine an appropriate 3-16 staffing structure. 

Page 104



Page 79 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
Q: What guarantees can you give that standards will not drop in any of our schools?  
R: The governing body will be in place in September 2019 and the Archdiocese and LA will work 

closely with the school to monitor standards. 
 
C: Other Parishes/feeder schools are not mentioned in the document. 
R: Initially, stakeholder meetings are planned across the LA and then the Archdiocese will meet 

with the headteacher of the feeder primaries outside the authority.  The Archbishop will be 
asked to liaise with the Parishes on the proposal.   

 
Q: There has been a lot of work recently on transition with all our feeder primaries; we need 

to be careful we don’t lose pupils due to the new school and new site. 
R: This is a way to strengthen Catholic Education and there is a duty for each Parish to continue 

to promote Catholic Education. With a newly built school we usually see an increase in pupil 
numbers. 

 
Q: How will the new headteacher be funded and who will be the new headteacher? 
R: The headteacher post will be funded via the schools budget and the post will be externally 

advertised. 
 
C: We cannot afford to sustain a headteacher post from our existing budget. 
R: The school will have a new 3-16 budget and the LA will provide a revised formula allocation 

for the school. 
 
Q: What are the possible sites for the new school, because this will have an impact on our 

nursery parents? 
R: There are a number of sites being discussed but no site has been determined. 
 
C: I think this is a weakness to the proposal and will be a huge impact for parents. 
R: If the proposal is accepted the site will be determined and form part of a consultation 

process. 
 
Q: If all goes to plan when will the new school be constructed? 
R: The plan is to have the new school for 2022/2023. 
 
Q: What are the financial savings and where will the savings go? 
R: There would be a revised formula funding model for the new school and any savings would 

go to the school. 
 
Q: Who benefits from the sale of this site? 
R: The ownership of the land and the school building footprints is complex and will form part 

of the discussions with the Archdiocese and the LA. 
C: The Archdiocese doesn’t have a great deal of money so any assets we have would be part 

of our discussions and will possibly go towards the 15% contribution to the new build. 
 
Q: So the main savings will be from assets rather than staffing? 
R: Yes and savings will also come from repair maintenance costs to existing sites. 
 
Q: The new curriculum preparation is well underway, how will this proposal impact on the 

curriculum? 

Page 105



Page 80 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

R: A 3-16 all through school will support the new curriculum. 
 
Q: How can we ensure staff don’t leave for other jobs? 
R: When the headteacher and governing body are in place they will work on the new staffing 

structure to develop roles and the SLT. 
 
Q: Could the Archdiocese and LA discuss/share experiences with other LAs who have 3-16 

schools? 
R: There has already been discussions with colleagues across other LAs. 
 
Q: What happens now?  How will we be kept updated? 
R: The timescales are in the document and the closing date for questionnaires on the proposal 

is 14th October 2018. 
 
C: We need information on the proposal to be shared with our parishes. 
R: Yes, this will be taken back to the Archbishop for agreement, how this will be 

communicated. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT:   37 Members of Staff 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Brett Pugh (BP) – Chair of Diocesan Schools Commission, Archdiocese 

Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Education, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Donna Perry (DP) – HR Department, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

12.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 

 

BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH STAFF 

Page 106



Page 81 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
C: As a Chair of a feeder school outside Merthyr, I have a massive concern that pupils will 

not continue to come to the 3-16 school.  As a Catholic community we have already been 
let down in relation to sixth form and now we are going through another process.  The 
consultation hasn’t engaged with our feeder schools outside Merthyr. 

R: The consultation document is available online and the Archdiocese are planning meetings 
after this week with feeder Catholic schools outside Merthyr. 

 
Q: So staff will be ring-fenced in the new school? 
R: Yes, it will be recommended staff are ring-fenced and the LA and Archdiocese will work with 

the new governing body on the staffing structure. 
 
Q: So there will be a new headteacher of the 3-16 school and three headteachers slotted in? 
R: No, the new headteacher will be appointed and the governing body will then determine the 

staffing structure and the SLT with the support of HR. 
 
Q: What about consulting with the Parish? 
R: Yes, we will speak with the Archbishop regarding consulting with the Parish. 
 
Q: Where are there examples of best practice of 3-16 schools? 
R: Across Wales there are currently thirteen 3-16 schools and information on their 

performance and Estyn Reports can be found online ‘My Local Schools’.  Five have been 
inspected and two schools were judged as ‘adequate’ and three were judged as ‘good’. 

  
Q: Who makes the final decision? 
R: Council will decide whether to go to statutory notice, following this time Council will make 

the final decision. 
 
Q: So to be clear, there are not expected to be any job losses? 
R: We are recommending teaching and non-teaching staff are ring-fenced.  The new staffing 

structure will be determined by the new governing body and will be appropriate for a 3-16 
school.   

 

Page 107



Page 82 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

C: The new governing body’s first job will be to appoint the headteacher for September 
2019. 

R: Yes and then the governing body and headteacher will determine the staffing structure.  
There will be an interim governing body from January, they will appoint the headteacher for 
September.  

 
Q: Will we have to re-apply for our jobs? 
R: No, there will be a slotting process, which will be supported by HR. 
 
Q: Will the staffing structure be suitable to deliver the new curriculum? 
R: Yes, the 3-16 structure would be fit for purpose to deliver the new curriculum.  
 
Q: So September 2019 there would still be four sites?  Would someone be in charge of 

science over the sites? 
R: This would depend on the new headteacher and governing body, however a 3-16 would 

allow for specialism across the school. 
 
Q: What will the new school be called? 
R: This will be determined by the governing body. 
 
Q: When will the new governing body be formed? 
R: We will ask for expressions of interest if the proposal is agreed and the new governing body 

will have representations from the three schools. 
 
Q: Will our feeder partner schools from outside Merthyr be on the governing body? 
R: Expressions of interest will be gathered and the foundation governors will be appointed via 

the Archdiocese. 
Q: So will there be a new structure from September 2019. 
R: From September 2019, there will be a new headteacher who will work with the governing 

body to determine an appropriate 3-16 structure. 
 
Q: Will there be extra funding for the headteacher to logistically manage the four sites and 

continue to raise standards? 
R: The funding will be for a 3-16 school, no additional funding, however the LA will look at split 

site allowances. 
 
Q: Will school transport continue and have buses for primary school pupils been costed? 
R: Transport will be looked at in more detail if the proposal goes ahead. 
 
Q: Our standards are very important and how will you ensure standards continue to 

improve? 
R: The proposal is to strengthen the Catholic education system with an all-through school and 

the new governing body will continue to monitor standards going forward.  
 
C: I would like Bishop Hedley to retain as the name for the new 3-16 school because of the 

relevance of this to the Parish. 
R: The new governing body would determine the school name and there would be a 

consultation with schools. 
 

 
Page 108



Page 83 of 90 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT: Mrs T Jenkins 

Mrs S Williams 

Mrs E Davies 

Mrs K Lewis 

Mr P Strand 

Father C Hancock 

Mrs S Price 

Mr R Davies  

IN ATTENDANCE: Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Schools, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

13.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 

 

ST. ALOYSIUS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH GOVERNORS 

Page 109



Page 84 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
C: At last night’s meeting a few points were raised about the new governing body process, 

can you explain how this will be set up? 
R: Yes, if the proposal goes ahead, a temporary governing body will be set-up, we would look 

to establish a temporary governing body to appoint the new headteacher once the school 
opens. In September 2019 a governing body would be appointed to work with the 
headteacher on the staffing structure for the 3-16 school. 

 
Q: Will a permanent governing body will be established when the school is built. 
R: One governing body would exist from September 2019, when the new school opens. 
 
Q: So will the existing governing body run alongside the temporary governing body. 
R: Yes, existing governing bodies continue until 31st August and we will ensure representatives 

from all schools are on the temporary governing body. 
 
Q: The headteacher will be appointed for September 2019? 
R: Yes. 
 
C: The new headteacher cost will impact on our budgets. 
R: We will look at budgets going forward. 
 
C: The budgets will be deciding factor for the schools. 
R: The new governing body will look at the staffing structure and the budget and schools could 

have a split site allowance until they are on one site. 
 
Q: We have a number of feeder schools from outside the LA and pupil numbers are 

approximately 300 Merthyr pupils and 215 other feeder primary schools.  In order to 
remain viable as a school we need to engage with all our feeder schools.  The site of the 3-
16 school is a massive issue and I think we will lose our Gurnos children depending on 
where the site is.  We have a responsibility to support all our families. 

R: Yes, we will have to consider all comments when deciding on the school site. 
 
C: In relation to the sites, I have heard a number of ideas have been discussed. 
R: The site has not been determined, if the proposal goes ahead feasibility studies will be 

undertaken. 
 
Q: How many 3-16 schools exist? 
R: There is currently a growing trend but currently there are thirteen schools across Wales. 
 
C: We must get this right and engaging with all parties is vital. 
R: Yes, if the proposal goes ahead we will engage with all stakeholders and the Archdiocese will 

Page 110



Page 85 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

be meeting with feeder schools outside the LA. 
 
C: We could lose our staff because of this proposal. 
R: Some staff may choose to leave for other positions, however my experience is that in the 

main staffing will remain the same. 
 
Q: Why are we consulting on a proposal when the site/structure etc have not been 

confirmed? 
R: This is a consultation on a proposal and therefore would not include this information. If the 

proposal goes ahead the site will then be determined and the new headteacher and 
governing body will determine the appropriate staff structure. 

 
Q: On Tuesday I queried the timescales and the huge amount of work for the governing body 

and newly appointed headteacher of the 3-16 school.  I believe these are not realistic or 
achievable. 

R: I disagree timescales are tight but achievable.  The new headteacher will be appointed for 
September 2019, schools will remain on their existing sites until the new build is ready.  The 
headteacher and new governing body will work on the staffing structure, policies, uniform 
etc.  It was decided to appoint a headteacher in September 2019, so that they could be fully 
involved in the build process.  

 
Q: Will we be arranging meetings with feeder partners? 
R: If the proposal goes ahead we will ensure that we engage with all stakeholders. 
 
C: All existing governors will be asked to express any interest for the new governing body. 
 
Q: When will the new governing body be set up? 
R: Temporary governing body January 2019 and then full governing body September 2019. 
 
Q: So, their first job is to appoint a new headteacher? 
R: Yes, for the headteacher to start in September 2019. 
 
C: There will be lots of meetings to set up to appoint headteacher, staffing structure etc. 
R: Yes and some governors could be on the temporary governing boy and their existing 

governing body. 
 
Q: What if there is no interest in the new governing body? 
R: This is unlikely, but the LA and Archdiocese will work closely together to appoint governors. 
 
Q: Can governors be on both governing bodies? 
R: Yes, governors’ regulations allow a person to sit on governing bodies and temporary 

governing body. 
 
Q: If this proposal doesn’t go ahead, what will happen? 
R: Status quo will remain. 
 
C: Our pupil numbers are stable and the school budget is good and numbers across the 

primaries are good.  This is about securing the secondary school provision.  
R: We looked at a number of options and this proposal is to strengthen Catholic education. 
 

Page 111



Page 86 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

Q: Where will the £27 million come from? 
R: 85% from Welsh Government and a 15% contribution from the LA. 
 
Q: Is this the first faith 3-16 school? 
R: No, there is one in Denbighshire and three across Wales are also in the process of being 

established. 
 
C: The current 3-16 in Wales are different in terms of eFSM etc. and Catholic education is 

unique. 
R: Yes, absolutely but what is constant is the passion to secure faith education and the best for 

our pupils. 
 
Q: Will Welsh Government only fund a new school? 
R: The Welsh Government funding is to create a 3-16 faith school. 
 
Q: Can we only consider 3-16 option? 
R: This option was informally discussed and put forward for consideration by the governing 

bodies of our three Catholic schools. 
 
C: The proposal is to build and strengthen faith education in Merthyr. 
 
C: The new Idris Davies 3-16 School (Rhymney) has been opened and they have weekly 

meetings with parents and lots of issues trying to attract pupils. 
R: Yes, we need to ensure we promote the idea now and work closely with parents. 
 
C: Engagement with parishes has come through during our meetings, the Archdiocese will 

speak to Archbishop to agree how we engage with the Parishes.  
 
Q: Will all teaching and non-teaching posts be ring-fenced including leadership? 
R: It has been recommended that staff remain unchanged; there will be a discussion on the SLT 

with the new governing body.  There are no guarantees for senior leadership posts.  
 
Q: So practically speaking 2.5 form entry, how will this work for a Year 2 teacher? 
R: A 2.5 entry based on current pupil numbers suggest a mixture of classes and this will be 

determined by the new headteacher. 
 
Q: What will happen to existing sites? 
R: The Archdiocese and LA will meet to decide future use of sites. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ST ALOYSIUS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

CONSULTATION MEETING WITH PARENTS 

Page 112



Page 87 of 90 
 

 

PRESENT:   Fifty-two Parents 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Anne Robertson (AR) – Director of Schools, Archdiocese  

Sue Walker (SW) – Chief Education Officer, MTCBC 

Jayne Jones (JJ) – Clerk to the Governors, MTCBC 

 

 

NO. DISCUSSION 

14.0  PUBLIC CONSULTATION RE SCHOOL REORGANISATION   
SW welcomed everyone to the meeting and opened by reading a prepared statement which 
outlined the purpose of the meeting.  She referred to the consultation document which 
explained in more detail the process/timescales and rationale behind the proposal. 
 
SW explained the proposal is to create a single 3-16 Catholic school within Merthyr Tydfil by 
discontinuing St. Aloysius, the Federation of St. Mary’s & St. Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley High 
Schools.  The consultation process was outlined and it was noted that Cabinet will make a 
decision on 21st November 2018 on whether or not to approve the proposal and to proceed to 
statutory notice.  If approved individuals can formally object to the proposal.   The closing date 
for objections being the 9th January 2019. 
 
SW then outlined the reasons behind the proposal which included improving the educational 
outcomes, the learning environment and the leadership and management of the schools by 
creating a single 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
SW explained (if the proposal was approved) a temporary governing body would be formed, and 
they would appoint a new headteacher and create an appropriate staffing structure for a single 
3-16 school. 
 
AR also read a statement putting into context the view from the Archdiocese perspective and 
outlined the aim to build on current good practice to ensure the future excellence and viability 
of Catholic Education. 
 
The meeting was then opened up for questions: 
 
Q: What happens to our schools if the proposal goes ahead? 
R: If the proposal goes ahead the schools would remain on the current site until the new 

school is built. 
 
Q: Will class sizes be bigger? 
R: No class sizes will be similar, Welsh Government states class sizes for 3-7 year olds are a 

maximum of 30 per class.  7-11 can be more than 30 but not recommended. 
 
Q: Where will the site be and what will happen in the winter when it’s very icy and 

attendance suffers?  
R: The site has not yet been determined.  If the proposal goes ahead further information on 

sites will be considered and discussed. 
 Page 113



Page 88 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

C: As parents we are very against the proposal. 
 
Q: Is this a genuine consultation?  Or will it be like the 6th form consultation when the 

decision was already made no matter what we said.     
R: This is a consultation to gather the views of stakeholders; all comments will feed into the 

process.  
 
C: The pupils will be out of their comfort zone and this is not fair to them. 
R: This proposal is to strengthen Catholic Education in Merthyr Tydfil and provide the best 

possible outcomes for our pupils.  
 
Q: Our pupils are okay in this school, why are you doing this to Catholic schools only? 
R: The proposal will provide a new building fit for purpose and a 3-16 school will provide a 

seamless transition across phases. 
 
Q: What will be different with a new 3-16 school?  What is offered that we can’t provide 

here?  Why now?   
R: The proposal is to have a new building with more space, improved capacity, specialism 

teachers and more opportunities for staff with better transition.  There will be a Worship 
Centre in the new school. 

 
C: We have a church already and pupils attend mass regularly. 
 
Q: Again, what will be different in a 3-16 Catholic School? 
R: Much better facilities for our pupils to support the new curriculum. 
  
C: As a community school, parents and staff we don’t want this to happen. 
 
C: Whatever we say, this will go ahead anyway there are already rumours saying the school 

is moving to a new site. 
R: No, this is a proposal and your views/comments/questions will be included in the report to 

Council. 
 
Q: What happens if we don’t send our children to the new 3-16 Catholic School? 
R: You, as parents chose the school for your children. 
 
C: This will be a big impact on Catholic Education and I genuinely think parents will move 

pupils out of the school, so this is not about securing Catholic Education. 
R: Parents have already chosen Catholic Education and this is to strengthen the Catholic 

Provision. 
 
Q: Will the teachers be the same? 
R: Yes, it will be recommended that teaching posts will be ring-fenced. 
 
C: Staff had to reapply in another authority. 
R: It is expected there will be the same number of pupils, so the same number of staff will be 

needed. 
 
Q: Will the classes be mixed up? 
R: There will be a 2.5 entry – not three form entry, so the staffing structure will look different. 

Page 114



Page 89 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
Q: Will the uniform be the same? 
R: Yes initially, and then the new governing body will make a decision on the uniform. 
 
Q: Have you considered the traffic situation in such a big school? 
R: This will be considered when the site has been decided. 
 
Q: If a lot of children decided not to go to the new school, what then? 
R: The governing body will have to make decisions at that point. 
 
Q: If this is in the middle of GCSE exams, what about the impact on pupils?   
R: If the proposal goes ahead, school would open at the beginning of the academic year. 
 
C: In this whole process the pupils feeling have not been taken into account.  
R: As part of this process there have been meetings with pupils and their feelings will be 

included in the report. 
 
C: You must have an idea of the site there are a number of rumours. 
R: There are a number of sites being considered but no decision has been made. 
 
C: My child has an anxiety disorder and has taken a long time to settle in schools this will 

impact on pupils and needs to be managed properly. 
R: The teachers will remain constant and pupils will be able to visit the new school to ensure 

they settle into the new building.  
 
Q: What about pupils with ALN, how will they be catered for?  
R: Any additional support will continue in the new school.  
 
Q: In the new school there will be teenagers in the same areas as nursery pupils, is this safe? 
R: The new building will have separate areas for the different key stages. 
 
Q: We don’t want a big fancy new school, we want our community school, this is a waste of 

money.    
R: The 3-16 proposal is to strengthen the Catholic Education and provide a state of the art 

facility.  The teachers will remain the difference is a new building. 
 
Q: Why don’t you spend all this money on our school? 
R: The Welsh Government funding is to build a new school. 
 
C: We know all our children here, in a big school the children will become just numbers. 
R: The primary schools together are similar in size to a large primary and the teachers will 

move with the pupils. 
 
Q: So there will be an infant, junior and secondary building? 
R: No, there will be one building with separate areas for difference key stages. 
 
Q: Can secondary pupils come into the primary area? 
R: It will be an all through school and hopefully opportunities for pupils to have specialist 

lessons (i.e. Science at Year 6).  This will be determined by the new headteacher and 
governing body. 

Page 115



Page 90 of 90 
 

NO. DISCUSSION 

 
Q: This school is so close knit and now you want to change it.  What benefits will there be, 

why change it? 
R: Following informal discussions with the Archdiocese, LA and governing bodies, the proposal 

was agreed to create a 3-16 Catholic School in order to strengthen Faith Education. 
 
Q: Why don’t you sort out our current schools?  Why are you trying to fix something that 

isn’t broken? 
R: The money from Welsh Government is to fund a new build. 
 
Q: Who has the final decision on this? 
R: If there are no objections, Council makes a decision in January.  If objections are received 

there will be further consideration but it is ultimately a Cabinet decision. 
 
Q: Will transport be provided for primary pupils? 
R: We will be looking at transport and the site if the proposal goes ahead. 
 
C: Leave our school alone, it’s not broke, so leave it alone this proposal in disgusting. 
 
Q: If this proposal doesn’t go ahead, what happens next? 
R: Council will look at the report and make a decision on the proposal. 
 

 

 

Page 116



 

 

 
 

CONSULTATION REPORT 
 

 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE CONSULTATION REPORT  
 
This report is prepared in accordance with the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code, statutory 
document 011/2018.  Its purpose is to inform the outcome of the Public Consultation on the proposal to 
create a single, 3-16 Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil.   The Consultation was held during the period 
Monday 29th April - Sunday 30th June 2019 between all stakeholders and interested parties listed.  
 
2.0 THE PROPOSAL  
 
The Proposal consulted upon is to create a single 3-16 all through Catholic School within Merthyr Tydfil by  
discontinuing St Aloysius RC Primary, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC and St Mary’s RC Primary schools and 
Bishop Hedley RC High School and providing a single, all through 3-16 Catholic education with effect from 1st 
September 2019. . 
 
Details of the Proposal, and the rationale behind it, are fully outlined in the Consultation Document which is 
attached as Appendix 1.  
 
3.0 WHO DID WE CONSULT WITH?  
 
A copy of the Consultation Document which fully outlined and explained our Proposal was sent to the 
following stakeholders.  
 

 Parents, carers, guardians, staff members and governors of all affected schools 

 Merthyr Tydfil Cabinet members and Councillors 

 Trade Unions 

 Directors of Education in neighbouring Local Authorities (Blaenau Gwent, Bridgend, Rhondda Cynon Taff, 
Powys, Caerphilly and Vale of Glamorgan) 

 Estyn 

 Member of Parliament 

 Assembly Member 

 Cabinet Secretary for Education 

 Welsh Government 

 The College, Merthyr Tydfil 

 Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 

 Local Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Welsh Language Commissioner 

 Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG) 

 Communities First partners 

 Youth Cabinet 

 MTCBC’s Transport department 

 Archdiocese of Cardiff, The Commissioner for School and Colleges 

 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

Page 117



 
 

Letters were sent to all affected Catholic schools informing them of the Consultation.  Parents/Carers, 
Governors and Staff were also invited to attend drop-in sessions where they would have the opportunity to 
ask questions and learn more about the Proposal.  The following drop-in sessions were held: 
 

Date Time Venue 

Monday, 18th March  2019 5.30pm – 
7.30pm 

St Illtyd’s RC Primary School, Rocky Road, Dowlais, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 3BT 

Tuesday, 19th March 2019 10.30am – 
12.30pm 

St Aloysius Church, Chestnut Way, Gurnos, Merthyr Tydfil, 
CF47 9SB 

Tuesday, 19th March 2019 6.00pm – 
8.00pm 

Bishop Hedley High School, Gwaunfarren Road, 
Penydarren, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 9AN 

Thursday, 21nd March 2019 5.00pm – 
7.00pm 

St Mary’s RC Primary School, Caedraw Road, Merthyr 
Tydfil, CF47 8HA 

Monday, 25th March 2019 4.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Joseph’s Primary School, Ashvale, Tredegar, Blaenau 
Gwent, NP22 4AQ 

Monday, 25th March 2019 5.30pm – 
6.30pm 

All Saints and St Mary’s (Brynmawr) (joint meeting) 
All Saints Primary School, Heol Yr Ysgol, Ebbw Vale, NP23 

6QP 

Thursday, 28th March 2019 2.30pm – 
3.30pm 

St Margaret’s Primary School, Ty Fry, Aberdare, CF44 7PP 

Monday 3rd June 2019 3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Mary’s RC Primary School, Caedraw Road, Merthyr 
Tydfil, CF47 8HA 

Tuesday 4th June 2019 3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Aloysius RC Primary School, Cedar Way, Gurnos Estate, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 9PA 

Wednesday 5th June 2019 3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

Bishop Hedley High School, Gwaunfarren Road, 
Penydarren, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 9AN 

Thursday 6th June 2019 3.00pm – 
5.00pm 

St Illtyd’s RC Primary School, Rocky Road, Dowlais, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 3BT 

 
4.0 THE CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
All stakeholders listed in 3.0 were sent electronic copies of the Consultation Document. 
 
All other interested parties (Parents/Carers, Governors, school Staff and the wider public) were directed to 
the online questionnaire where the Consultation Document was available and where they could complete the 
Online Survey.  
 
A press release regarding the Consultation was published on our website and advertised on our Social Media 
channels.  
 
Paper questionnaires were made available at the Consultation drop-in sessions and could also be requested 
from our Corporate Communications Team. 
 
5.0 SUMMARY OF RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION  
 
Responses received via the Online Survey and at the Consultation meetings have been analysed to identify 
views and concerns, and are summarised below. 
 
Positive responses received as a result of the Consultation include: 

 “It will provide first class facilities to the children of the Borough” 

Page 118



 
 

 “The Proposal will safeguard Faith school provision in the long term in Merthyr Tydfil.  The 3-16 

reorganisation is more in line with the proposed new curriculum as opposed to the traditional 

primary/secondary model” 

 “The idea of our children having a school fit for purpose with the introduction of the new curriculum is 

exciting.  Best way forward for all future children in Catholic education” 

 “I think this will help children in the long run, with no fears of moving schools and regular friends 

throughout.  I think this will give staff a better opportunity to understand their students and provide the 

correct support they need.  Teachers will have a more hands on approach with individuals and build a 

better teaching experience with the children whilst allowing them to develop themselves in other age 

groups that may not currently be available.  I feel this proposal will provide a better teaching environment 

for both staff and pupils and will give parents the peace of mind that their child can settle at school.  I also 

think it could give the older pupils a chance to learn coaching skills prior to leaving by volunteering in the 

younger classes or youth clubs etc these skills will always be useful in life.  I think this is an excellent idea 

and wish something like this available during my school days” 

 “Creating a super school would be much more beneficial as it incorporates all schools into a single, unified 

Catholic school and gives the opportunities for a sharing of best practice between teachers that would 

usually not be in contact with each other.  A diverse combination of experiences from teachers and 

students alike.  I fully support this and hope to see this consultation probe successful” 

 “it keeps learning consistent – once established it will save money that can be spent on other projects and 

facilities and young people get a better transition to secondary school – they know what to expect and it is 

less frightening.   I like the idea of a federation head, it means that all pupils going into Year 7 are following 

the same learning process and none are disadvantaged” 

 “I agree that the 3-16 will be beneficial to the pupils in regards to their education.  New facilities will enable 

teachers to teach  more effectively and pupils will be more engaged in bigger, lighter classrooms” 

 “It is the most sustainable way to continue to provide catholic education in the area.  There is a decrease in 

indigenous Catholic pupils but there is support from an international contingent who should be encouraged 

to continue to choose a catholic education here.  The improved facilities and curriculum that this will 

provide will ensure that our children have the same opportunities offered in larger towns and cities who 

typically benefit from better funding that enhances their potential in life” 

 “I don't see that it will be at a detriment to the children as funding will be consolidated into one school 

rather than four and there won't be over crowding as its limiting class sizes and offer continuity in lessons 

and activities to the children, they will make friends who will stay together for longer and be a positive 

atmosphere. The facilities are supposed to improve also which can only be good as the children don't 

always have the best of everything in the respective schools now” 

 It is a good opportunity for pupils and having a modern school with great facilities is the way forward. 

Pupils and the wider community will benefit from state of the art facilities. 

 It will ensure the future of Catholic education in Merthyr Tydfil, and the new school will become the 

number one Catholic school in the Heads of the Valleys area.  Therefore, it secures the school in the long 

term. 

 It would allow for better transition for pupils throughout school – academically and socially. “Through 

teaching” will significantly help our pupils with their education.  In addition, there will be an opportunity to 

plan for education from Foundation Phase right through to Key Stage 4.  

 Issues faced at the current schools such as school parking and congestion, lack of playing fields, extra-

curricular activities and outdated facilities can be addressed.  

Page 119



 
 

 It will improve the availability of facilities and resources for primary schools and allow staff to work 

collaboratively to write and embed effective schemes of work. 

Concerns raised in the feedback can be broadly summarised into several key areas: 
 

 Of primary concern to a large proportion of respondents is how the new school will work, with specific 
mention to the layout.  Some respondents are a little unsure of three year olds sharing a school with 16 
year olds.  Some respondents approve the idea if the primary and secondary classes are not in the same 
area. 

 Some respondents raised concerns regarding the location and the negative impact it might have on traffic 
in the area.   Concerns were also expressed that the proposed sites may be health risks because of previous 
use. 

 Some respondents fear that pupil numbers may drop if the new school is built on a site that isn’t as easy to 
get to as the current schools. The current schools are within walking distance for a large number of pupils 
and the concern is those pupils may not be able to get to the new school so easily. 

 The safety of the children is raised as a main concern, especially around the potential traffic issues that the 
new school may bring.  With so many pupils attending the same school they wonder how can this be 
managed? 

 Some respondents highlight how the needs of primary school children are vastly different to those of 
secondary pupils and wonder how will this be managed? 

 Concern has been raised by respondents who are staff at the current schools regarding their jobs if the 
schools were to be amalgamated. 

 Respondents like the idea of a brand new school but are unsure how this can be managed effectively by 
one Headteacher and that leadership and management are key and unless an exceptional Headteacher is 
appointed then the school could fail.  They are concerned standards may not be maintained. 

 There is a concern that the Catholic education in Merthyr Tydfil will not thrive if the school is not built 
within the heart of the community.  They also ask can the new school keep the strong links that currently 
exist between the church, the schools and the community and that schools could lose the community feel 
of being a smaller school with smaller classes and could impact on pupils’ education and emotional 
wellbeing. 

 Questions were raised regarding how this proposal may impact on other ‘partner’ primary schools outside 
the County Borough. 

 Concerns were raised that ‘super schools’ in other local authorities have failed and there has been a 
decline in standards. 

 
At the drop-in sessions held at schools, most of the above concerns were vocalised by attendees and below 
are the responses given by the officers in attendance. 
 

 Why appoint a new Headteacher? - In other local authorities where 3-16 schools have been created the 
approach, without an overall structure in place first, hasn’t worked.  It would be beneficial for the 
Headteacher of the new 3-16 school to have a say in the design or be involved in key decisions.  The new 
Headteacher can formulate and propose the leadership, management and staffing structures for the new 
school in conjunction with the new Governing Body. 
 

 Concerns over job losses - When the 3-16 school is built, the new Governing Body will determine the 
staffing structure and the LA and Archdiocese will support the school to ensure the staffing structure is 
appropriate.  The recommendation will be that staff positions are ring-fenced and posts are offered to 

Page 120



 
 

existing school staff in the first instance. 
 

 Site location – Prior to any build the appropriate feasibility studies would be carried out in respect of traffic 
management and the suitability of each site for a school building 

 

 Concerns over primary and secondary pupils mixing - In the new school, there will be separate areas for the 
different key stages.  Primary and secondary pupils will have their own school yards and separate 
entrances.  Lunchtimes will also be separated in terms of areas and times.  The benefits to one through 
school is the opportunity for all pupils to access specialist facilities and resources e.g. science and 
technology, and the ability for secondary pupils to learn in the primary phase, especially around care 
related activities and for meeting requirements of the Welsh Baccalaureate.  
 

 Class sizes - Class sizes in the new school will be similar to now and in-line with Welsh Government 
guidance. 
 

 Safety concerns - The new school will be designed to meet all the current health and safety guidance.  
Arrangements for parking and drop off points will be included in this.  There will be huge consideration to 
the safeguarding of all learners within the new build.  
 

 Losing the community feel - The primary schools will have the same staff and there will always be a nurture 
element as part of a primary school.  The same ethos would still exist in a larger school with staff and pupils 
continuing to have a close relationship. 
 

 Partner Primary schools - The Archdiocese will ensure to work with all feeder partner schools.  The 
Governing Body and new Headteacher will ensure transition arrangements are put in place to support 
pupils joining the school from primary schools outside the County Borough, so that pupils transferring at 
Year 7 are not disadvantaged. 
 

 Maintaining standards - The proposal is to strengthen the Catholic education system with an all-through 
school and the new Governing Body will continue to monitor standards going forward to ensure they 
continue to improve. 

 
We welcomed any suggestions or alternatives to the proposal.  Some of the suggestions are summarised 

below: 

 Could the new school be built on the current Bishop Hedley High School site?  Not only will there be a 

natural separation between the primary and secondary years, but Catholic education would continue on 

the same site where it began which is important to the Catholic community? 

 Could we update and maintain the current schools instead of building a new school? 

 Close the three primary schools and create one larger primary for the County Borough, leaving Bishop 

Hedley as the Secondary school. 

 Could a sixth form be incorporated into the new school, thus creating a 3-19 school? The addition of a sixth 

form would encourage more pupils to attend. 

 Include all primary feeder schools to attend from age 3-16, not just the Merthyr Tydfil schools. 

 Appoint a Transitional Manager to oversee the build whilst allowing the existing leadership structures to 

continue.  Once the school is built, then appoint the required Leadership Team. 

 A 3-16 school not on one site may prove a more popular choice with parents. 

  

Page 121



 
 

6.0 VIEWS EXPRESSED BY CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 

Consultation workshops were arranged with School Councils to gather their views about the Proposal.   
 

Positive responses received as a result of the Consultation include: 
 
Primary responses 

 “To be with more of our friends.  Better facilities.  Better education.” 

 “We would like to meet new people and have the best education.  There will be new things to do and we 
want a new uniform.” 

 
Youth Forum responses/comments 

 “This could be good for Merthyr.  Better education led by one Head in one site, high standards and 
consistent.  Saving money on school sites.  Selling old sites for housing – more money for other things.  
Better child protection.  Building stronger relationships between teachers, pupils etc.  Good location – 
Bishop Hedley site.  Needs to be managed well and pupils consulted on decisions that affect them as 
outlined in the UNCRC,  Article 12.  Minimum job losses for staff.” 

 Bishop Hedley site is ideal for this proposal.  Great opportunity to have all pupils together.  Need one 
fantastic Head with lots of experience and motivation.” 

 “One school, one approach, it works in RCT so it will work here.  I wish I had gone to a school like this it is 
less frightening when going to comprehensive you already know everyone and the rules are the same.” 

 “Involve young people in the interviews for the Head, they need to be the best” 

 “I like the proposal I think that it would  benefit pupils health & wellbeing – less stress moving schools and 
frightened to meet new people.” 

 “Fab opportunity for pupils, less transition stress – one school one Head – the best.  Transition to new 
premises for Secondary pupils first.  Manage the build with the least disruption to pupils.” 

 “Keep as many jobs as possible.  Look carefully at impact on transport cost and time to school. “ 

 “Keeps learning consistent.  No nasty surprises from primary to secondary.  Good site for school on current 
Bishop Hedley premises.  Better relationships building between teachers, pupils and pastoral care.  Closing 
schools can give Council more revenue, more space to build houses.” 

 “Make sure that there is a strong Head so everyone is doing the same to a consistent high standard.” 
 
Negative responses received as a result of the Consultation include: 
 
Primary responses 

  “We might not be with our friends.  Our schools mean a lot!” 

  “Because there is going to be lots of fights and we already have good memories in this school and I don’t 
want to lose them” 

 “Because we have built schools and it is a lot of money and it is perfect and the little children do not know 
where to go and they will be confused.  Not much room and space” 

 

Youth Forum responses/comments 

 “Don’t use the Greenie the community use it for football, walking, playing etc.  Will all pupils have the same 
uniform.  Carefully manage pupils drop off and pick up.  Keep traffic congestion low.” 

 “Some pupils might never get to the new school because of transport issues – POVERTY.” 

 “I do not support the proposal as having older and younger pupils may cause issues which already occur at 
KS3 and KS4.  Creating a school with older children and younger children may create severe problems.  
Teachers would have more work and more stress because of the increase of classes and pupils.  It’s too  
much work and stress for one person – the Head.  There could be massive parking issues.  Extra cost to 
parents for transport, pupils might have to go to a different school.” 

 Page 122



 
 

7.0 ASSESSMENT OF CONSULTATIONS 
 
Through the Consultation process concerns were raised about the timing and affordability of the appointment 
of a Headteacher for September 2020.  
 
Following further discussions with the Archdiocese it was therefore recommended that the Proposal is 
amended to appoint the Headteacher from September 2022, a year before the school is due to move onto 
one site.  Until September 2022 the schools would remain as they are. 
 
Further consideration over the two sites currently proposed will take place over the next twelve months. 
 
8.0 THE VIEW OF ESTYN (HER MAJESTY’S INSPECTORATE OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING IN WALES) OF 

THE OVERALL MERITS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
Estyn’s response to the joint proposal between Archdiocese of Cardiff and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to create a single 3 to 16 faith school is provided below. 
 
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors for Education and Training in Wales.  Under the 
terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, proposers are 
required to send consultation documents to Estyn.  However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in 
accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 
organisation matters.  Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall 
merits of school organisation proposals. 
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following response to the 
information provided by the proposer and other additional information such as data from Welsh Government 
and the views of the Regional Consortia which deliver school improvement services to the schools within the 
proposal. 
 
Summary/ Conclusion 
It is Estyn’s view that the proposal to create a single 3 to 16 faith school is likely to at least maintain the 
standard of educational provision and outcomes in the area. 
 
Description and benefits 
The proposer has clearly identified the rationale in a well laid out and accessible format document.  The 
proposer has taken appropriate account of the consultation process and consulted with a wide range of 
stakeholders, including pupils from the schools involved.   
 
The proposal includes key facts, timelines, reference to a successful creation of a 3 to 16 faith school, 
characteristics of all the schools affected by the proposal, including capacity, admission numbers, and pupils 
on roll, free school meals and useful frequently asked questions. 
 
The proposal clearly states that Welsh Government and the Diocesan Authority are committed to a large 
financial investment in order to improve and replace the existing school buildings with a new build.  The 
proposer has taken into consideration the site for the new build and the effect on road infrastructure and 
traffic management.  The proposer estimates the new build will be completed by 2022/2023 should the 
proposal be accepted. 
 
The proposal clearly states the advantages of the proposal including the educational benefits.  These appear to 
be reasonable and will provide opportunities for staff to continue their professional development enabling 
them to form a single leadership team and Governing Body.  The proposer states that this will support a 

Page 123



 
 

Headteacher with a whole school experience.  The proposer states that the creation of a new 3 to 16 faith 
school will ensure continuity of provision, reflect a single ethos and culture, release funding that can be 
reinvested in learning and teaching and streamline communication between parents and staff creating a single 
point of contact throughout a pupils’ school career.  In the main, these appear to be reasonable and 
appropriate.  However, they do not highlight other potential advantages for example whether there will be 
better facilities and capacity to promote pupils’ learning and flexibility to address individual needs. 
 
The proposer clearly states the potential disadvantages and risks the proposal may face.  The proposer 
acknowledges that these disadvantages and risks will need to be managed carefully by the school and the 
Council to avoid any detrimental impact.  
These include the disruption of management of staff and resources during the restructuring process and the 
reduction to one Headteacher that may impact on the accessibility to the leadership for staff, parents and 
pupils.  The proposer has also identified potential difficulties in bringing together three different sets of 
working practice into one school and possible resistance and disengagement amongst stakeholders.  However, 
there is no reference to the possible impact of the proposal on the communities served by the three primary 
schools. 
 
The proposer has reasonably considered a number of alternative options.  These include, maintaining the 
status quo, undertake refurbishment of all schools involved, federate all the primary schools in the proposal 
and remain on current sites, federate all the schools named in the proposal and remain on current sites, 
consult on one Catholic secondary school across Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf or create a new 3 to 16 
Catholic school on one site.  The proposer has clearly set out the advantages and disadvantages for each 
alternative option. 
 
The proposal states that should the proposal go ahead, a temporary governing body will be appointed for an 
interim period until the new school opens.  The temporary governing body will appoint a new Headteacher and 
propose leadership and management staffing structures for the new school.  This appears to be reasonable. 
 
Educational aspects of the proposal 
The proposer has given a reasonable and detailed reference to the current quality of outcomes, provision and 
leadership and management for all the schools involved in the proposal.  The proposer has also included 
information about the Welsh Government categorisation for schools. 
 
The proposer has detailed at length the intended impact on education outcomes, provision and the benefits 
the change will potentially offer.  These include, increased opportunity for teaching and support staff to 
participate in professional development, greater opportunities for staff to move between key stages and 
develop expertise, provide a more appropriate curriculum to potentially improve attendance and outcomes. 
 
The proposer states reasonably that there will be a positive impact on provision by improving the range and 
quality of teaching resources, continuity of support for the more vulnerable pupils, embedding the catholic 
ethos across all age ranges within the school.  The proposer states clearly that there will be a positive impact 
on leadership and management by distributing leadership tasks and creating leadership opportunities for a 
wider range of staff.  These proposals appear to be reasonable. 
 
The proposer has included appropriate information about the admissions and catchment area arrangements 
for the proposal.  The ethos of the school will be Catholic.  The catchment area for the school will remain 
unchanged. 
 
The proposer has included appropriate details about finance including running costs and capital investment.  
The revised formula for the 3 to 16 school funding model still requires further discussion and agreement.  The 

Page 124



 
 

proposer states that the proposal will not require any capital investment initially as it is linked to the Council’s 
21st Century Programme 2019 to 2026 which has been approved by Welsh Government. 
 
The proposer states that there will be no change to the overall capacity of the school and does not envisage 
and changes to traffic congestion around the school.  The proposer states there are no plans to change the 
Council’s policy on transport of pupils to and from school.  However, the proposal does not consider the impact 
on travel once the new school has been completed, particularly for primary school pupils. 
 
The proposer has carried out an impact assessment for equality and Welsh language.  The proposer has 
carried out an appropriate impact consideration on the community.  It has concluded reasonably that the new 
3 to 16 school will enhance community engagement across an extended age range and current community 
facilities will remain the same.  The community impact assessment does not consider in sufficient depth 
whether the relocation of the school will have an adverse effect on the extent of community and parental 
engagement in the areas currently served by the existing primary schools. 
 
Local Authority Response 
Throughout the Consultation the Local Authority and Archdiocese have worked closely together to minimise 
the impact on both communities and travel.  Should this Proposal progress these conversation would 
continue. 
 
9.0 CONCLUSION  
 
To be completed following the decision taken at the meeting of Cabinet on 11th September 2019. 

Page 125



 

 
 

 

 

Appendix 1 

CONSULTATION 
DOCUMENT 

 
 
 

On the proposal to create a single 3-16 Catholic 
School within Merthyr Tydfil by: 

 

1. Discontinuing St Aloysius RC, The Federation of St Illtyd’s RC, St Mary’s 
RC and also Bishop Hedley RC Schools 
2. Creating a single all-through 3-16 Catholic Education School 

 
  

Page 126



Page 11 of 41 
 

CONTENTS 

 

Foreword................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................... 5 

Explanation of terms used in this document ......................................................................................... 6 

Involving children in the consultation ................................................................................................... 7 

Involving parents, governors and staff - how you can find out more and give your views .................. 8 

Your Views Matter ................................................................................................................................. 8 

Background  ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

The Proposal .......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Catchment Area ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

Schools serving the area at present ...................................................................................................... 10 

Information about the schools .............................................................................................................. 11 

Current performance ............................................................................................................................. 12 

The intended impact on education outcomes ...................................................................................... 20 

What are the advantages of this proposal? .......................................................................................... 22 

What are the disadvantages of this proposal? ...................................................................................... 22 

Alternative options ................................................................................................................................ 22 

Transition Plan if the proposals are approved ...................................................................................... 24 

Risks associated with the proposal ........................................................................................................ 24 

Admissions and catchment area arrangements .................................................................................... 24 

Finance ................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Human Resources matters .................................................................................................................... 25 

Transport Matters .................................................................................................................................. 26 

Learner travel arrangements ................................................................................................................. 26 

Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language.................................................................................... 26 

Equality Impact Assessment .................................................................................................................. 26 

Considering Community Impact ............................................................................................................ 26 

Key dates ................................................................................................................................................ 27 

Consultation Period ............................................................................................................................... 27 

Statutory Notice ..................................................................................................................................... 28 

Determination of the proposals ............................................................................................................ 28 

Decision Notification ............................................................................................................................. 28 

Frequently Asked Questions .................................................................................................................. 28 

Consultation Response Form ................................................................................................................. 30 

Equality Monitoring Form ...................................................................................................................... 31 

 Page 127



Page 12 of 41 
 

FOREWORD 

 

“The mission of the school is to develop a sense of truth, of what is good and beautiful.  And this occurs 
through a rich path made up of many ingredients” 

 

“True education enables us to love life and opens us to the fullness of life” 
 

These words of Pope Francis addressed to school teachers in Italy on 10 May 2014, together with many 
educational documents and policies of the Catholic Bishops of England and Wales, have been an 
inspiration to me as I explore new patterns of collaboration between the schools of the Archdiocese of 
Cardiff.  My core purpose is to ensure the future viability of our schools and to provide the best possible 
education for the children entrusted to our care. 

 

Within the Archdiocese of Cardiff, part of our mission is to build on our current good practice to ensure 
the future excellence and viability of Catholic education.  This mission is based on strong spiritual values 
and sound educational research.  Our ambition is: 

 

o the creation of a world class Catholic education system that enables all the children of the 
Archdiocese to achieve their spiritual, educational and human potential; and 
o to work closely with stakeholders on re-structuring our schools to deliver a sustainable system 
that is fit for the future. 
 

Our mission is wholly in line with Welsh Government’s aspirations for education.  This is backed by 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) evidence.  I am conscious of the need 
for closer working between our schools.  Our proposal for a new 3-16 school to replace St Aloysius’, St 
Illtyd’s and St Mary’s Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley High School will allow for a seamless transition 
from early years up to GCSE.   It will put us in an advantageous position to deliver the new curriculum and 
give our children the benefits of an uninterrupted educational journey.  It will allow us to continue to 
build upon the very good education currently offered by those schools in a state-of-the-art campus.  It will 
provide significant benefits for the out-of-county Catholic schools which currently feed into Bishop Hedley 
High School by establishing closer working and planning arrangements with the new 3-16 school. 
 

I firmly support this proposal, which will develop: 

o a learning campus where children will develop their faith, skills and knowledge as confident 
citizens of the 21st century who are proud of their community and heritage; 
o continued improvement founded on current good practice; 
o a campus with excellent facilities for each age range; 
o a centre of excellence in Catholic teaching and learning that works in close partnerships with all its 
feeder church schools; and 
o a worship and social centre for the schools’ parishes and their communities. 
 
This consultation process will give all associated with our community of Catholic schools the chance to ask 
questions about this exciting proposal.  It is important that the vision of what can be achieved for our 
community is shared and understood by all. 
 

Page 128



Page 13 of 41 
 

I am confident that the proposed 3-16 Catholic school will be a strong and nurturing environment.  I know 
the school will build on the ethos, successes and achievements already recognised in the four separate 
schools it will replace.  It will continue to build on the high standards of its out-of-county feeder primaries 
by working in ever-closer partnership with them. 
 
Your children deserve nothing less. 
 
 
The Most Reverend George Stack 
Archbishop of Cardiff 
  

Page 129



Page 14 of 41 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 
This consultation is an opportunity for you to learn about the school re-organisation proposal being put 
forward for St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC and St Mary’s RC primary schools and also 
Bishop Hedley High School and to tell you how to let us know your views.  It is your chance to ask 
questions and provide comments that will be considered when the Council decides how to proceed. 
 
This document explains the joint proposal between the Archdiocese of Cardiff and Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council (the proposers) to discontinue St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC and St 
Mary’s RC primary schools and also Bishop Hedley High School by:  
 discontinuing St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC, and St Mary’s RC and also Bishop 
Hedley RC schools; and 

 creating a single 3-16 faith school provision. 
 

The consultation process follows Welsh Government guidelines outlined in the School Organisation 
Statutory Code 011/2018.  A range of individuals and groups are being asked for their views about these 
proposals. 
 

Before any decisions are made the proposers need to ensure that they offer a number of opportunities 
for individuals and interested groups to make their views and opinions known on the proposal. 
 

The proposers are consulting with the following groups: 
 

St Aloysius RC Primary School 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Governors 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils 
 

*St Illtyd’s RC Primary School 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Federated Governing Body (with St Mary’s) 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils 
 

*St Mary’s RC Primary School 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Federated Governing Body (with St Illtyd’s) 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils 
 

*The two schools St Illtyd’s and St Mary’s are currently in a federation with one Governing Body, one 
Headteacher 
 

Bishop Hedley High School 

 Staff (teaching and non-teaching) 

 Governors 

 Parents/Carers of pupils 

 Pupils 
 

  

Page 130



Page 15 of 41 
 

Other Groups 

 Communities First Partnership 

 Assembly Members (AMs) 

 Members of Parliament (MPs) 

 Regional Assembly Members 

 Local Councillors 

 Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) 

 Welsh Language Commissioner 

 Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RHAG) 

 Neighbouring Primary and Secondary schools in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 Trade Unions 

 Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 

 Directors of Education – all neighbouring authorities 

 Estyn 

 Further and Higher Education Institutions 

 Local Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Welsh Government Ministers 

 Council’s Transport Department 

 Diocesan Directors of Education 
 
EXPLANATION OF TERMS USED IN THIS DOCUMENT 

 

Admissions Number – all maintained schools must admit pupils up to at least their published admission 
number.  The admission number is the number of pupil places available in each year group. 
 
Amalgamation – the process of combining or uniting a number of schools into one school. 
 
Character of a School – the overall profile of the school.   
 
Compulsory School Age – the start of the term following a child’s fifth birthday. 
 
‘CSC’ – Central South Consortium Joint Education Service – the regional School Improvement Service for 
the five local authorities of Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of 
Glamorgan. 
 
The Council – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
DDA – Disability Discrimination Act.  Schools must not treat disabled pupils less favourably than others.  
They must make “reasonable adjustments” to ensure that disabled pupils are not at a substantial 
disadvantage, and they must prepare school accessibility plans to show how they will increase access to 
education for disabled pupils over time. 
 
Discontinuing – where the local authority recommends that they cease to maintain the school. 
 
‘EIA’ – an Equality Impact Assessment [EIA] is a process designed to ensure that a policy, project or 
scheme does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or vulnerable people. 
 
‘Federation’ – this is a formal arrangement where two or more schools are governed by one governing 
body with one executive Headteacher and a single leadership structure. 
 

Page 131



Page 16 of 41 
 

‘FSM’ – Free School Meals. 
 

‘LA’ – local authority means Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 

‘LSA’ – Learning Support Assistant. 
 

‘Number on roll’ – the number of pupils attending a school. 
 

‘PLASC’ – Pupil Level Annual School Census.  In January of every year, verified information is collected by 
schools for submission to the Welsh Government.  This includes the number of pupils enrolled in each 
school, their age groups, home addresses, ethnicity and data on Welsh language, free school meals 
eligibility, special education needs and first language. 
 

‘SEN’ – Special Educational Needs. 
 

School Action (SA) – when a class or subject teacher identifies that a pupil has SEN they provide 
interventions that are additional to or different from those provided as part of the school’s usual 
curriculum. 
 

School Action Plus (SA+) – when a class or subject teacher and the SEN Co-ordinator are provided with 
advice or support from outside specialists, so that alternative interventions additional or different to 
those provided for the pupil through School Action can be put in place. 
 

‘LRB’ –Learning Resource Base for children with SEN. 
 

Statemented – a child has a Statement of Educational Need if he or she has learning difficulties which 
require special educational provision to be made to him or her.  A learning difficulty means that the child 
has significantly greater difficulty in learning than most children of the same age or that the child has a 
disability that needs different educational facilities from those that the school generally provides for 
children. 
 

Statutory Notice – a Statutory Notice is the formal publication of a finalised proposal, if approved by the 
Council’s Cabinet, and will only be considered once they have received all the responses from the 
consultation process.  This is a legal requirement as outlined in the School Organisation Code 2013. 
 

Full time school provision – the Council’s policy allows all children who have reached their fourth 
birthday on or before 31 August to attend full time school that September.  This is not a legal 
requirement.  Some parents / carers choose to send their child to school at the Compulsory School Age.  
It has been the local authority’s long standing position that every child should have access to free part-
time nursery education from the term following the child’s third birthday.  In practice, children start 
attending nursery schools or nursery classes at the age of three or four years, depending on class number 
limitations and local demand. 
 
INVOLVING CHILDREN IN THE CONSULTATION 

 

The proposers firmly believe that the pupils of all schools involved should be given the opportunity to 
make their views known about this Proposal.  
  
A consultation workshop will be held with the School Council of all of the schools involved in the Proposal 
and to gather the children’s views about the Proposal.  The information gathered at these sessions will be 
included in the final consultation report.  The full report will be submitted to the Council’s Cabinet and 
Diocesan officers for consideration following the consultation period. 
 Page 132



Page 17 of 41 
 

INVOLVING PARENTS, GOVERNORS AND STAFF – how you can find out more and give your views 

 
The proposers intend to hold drop-in sessions for all stakeholders consulted as part of the process.   
 
Parents and carers of pupils at both the nursery and primary schools are invited to attend the parents’ 
drop in session(s) where you can ask any questions about the proposal.  We will always ask that you 
complete a consultation response form, as we can only accept views in writing. 
 
This document and further supporting information can also be found on the Merthyr Tydfil website. 
 
Links to this document can be found on social media through the Merthyr Tydfil Council Twitter feed and 
via the Merthyr Tydfil Council Facebook page. 
 
YOUR VIEWS MATTER 

 
The consultation period will run from Monday 29th April 2019 to Sunday 30th June 2019.  You can respond 
to our proposal at any time during this period. 
 
Your views are important to us, and there are a number of ways that you can let us know. 
 
You can: 
 Complete the on line response form at: https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/single-3-16-catholic-

school/ 

 Attend the drop-in session and speak to us in person.  This is a good way to be able to get answers 
to any questions you may have about the proposals.  We will still ask that you complete a consultation 
response form, as we can only accept views in writing. 

 Complete and return the consultation response form to the address given below: 
o Chief Education Officer, Learning Department, Unit 5, Pentrebach, Merthyr Tydfil CF48 4TQ 
 
All responses given to us in writing, using the consultation response form, will be considered by the 
Council’s Cabinet before it decides whether or not to publish a Statutory Notice about the proposals. 
 
Responses received from consultees who are opposed to these proposals, although considered as part of 
the Consultation Report, will not be treated as statutory objections.  A statutory objection would form 
part of the Statutory Notice period, if it is approved at the next stage, by the Council’s Cabinet. 
 
If you wish to object to the notice at the next stage of the process, should it proceed, you will need to do 
so in writing during the statutory objection period.  These key dates are outlined in the Statutory Process 
Timetable on page 27. 
 
Please note that all comments sent in writing must contain the full name and full postal address of the 
person making the comments. 
 
The closing date for responses to this consultation is Sunday 30th June 2019.  Unfortunately responses 
received after this date will not be considered by the Council. 
  

Page 133

https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/single-3-16-catholic-school/
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/single-3-16-catholic-school/


Page 18 of 41 
 

BACKGROUND 

 
Since 2015, officers from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, in conjunction with officers from the 
Archdiocese of Cardiff, have been carrying out informal consultation meetings on the future of Catholic 
education in Merthyr Tydfil.  A number of issues were brought to light during this process that need 
addressing to achieve long-term sustainability for Catholic education within the Borough.  These included 
the need to improve the learning environment and ensure there is excellent leadership across the sector. 
 
The Council accepts there is a need to modernise education provision throughout the Borough. Education 
improvement will not be sustained without changes in the way educational provision is delivered. 
 
Improving education for all is a priority for the Council; this is reflected in the Council’s Vision and 
Corporate Plan. 
 
The Council is committed to enhancing the faith offer within the Borough and working alongside the 
Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff ensures the sustainability of the offer for future generations not just in 
Merthyr Tydfil but also neighbouring parishes. 
 
On 25th July 2018, Council approved the start of a public consultation exercise regarding the school 
reorganisation proposal to close St Aloysius Roman Catholic (RC) Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St 
Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School creating a 3-16 all through Catholic 
education provision with effect from 1st September 2019.  The consultation ran from Monday 3rd 
September to Monday 14th October 2018. 
 
The outcome of the consultation was presented in a report to Cabinet on 21st November 2018, which 
provided details of correspondence received during the consultation exercise and notes of various 
meetings held.  Following discussion, and as a result of responses received, specifically in relation to the 
site of the new school, it was agreed that a new consultation exercise would be undertaken which 
identifies the sites proposed for the new school.   The new consultation will be carried out in accordance 
with the new School Organisation Code (2nd Edition) November 2018 edition. 
 
THE PROPOSAL 

 
The Council proposes to discontinue St Aloysius RC, the Federation of St Illtyd’s RC and St Mary’s RC 
primary schools and also Bishop Hedley High schools from 1st September 2020 and that the Catholic 
Archdiocese of Cardiff would create an ‘all through’ 3 to 16 school based across the existing sites of the 
schools. 
 
If the current proposal is agreed and implemented the current schools would close on 31st August 2020.  
The governance structure of the new all through school would start as of 1st September 2020.  
 
As part of the overall proposal Welsh Government, the Council and the Diocesan Authority are committed 
to investing approximately £27 million to replacing the current schools’ buildings.  This would mean that, 
should this proposal be implemented, a purpose built 3-16 school will be created and located in new 
facilities purpose built for modern methods of learning.  Following consultation with the Engineering, 
Planning, Highways and Road Safety departments, the two sites that will be considered are a new build on ‘The 
Greenie’ or a re-build on one of the Bishop Hedley High School sites.  It is estimated that the new school building 
will be ready 2023/2024 
 

Page 134



Page 19 of 41 
 

The Council is currently delivering on its vision to transform school buildings through its capital 
programme in partnership with the Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools and Education Programme.  
This programme has supported the Afon Taf refurbishment and is supporting the new Ysgol Y Graig build. 
This current proposal is part of the Band B funding stream and the Council in partnership with Welsh 
Government has secured almost £54 million for investment between 2018/19 and 2025/26 
 
The new Catholic School will be for young people aged 3 to 16 and would be classified as English Medium, 
Voluntary Aided.  ‘Voluntary Aided’ category schools are church schools that manage their own school 
admissions processes. The Governing Body employs the staff and sets the admissions criteria.  School 
buildings and land are often owned by a charity, usually the Church. 
 
Subject to parental preference, all young people currently attending the schools named in the proposal 
would transfer to the new 3-16 Catholic School. 
 
The primary section of the school will be for 525, therefore a 2.5 form entry with an admission number of 
75.  The secondary section of the school will be for 600 therefore a 4 form entry with an admission 
number of 120. 
 
It is important to note that any decision to proceed with the proposal will be a joint decision between 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and the Archdiocese of Cardiff. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is permitted to publish proposals to discontinue a voluntary aided 
school or foundation school; as are the Governors.  As such the formal publication of the closure of the 
four existing schools may be carried out by the Council following the correct statutory procedure. 
 
The proposal to establish a new voluntary aided school will be published by the Catholic Archdiocese of 
Cardiff in partnership with Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.  Whilst Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council could seek to establish a new voluntary aided school it is considered appropriate that such 
provision is planned in partnership with the Diocesan authority that will be responsible for the operation 
of the school.  The role of the Council in the establishment of the new voluntary aided school would be 
advisory/supportive.  Thus the proposal relating to the formation of the new 3-16 school will be published 
by the Archdiocese in partnership with Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
CATCHMENT AREA 

 
The catchment area of the proposed new school covers the whole of the County Borough of Merthyr 
Tydfil.  In addition the secondary provision within the school covers the Parishes of Aberdare, Hirwaun, 
Glynneath, Rhymney, Tredegar, Ebbw Vale and Brynmawr. 
 
SCHOOLS SERVING THE AREA AT PRESENT 

 
Nursery Provision 

 Nursery education is provided by the primary schools across the County Borough including the 
three primary schools within this proposal 
 
Primary Provision  

 English medium primary education is provided across the County Borough including the three 
primary schools included within this proposal 

 Welsh medium primary education is provided by Ysgol Santes Tudful and Ysgol Rhyd y Grug 
Page 135



Page 20 of 41 
 

 
Secondary Provision 

 There are three English medium secondary schools within the County Borough as well as the 
secondary school included within this proposal 

 Welsh medium secondary education is available at Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd y Waun 
 
INFORMATION ABOUT THE SCHOOLS 

 

Current demand for places  
 

GENERAL SCHOOL INFORMATION 

School Type of 
school 

Language 
category 

Admission 
number 

School 
capacity 

Number on 
roll 2017/18 

Age range 

St Aloysius RC 
Primary 

Voluntary 
Aided 

English 
Medium 

23 (2017/18) 165 (2017/18) 174 3-11 

St Illtyd's RC 
Primary  

Voluntary 
Aided 
Federated 
With St 
Mary's RC 
Primary 

English 
Medium 

22 (2017/18) 155 (2017/18) 166 3-11 

St Mary's RC 
Primary 

Voluntary 
Aided 
Federated 
With St 
Illtyd's RC 
Primary 

English 
Medium 

28 (2017/18) 198 (2017/18) 232 3-11 

Bishop 
Hedley High  

Voluntary 
Aided 

English 
Medium 

153 (2017/18) 767 (2017/18) 496 11-16 

 

CURRENT LEVEL OF SURPLUS PLACES 

School School capacity  Number on roll 
(Excluding 
nursery) 

Surplus places % of Surplus 
places 

St Aloysius RC 
Primary 

165 150 15 9.0% 

St Illtyd's RC Primary  155 153 2 1.3% 
St Mary's RC 
Primary 

198 201 -3 -1.5% 

Bishop Hedley High  767 519 248 32.3% 

 
Future demand for places 
 
The following table provides information about the number of children attending the schools and the 
number expected to attend in the future. 
  

Page 136



Page 21 of 41 
 

 

FUTURE DEMAND FOR PLACES 

School 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

Sc
h

o
o

l 

C
ap

ac
it

y 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
 

2
0

1
5

 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
 

2
0

1
6

 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
 

2
0

1
7

 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
 

2
0

1
8

 

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
2

0
1

9
 

2
0

1
9

/2
0

  

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

2
0

/2
1

  

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

2
1

/2
2

  

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

2
0

2
2

/2
0

2
3

 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

 

St 
Aloysius 
RC 
Primary 

165  
172  

148 Ex 
Nursery 

171  
157 Ex 

Nursery 

172  
148 Ex 

Nursery 

174 
152 Ex 

Nursery 

181  
153 Ex 

Nursery 

176  
154 Ex 

Nursery 

174  
149 Ex 

Nursery 

180  
153 Ex 

Nursery 

171  
148 Ex 

Nursery 

St 
Illtyd's 
RC 
Primary  

155 
171  

140 Ex 
Nursery 

179  
147 Ex 

Nursery 

182  
151 Ex 

Nursery 

166  
146 Ex 

Nursery 

174  
153 Ex 

Nursery 

165  
142 Ex 

Nursery 

163  
141 Ex 

Nursery 

169  
145 Ex 

Nursery 

167  
144 Ex 

Nursery 

St 
Mary's 
RC 
Primary 

198 
206 

172 Ex 
Nursery 

214  
182 Ex 

Nursery 

211  
177 Ex 

Nursery 

232  
192 Ex 

Nursery 

226  
201 Ex 

Nursery 

217  
192 Ex 

Nursery 

222  
194 Ex 

Nursery 

222  
194 Ex 

Nursery 

219 
191 Ex 

Nursery 

Bishop 
Hedley 
High  

767 499 482 474 498 519 533 538 535 527 

 

School Projections 
 

Pupil projections anticipate the number on the roll in the primary schools will increase to 483 (excluding 
nursery) by January 2023 indicating a potential surplus capacity of 8.0%.  Within the secondary school 
sector, the pupil numbers are forecast to increase to 527 by January 2023, indicating a projected surplus 
capacity of 12.1 %.  
 
CURRENT PERFORMANCE 

 
The Council works closely with the governing bodies of all schools to ensure that standards in the schools 
are high, that teaching and learning is of a high quality and that leadership and governance is strong.  The 
Council works with two organisations in order to monitor the performance of schools and to support 
school improvement: 

 Central South Consortium (CSC), Joint Education Service 

 Estyn 
 
In the case of Catholic education it works with the Archdiocese of Cardiff to monitor Section 50 
inspections of the Catholic ethos of schools. 
 
The Central South Consortium (CSC) was established in September 2012.  The Consortium supports and 
challenges all schools in Merthyr Tydfil on behalf of the Council. 
 
Estyn 
 
Estyn is the office of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales.  It is a Crown body, 
established under the Education Act 1992.  Estyn is independent of the Welsh Government but receives 
its funding from the Welsh Government under section 104 of the Government Wales Act 1998. Estyn 
inspects quality and standards in education and training providers in Wales.   
 Page 137



Page 22 of 41 
 

Schools are inspected by Estyn as part of a national programme of school inspection.  The purpose of an 
inspection is to identify good features and shortcomings in schools in order that they may improve the 
quality of education offered and raise the standards achieved by their pupils (Estyn). 
 
In September 2017, new arrangements for inspecting all schools, independent specialist colleges, pupil 
referral units and work–based learning providers came into effect and the new cycle of inspections began 
in the autumn term 2018.  Schools are judged under five inspection areas: 
 

1. Standards 
2. Wellbeing and attitudes to learning 
3. Teaching and learning experiences 
4. Care, support and guidance 
5. Leadership and management 
 
In evaluations, inspectors will use a four-point scale: 

Judgement What the judgement means 

Excellent Very strong, sustained performance and practice 

Good Strong features, although minor aspects may require 

improvement 

Adequate and needs improvement Strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects 

require improvement 

Unsatisfactory and needs urgent 

improvement 

Important weaknesses outweigh strengths 

 
ST ILLTYD’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 
 
Estyn inspection October 2018 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

Inspection area Judgement 

Standards  Adequate and needs improvement  

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Good  

Teaching and learning experiences  Adequate and needs improvement  

Care, support and guidance  Good  

Leadership and management  Good  

 
Leaders place strong importance on ensuring pupils’ wellbeing and providing a high level of care, support 
and guidance for all pupils.  The executive Headteacher has been successful in developing a collaborative 
ethos among staff in the school and across the federation.  Leaders have developed and shared their clear 
vision very effectively and, as a result, everyone involved with the federation is committed to making 
identified improvements across both schools.  
 
Most pupils make good progress in developing their literacy skills, but they make slower progress in 
developing their numeracy, information and communication technology (ICT) and Welsh skills.  Nearly all 
pupils are happy, enjoy coming to school and benefit from positive working relationships with staff. Pupils 

Page 138



Page 23 of 41 
 

have good opportunities to suggest improvements to school life and teachers and school leaders value 
and act upon their opinions. 
 
Estyn’s inspection and monitoring visits reports for St Illtyd’s Primary School can be found at 
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753300 
 
Archdiocese Section 50 Inspection October 2018 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

How effective is the school in providing Catholic education? Adequate 

Catholic education at St Illtyd’s is adequate because: 

 The schools in the federation have a strong catholic ethos 

 The quality of leadership across the federation is good 

 St Illtyd’s is a welcoming and inclusive school 

 Positive relationships exist in the school community 

 The sense of community cohesion at the school is strong 

 Partnership with parents/carers and the parish community are good 
 

What are the school’s prospects for improvement? Good 

The school’s prospects for improvement are good because: 

 School leaders are committed to ensuring the best possible Religious Education provision for all 
pupils in the federation.  

 Leaders are receptive to feedback and show a desire to improve their teaching and pupils’ learning 
in Religious Education. 

 The enhanced opportunities provided by being part of a two-school federation to promote joint 
working, shared resources and common strategies/planning. 
 

 
 
ST MARY’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL – inspected in October 2018 
 
Estyn inspection October 2018 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

Inspection area Judgement 

Standards  Good 

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Good 

Teaching and learning experiences  Good 

Care, support and guidance  Good 

Leadership and management  Good 

 
Most pupils make good progress as they move through the school.  Many pupils, particularly those with 
English as an additional language, achieve high standards in literacy and numeracy.  Nearly all pupils 
behave well show care and consideration for others and have positive attitudes towards learning. Most 
teaching is successful in helping pupils improve their work.  Most teachers provide a wide range of 
stimulating learning experiences that engage pupils successfully. In a few classes, there is some 
particularly effective teaching.  
 

Page 139

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753300


Page 24 of 41 
 

Leaders place strong importance on ensuring pupils’ wellbeing and providing a high level of care, support 
and guidance for all pupils.  The Executive Headteacher has been successful in developing a collaborative 
ethos among staff in the school and across the federation.  Leaders have developed and shared their clear 
vision very effectively and, as a result, everyone involved with the federation is committed to making 
identified improvements across both schools. 
 
Inspection and monitoring visits reports for St Mary’s Primary School can be found at  
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753306 
 
Archdiocese Section 50 Inspection October 2018 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

How effective is the school in providing Catholic education? Good 

Catholic education at St Marys is good because: 

 The schools in the federation have a strong catholic ethos 

 The quality of leadership across the federation is good. 

 Standards in Religious Education are good. 

 St Marys is a welcoming and inclusive school 

 Positive relationships exist in the school community; 

 the sense of community cohesion at the school is strong 

 partnership with parents/carers and the parish community is good 

What are the school’s prospects for improvement? Good 

The school’s prospects for improvement are good because: 

 School Leaders are committed to ensuring the best possible RE provision for all pupils in the 
federation.  

 Leaders are receptive to feedback and show a desire to improve their teaching and pupils’ learning 
in Religious Education. 

 The enhanced opportunities provided by being part of a two-school federation to promote joint 
working, shared resources and common strategies/planning.  

 
BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH SCHOOL  
 
Estyn inspection November 2018 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

Inspection area Judgement 

Standards  Excellent 

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Excellent 

Teaching and learning experiences  Good 

Care, support and guidance  Excellent 

Leadership and management  Good 

 
Bishop Hedley Catholic High School successfully fulfils its aims of encouraging and educating its pupils in 
an extremely caring and inclusive Christian ethos.  Pupils are proud to be members of the school; they 
engage positively with their learning and behave exceptionally well.  They make strong progress in 
developing their knowledge, understanding and skills, and the standards that they reach overall are well 
above expectations.  Pupils also develop strong social skills and they have a particularly mature 
understanding and respect for people from other backgrounds, faiths and traditions.  
 Page 140

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753306


Page 25 of 41 
 

Leaders and staff provide strong direction and support for the achievement of high standards and the 
exceptional level of care, support and guidance for pupils.  The overall quality of teaching is consistently 
effective, as is the overall learning experience.  The valuable and extensive programme of professional 
learning activities successfully promotes the school as a strong learning community, for both pupils and 
staff. 
 
Inspection and monitoring visits reports for Bishop Hedley High School can be found at 
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6754600  
 
Archdiocese Section 50 Inspection November 2013 
 
Inspection Summary 
 

How effective is the school in providing Catholic education?   Good 

Catholic Education at Bishop Hedley is good with some outstanding features because:  

 the school is a welcoming and inclusive community which has an excellent Catholic 
ethos into which all are welcomed. 

 provision for prayer and worship is excellent. Students experience a wide range of 
liturgical celebrations and opportunities for prayer, all of which contribute strongly to their spiritual and 
moral development.  

 students understand and appreciate the distinctiveness of the school, its ethos and 
what they believe they gain from it. 

 effective pastoral care promotes student well-being. 

 the headteacher has a clear vision of the school’s mission and shares it with the rest of 
the school. She is well supported by the deputy head and the leadership team. 

 standards in Religious Education are good and are improving. The students make good 
progress. Results at KS5 are very good. 

 the quality of teaching in the Religious Education department is good with some 
excellent features. 

 there is very good support from local parish priests. 

What are the school’s prospects for improvement?   Good 

Capacity to improve is good because: 

 areas previously identified as needing improvement have been addressed. 

 very good leadership and vision is provided by the Headteacher and the leadership 
team. They are ably supported by an effective Head of Religious Education. 

 the school’s self-evaluation document is an accurate reflection of the school’s 
strengths, where areas for development have already been identified. 

 there is a team of dedicated Religious Education teachers who are committed to drive 
the department forward and raise standards. 

 the whole staff displays a commitment to Catholic education. 

 guidance, challenge and support is provided by the governors. 

 the ethos of the school recognises and enhances the value of each individual in the 
school within a culture of continuous improvement 

 
 
  
 
  

Page 141

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6754600


Page 26 of 41 
 

ST ALOYSIUS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 
 
Estyn inspection June 2013 
 
St Aloysius was last inspected in June 2013, under the previous inspection framework, and inspectors 
aimed to answer three key questions and provided an overall judgement on the school’s current 
performance and on its prospects for improvement: 
Key Question 1: How good are the outcomes? 
Key Question 2: How good is provision? 
Key Question 3: How good are leadership and management? 
 
In evaluations, inspectors used a four-point scale: 

Judgement What the judgement means 

Excellent Many strengths, including significant examples of sector-leading practice 

Good Many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement 

Adequate Strengths outweigh areas of improvement 

Unsatisfactory Important areas for improvement outweigh strengths 

 

Inspection Summary 
 

The school’s current performance Good 

The school’s prospects for improvement Good 

 
Current Performance 

 The school’s current performance is good because: 
o standards in mathematics and English are high, particularly in pupils’ writing skills; 
o most pupils make good progress from their starting points; 
o pupils who need extra help with their learning make rapid progress; and 
o most teaching is good and, in a very few cases, it is excellent. 
 
Prospects for improvement 

 The school’s prospects for improvement are good because: 
o the school has a strong recent track record of raising standards; 
o it has effective systems for self-evaluation; 
o leaders and mangers challenge underperformance well; and 
o they monitor the school’s progress against its targets effectively. 
 

Key Question Judgement 

Key Question 1:  How good are outcomes? 
 Standards – Good/Wellbeing – Adequate  

Good 

Key Question 2:  How good is provision? 
 Learning experiences – Adequate/Teaching – Good/Care, support and guidance – 
Good/ Learning environment – Adequate 

Good 

Key Question 3  How good are Leadership & Management? 
 Leadership – Adequate/Improving quality – Good/Partnership working – Good/ 
 Resource Management – Good 

Good 

 
The latest inspection report for St Aloysius RC Primary School can be found at:  
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753307 
Archdiocese Section 50 Inspection June 2013 Page 142

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/provider/6753307


Page 27 of 41 
 

 

Inspection Summary 
 

How effective is the school in providing Catholic Education? Adequate 

The school’s current performance is adequate because: 
 the school is a welcoming community 
 the Religious Education coordinator has a clear vision for the future development of Religious 
Education at the school 
 prayer and worship are an integral part of school life 
 governors and school leaders are committed to the further development of curriculum Religious 
Education and the Catholic life of the school 
 partnership with parents/carers and the parish community is good 
 pastoral care systems are strong 
However 
 Pupil outcomes in Religious Education are adequate overall 
 Recent developments in curriculum Religious Education are still in the early stages 
 Few pupils have ownership of the school mission statement 
 The use of IT, Welsh and differentiated learning activities in Religious Education are under-developed 
 The process for monitoring, evaluating and reviewing Religious Education and the Catholic life of the 
school is under-developed 
 Resources to support the Catholic life of the school and curriculum Religious Education are adequate 

What are the school’s prospects for improvement?  Adequate 

The school’s prospects for improvement are adequate because they have strengths that outweigh areas 
for development. 

 The Headteacher, senior leadership team and Religious Education coordinator are committed to 
improving standards in Religious Education throughout the school. 

 Outcomes for pupils are generally adequate and improvements are at an early stage of development. 

 Recent developments in the monitoring, evaluation and review of Religious Education are good. 
However, self-evaluation is not yet embedded in the life of the school.  

 Recent developments to learning and teaching in Religious Education, introduced by the coordinator, 
are having a positive impact on standards but are still in the very early stages. 

 
Welsh Government categorisation of schools 
 
In 2014 Welsh Government introduced a new categorisation system that considered each school’s 
standards alongside the school’s capacity to improve to understand the level of support that 
organisations such as the CSC need to give the school in order that they achieve their targets. 
 
The categorisation system is described below: 

Category What the Category means 

Green 
A highly effective school, which is well run, has strong leadership and is clear about 
its priorities for improvement. 

Yellow 
An effective school which is already doing well and knows the areas it needs to 
improve 

Amber 
A school in need of improvement which needs help to identify the steps to improve 
or to make change happen more quickly 

Red 
A school in need of greatest improvement and will receive immediate, intensive 
support. 

 

Page 143



Page 28 of 41 
 

To determine the colour-coded category as explained in the table above, schools are placed in one of four 
groups for bringing about improvement (A-D) with one being the highest grouping for standards and ‘A’ 
being the highest for improvement capacity. 
 
For further information about the categorisation scheme, please see Welsh Government’s parents’ guide 
to the National School Categorisation System: http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-
guide-en.pdf 
 
The categorisation for 2017/18 for each school is shown below 
 

School 
Improvement 

Capacity 
Overall Category 

 

St Aloysius B Yellow 

St Illtyd’s B Yellow 

St Mary’s A Green 

Bishop Hedley A Green 

 
The following table provides information about the additional learning needs of current pupils 
 

2017/18 
St Aloysius RC 

Primary 
St Illtyd's 

RC Primary 
St Mary's 

RC Primary 

Bishop 
Hedley 

High 
Wales 

Percentage of 
total cohort who 
have Special 
Educational 
Needs 

School Action 
 

13.8% 9.0% 8.2% 17.7% 12.4% 

School Action 
Plus 
 

5.7% 6.0% 3.9% 7.7% 7.4% 

Statemented 
 

0.0% 0.0% 0.9% 0.8% 2.8% 

Total  19.5% 15% 13.0% 26.2% 22.6% 
 

It would be expected that a 3-16 provision would allow for improved continuity of support for learners 
with additional needs and support these learners through transition from one key stage to the next. 
 
School staff with responsibility for Additional Learning Needs (ALN) would have the opportunity to 
develop stronger relationships with parents/guardians from an early age. 
 
The condition of school buildings and facilities 
 

The Council aims to provide the best possible facilities for children in Merthyr Tydfil to support their 
learning.  Since 2014/15 a five-year rolling programme of building reviews have been undertaken.  The 
condition survey involved a visual assessment of all exposed parts of the buildings to identify any 
significant defects and items of disrepair. 
 

School Type of School 
Condition of School 

Building 
Cost of Identified 

Repairs 

St Aloysius RC Primary Voluntary Aided B £49,050 

St Illtyd's RC Primary  
Voluntary Aided 
Federated With St Mary's RC Primary 

C £194,862 

St Mary's RC Primary 
Voluntary Aided 
Federated With St Illtyd's RC Primary 

B £157,342 

Page 144

http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-guide-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-guide-en.pdf


Page 29 of 41 
 

Bishop Hedley High  Voluntary Aided C- £1,337,821 

 

THE INTENDED IMPACT ON EDUCATION OUTCOMES 

 
Any school organisational change should be able to articulate the educational benefits that the change 
will offer, particularly in relation to overall improvements in standards, but also in terms of the social and 
emotional development of children, which would usually impact beneficially on their overall achievement 
and outcomes.  
 
It is the Council’s view that creating an all through 3-16 school will:  
 
Improve educational outcomes by 

 providing teaching and support staff with more opportunity to develop professionally;  

 enabling greater opportunities for staff to move between key stages and further develop 
expertise;  

 providing a more appropriate curriculum and wider extra-curricular opportunities which will 
improve attendance and educational outcomes;  
 
Improve educational provision by 

 providing the conditions that will enable a broader and more diverse curriculum to be developed 
to better meet the needs of the school’s young people and in ways that will be viable and sustainable 
over the longer term;  

 improving the range and quality of facilities and learning resources available to the benefit of all 
pupils;  

 enabling greater continuity of support for vulnerable groups of pupils;  

 allowing  for the potential for financial savings in terms of staffing structures and purchase of 
services, which accrue to a larger school;  

 broadening the range of extra-curricular and out-of-school activities and develop them in ways 
that are sustainable over the longer term;  

 continuing to embed the catholic ethos across all age ranges within the school 
 
Improve leadership and management by  

 providing the opportunity for the headteacher to distribute key leadership tasks such as child 
protection, literacy, numeracy, special educational needs etc to a greater number of staff and across 
phases of education;  

 creating leadership opportunities for other staff, and for others to specialise in key areas, which 
will enhance educational provision and outcomes;  

 allowing teaching and support staff access to a wider range of responsibilities:  
 
Why a 3-16 school? 
In bringing schools together be that through amalgamation, federation or informal clustering, the over-
riding purpose has to be to improve teaching and learning and pupil outcomes. The benefits of 3-16 
schools can be summarised as follows:  

 by having a common ethos pupils do not have to adapt to a new culture on moving schools, in the 
case of this proposal this would also strengthen the catholic ethos and culture.  

 through coherent and consistent styles of teaching and learning across the school pupils’ learning 
experiences are more stable 

 the comprehensive and common system for assessing, recording and tracking pupil progress 
throughout his/her schooling ensures a more preventative intervention process is available and therefore 

Page 145



Page 30 of 41 
 

pupils with additional needs can maintain relationships with supporting agencies throughout their school 
career if required; 

 a greater flexibility to provide the appropriate curriculum for individuals regardless of age;  

 increased access for pupils to a range of specialist accommodation, facilities and learning 
resources;  

 a common attendance and behaviour policy means that routines are established and values 
understood from an early age;  

 parents may remain more involved in their children’s education as they do not have to establish 
new relationships with staff.  
 
The great strength of all-through education is the continuity of educational experience which negates the 
transition “dips” in pupil performance.  A 3-16 school provides the opportunity to provide a “bridge” 
between key stages in order to create a seamless transition for pupils in terms of curriculum planning, 
learning and teaching.  It can allow for a significant sharing of subject expertise and primary pedagogy in 
particular across key stages 2 and 3. 
 
What about having primary and secondary aged pupils on one site? 
It must be emphasised that a 3-16 school would not result in young children sharing playgrounds or break 
times with much older pupils. If the proposal is accepted there would be consideration to safeguarding of 
all learners within the new build. It would expected that there would be a clear distinction between the 
secondary aspect of the site and the primary aspect however, all pupils would be given have the 
opportunity to develop their curricular skills through the use of specialised facilities e.g. science and 
technology. Secondary phase pupils will also be able to have learning opportunities in the primary phase 
especially around any care related vocational activities and meeting some of the requirements of the 
Welsh Baccalaureate.  
 
What about the impact on other ‘partner’ primary schools? 
It would be expected that as part of the proposals the schools the wider catchment area schools would 
have the opportunity to strengthen their relationship and transition arrangements. This is an area that 
officers from the Archdiocese are keen to develop and they alongside the senior leadership of the school 
would work closely with all schools to ensure that pupils transferring at year 7 are not disadvantaged. 
 
What about the impact on pupils? 
The principal changes will be improved transition between educational phases and an improvement in 
the quality of the educational provision, and this should have a significant impact on the educational 
performance of the pupils. There will be no changes to the current provision of home to school transport 
and the Council’s policy regarding free school transport will continue to apply. There is a statutory duty 
placed upon the local authority (LA) to provide learners with free transport to their nearest suitable 
school if they reside beyond safe “walking distance” to that school. The law relating to safe “walking 
distance” is defined as two miles for learners of compulsory school age receiving primary education and 
three miles for learners of compulsory school age receiving secondary education. 
 
What about the impact on staff? 
If the proposal is accepted, the schools involved in the proposal will close and the Archdiocese will be 
asked to open a new school with a new governing body. Should the proposal proceed, a temporary 
governing body will need to be appointed for the interim period until the new school opens.  
 
The temporary governing body will appoint a new headteacher, who will then formulate and propose the 
leadership, management and staffing structures for the new school. In line with statutory guidance it 
would be advisable that appointments at Headteacher and deputy Headteacher level are advertised 
nationally. The Council and the Archdiocese will recommend that if the proposal is accepted, that the 

Page 146



Page 31 of 41 
 

temporary governing body of the new school “ring fences” for recruitment, all other teaching and 
associated staff posts to staff within the existing schools in the first instance. 
 
WHAT ARE THE ADVANTAGES OF THIS PROPOSAL? 

 
The proposal is considered to have the following educational benefits:  

 responsibility 
 Opportunities to provide staff with continuing professional development opportunities by 
enabling them to gain a single Leadership Team and Governing Body, supporting a Headteacher who 
would have a ‘whole school’ experience within an ‘all through’ learning environment 
 A single set of policies and code of behaviour consistent across all year groups 
 Continuity of provision, reflecting a single ethos and culture 
 Releases funding which could be reinvested into learning and teaching 
 Streamlined communication between parents and staff with a single point of contact 
throughout their statutory school career 
 
WHAT ARE THE DISADVANTAGES OF THIS PROPOSAL? 

 
It is acknowledged that there may be some potential disadvantages or risks that will have to be managed 
by the school and the Council to avoid any detrimental impact: 

 Management of staff and resources may be disrupted during the restructuring process, although 
the Council’s experience in the amalgamation of schools will ensure that disruption is kept to a minimum 
and that the children’s education does not suffer 

 The reduction to one Headteacher could impact upon accessibility to the leadership for staff, 
parents and pupils; although the new senior leadership structure would ensure accessibility for all 
stakeholders. 
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
The options that have been considered are:- 
1. Maintain the status quo 
2. Undertake refurbishment of all schools 
3. Federate all the primary schools named in the proposal and remain on current sites 
4. Federate all schools named in the proposal and remain on current sites 
5. Consult on one Catholic secondary school across Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf 
6. Create a new 3-16 Catholic school, ultimately on one site 
 

The main advantages and disadvantage of each option are outlined below; 
 Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 1 – Status Quo  No capital investment required 
by the Council;  

 No disruption to the pupils, 
parents and the staff;  

 No impact on home to school 
transport;  

 The schools have a strong 
tradition and are well supported in the 
local communities. 

 Does not address the need to reduce the high 
number of surplus places in the Secondary school; 

 Poor condition of St Illtyd’s and Bishop Hedley 
in particular would not be improved; 

 Transition between KS2 & KS3 still required. 

Option 2 – Undertake It would be straightforward to progress  High cost to the Council; 

Page 147



Page 32 of 41 
 

 Advantages Disadvantages 

refurbishment of all 
schools 

as there would be no changes required 
to school reorganisation 

 Could not be completed at same time – 
would be a long process; 

 Does not address the need to reduce the 
high number of surplus places in the Secondary 
school;  

 High disruption to staff and pupils whilst 
work was going on; 

 Transition between KS2 & KS3 still 
required. 

Option 3 - Federate all 
the primary schools 
named in the proposal 
and remain on current 
sites 

 Education provision would 
continue as present;  

 Opportunities for sharing staff 
expertise and good practice;  

 Minimum disruption to pupils, 
parents and staff;  

 No impact on home to school 
transport. 

 Does not address the need to reduce the 
high number of surplus places in the Secondary 
school; 

 Transition between KS2 & KS3 still 
required; 

 Poor condition of St Illtyd’s and Bishop 
Hedley in particular would not be improved. 

Option - Federate all 
the schools named in 
the proposal and 
remain on current 
sites 

 Education provision would 
continue as present;  

 Opportunities for sharing staff 
expertise and good practice;  

 Minimum disruption to pupils, 
parents and staff;  

 No impact on home to school 
transport. 

 Does not address the need to reduce the 
high number of surplus places in the Secondary 
school; 

 Poor condition of St Illtyd’s and Bishop 
Hedley in particular would not be improved. 
 

Option 5 - Consult on 
one Catholic 
secondary school 
across Merthyr Tydfil 
and Rhondda Cynon 
Taf 

Education provision for primary pupils 
would continue as present. 
 
 

 Poor condition of primary schools would 
not be improved; 

 Transition between KS2 & KS3 still 
required; 

 More travelling for pupils with related 
cost in time and transport. 

Option 6 – Close all 
schools in proposal 
and create a new 3-16 
Catholic  school by 
refurbishing on 
current Bishop Hedley 
site. 

 Removes surplus places in 
Secondary school; 

 Enables the primary and 
secondary pupils to share specialist 
facilities; 

 Improves transition from KS2 
to KS3; 

 Allows the Catholic ethos to be 
enhanced. 

 3-16 schools are relatively new concept 
across Wales and parents will have concerns over 
how their children will be supported within this 
structure. 

 Current Bishop Hedley site not big enough 
for one school in one place – would still need split 
upper and lower sites 

Option 7 – close all 
schools in proposal 
and build on new site 
– The Greenie 

 Removes surplus places in 
Secondary school; 

 Enables the primary and 
secondary pupils to share specialist 
facilities; 

 Improves transition from KS2 
to KS3; 

 Allows the Catholic ethos to be 
enhanced. 

 3-16 schools are relatively new concept 
across Wales and parents will have concerns over 
how their children will be supported within this 
structure. 

 Allows for a new school to be built.  
School would have access to own playing facilities 
as well as access to neighbouring community 
playing fields 

 
  

Page 148



Page 33 of 41 
 

 
A number of sites were considered as part of this proposal:- 
1. Land north of Lakeside Gardens 

 Welsh Water trunk mains run through the site – it would be cost prohibitive to divert this 
2. Storm town, Trelewis 

 Allocated for housing in Local Development Plan 
3. Cwmblacks, Twnyrodyn  

 Currently in negotiations with housing developer 
4. The Greenie, land between Galon Uchaf and Gurnos Estate 

 Design would need to include car park and drop-off facility 
5. Heartlands, Dowlais 

 Would cause considerable traffic congestion 
6. Expanding on current St Illtyd’s site 

 Existing junction not suitable, may impact on current culverts and foul sewers 
 
On analysis of these options – Option 7 is the preferred option of the Council and the Archdiocese and as 
such this is the proposal that is being consulted upon. 
 
TRANSITION PLAN IF THE PROPOSALS ARE APPROVED 

 
The proposals would mean that the new school would open at the start of the autumn term in September 
2020.  It is anticipated that if the proposal is fully approved at all stages a final decision will be made in 
March 2020 which would allow for the appointment of the Headteacher for September 2020. 
 

All pupils on roll at the four schools would transfer to the new school in September 2020, except for 
pupils entering reception for the first time, where parents will have to apply for a place in the reception 
class, in-line with the normal admissions procedures. 
 
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROPOSAL 

 
 Potential difficulties in bringing together three different sets of working practice into the one 
school 
 The challenge of operating across separate buildings 
 Possible resistance to or disengagement with the change process amongst stakeholders 
 

The challenges outlined above will be managed by the Headteacher, Senior Leadership Team and 
Governing Body of the amalgamated school, with support from the Council and Archdiocese.  All the 
schools have effective and flexible working practices and already have strong working partnerships.  The 
Headteacher, Senior Leadership Team and Governing Body will need to adopt a transparent and equitable 
change management process to ensure that all who work, teach and are taught in both schools have 
minimum disruption through the process of this proposal and any ultimate changes 
 
ADMISSIONS AND CATCHMENT AREA ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Voluntary aided schools are maintained by the local authority but are governed by the Roman Catholic 
Archdiocese in partnership with the local authority.  The admissions authority for the new school will be 
the governing body and they will draw up the admission criteria. The ethos of the school will be Catholic.   
  

Page 149



Page 34 of 41 
 

The school will be founded by the Catholic Church to primarily provide education for children of Catholic 
families residing within the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil at primary age and included neighbouring 
parishes at secondary age.  The school is conducted by its Governing Body as part of the Catholic Church 
in accordance with its Trust Deed and Instrument of Government and seeks at all times to be a witness to 
Jesus Christ.  All parents applying for a place will be asked to respect this ethos and its importance to the 
school community.  This will not affect the right of parents who are not of the faith of this school to apply 
for and be considered for a place. 
 
The catchment area for the school will remain the same. 
 
FINANCE 

 

Running costs 
 
The amalgamation of the four schools would initially result in funding continuing to be allocated to each 
school as currently. This would be on a transitional basis until the single site school is ready to be 
occupied. 
The new school would be required to pool all funding made available in order to benefit from a single 
budget under the responsibility of a single governing body. All running costs of the school during the 
period until the new school site is opened will be taken from this pooled budget 
 
A revised 3-16 school formula funding model will then be provided to meet the needs of the single school 
site. The detail of this funding model requires further discussion and agreement and will be considered as 
part of the business case process. 
 
Capital Investment 
 
Whilst this proposal requires no capital investment initially it is linked to the Council’s 21st Century Band B 
Programme 2019-2026, approved by WG, which includes a proposed new build 3-16 VA school estimated 
to cost £27 Million.  
 
The £27M capital investment is required to be provided by both WG and the MTCBC as follows; WG - 
£23M (85%), MTCBC - £4M (15%) 
 
WG and the Council have both set aside the required monies for this new build project, subject to 
successful business cases, as part of the overall Band B programme. 
 
The next steps to secure this funding from WG requires the local authority to complete the detailed 
business case process involving three business cases; Strategic Outline Case (SOC), Outline Business Case 
(OBC) and the Full Business Case (FBC). Each of these business cases is subject to WG approval. 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES MATTERS 

 
The Council will support the Governors, Headteachers and Staff at both schools with any changes that 
may be required. 
 
All schools will have access to the Merthyr Tydfil CBC Human Resources department’s policies and 
procedures such as the Redundancy Policy.  Human Resources services will work closely with Governors 
to ensure regular and clear communication takes place. 
  Page 150



Page 35 of 41 
 

 
TRANSPORT MATTERS 

 
As there will be no change to the overall capacity of the schools or any extension to current facilities it is 
not envisaged that there will be any changes to traffic or congestion around the school until the new 
build is completed.  Initially, there will be no impact on pupils’ journeys as a result of the proposal and 
available walking routes to school will remain the same, changes when the new build is finalised will be 
mitigated at that time. 
 
LEARNER TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Under these proposals there are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the transport of children to 
and from schools. 

 
The Council has a statutory duty to provide pupils with free school transport to the nearest available 
school if they reside beyond ‘walking distance’ to that school.  The law relating to walking distance is 
defined as two miles for primary age.  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council currently provides 
transport for primary age pupils residing over two miles from their nearest or designated catchment area 
primary school. 
 
The Council does not provide free school transport for nursery-age children other than those children 
who have a Statement of Special Educational Need, which can be found at 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/special-educational-needs-sen/trafnidiaeth-
gyfer-disgyblion-sydd-ag-anghenion-addysgol-arbennig-anabledd-aneu-gyflwr-meddygol/ 
 
IMPACT OF THE PROPOSAL ON THE WELSH LANGUAGE 

 
A programme of utilising incidental Welsh will be developed across the Foundation Phase curriculum with 
use of the language gaining in frequency and complexity as the children move through the year groups 
into Key Stage 2, this will be further developed as the children move into Key Stages 3 and 4. 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
An Integrated Impact Assessment will be carried out as part of this consultation and will be included in 
the consultation report. 
 
CONSIDERING COMMUNITY IMPACT 

 
The new 3-16 school will provide the opportunity to enhance community engagement across an extended 
age range. The current facilities available for pupils, the community and parents will not be adversely 
affected by these proposals. 
  

Page 151

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/special-educational-needs-sen/trafnidiaeth-gyfer-disgyblion-sydd-ag-anghenion-addysgol-arbennig-anabledd-aneu-gyflwr-meddygol/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/special-educational-needs-sen/trafnidiaeth-gyfer-disgyblion-sydd-ag-anghenion-addysgol-arbennig-anabledd-aneu-gyflwr-meddygol/


Page 36 of 41 
 

 
KEY DATES 

 
The feedback from this consultation will be collated and summarised and a report presented to the 
Council’s Cabinet. The consultation report will be available for everybody to view on the Council website.  
Copies can also be obtained on request by using the contact details within this document.  There are a 
number of further stages that the Council have to go through before a final decision is made by the 
Council which are set out below.  The proposed timetable may be subject to change.   
 

Timescale Statutory Process 

29th April 2019 Consultation document published 

30th June 2019 Closing date for receipt of comments / points of view on the proposal 

June/July 2019 
 
 

Consultation report presented to Cabinet (publication of Consultation Report) 
Cabinet to decide whether to approve publishing a Statutory Notice.   
If approved – proceed to Statutory Notice 
If not approved – proposal to be withdrawn/reassessed 

June/July 2019 

Publish Statutory Notice 
If approved, the Statutory Notice will be published on the Council’s website and 
posted in the named schools.  Copies of the Notice will be made available to the 
relevant schools to distribute to pupils, parents/carers and members of staff 

June/July 2019 Closing date for receipt of objections to the Proposal 

September 2019 

Where objections received: 
Objection report presented to Cabinet 
Cabinet to determine proposal in light of 
the objections received and the contend of 
the Objection Report 

Where no objections received: 
Report presented to Cabinet 
Cabinet to determine proposal 
Where objections received refer to 
Welsh Government – 28 day 
period 

October/November 
2019  

Publication of Cabinet Decision if no objections/Publication of Decision if 
referral to Welsh Government.  

1st September 2020 Implementation of Proposal 

 
CONSULTATION PERIOD 

 
The consultation period for this proposal will run from 29th April – 30th June 2019.  See page 7 for further 
details of how to respond and make your views known. 
 

Following the consultation period the Archdiocese and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council will 
consider the responses.  A full report will be published on the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
website.  Hard copies of the report will also be available on request.  The report will summarise the issues 
raised by consultees during the consultation period and provide the Council’s response to these issues.  
The report will also contain Estyn’s view of the proposals. 
 

The Council’s Cabinet will consider the consultation report and decide whether or not to proceed with 
the proposals. 
 

If the Cabinet decides to continue with the proposals the Council must publish a Statutory Notice. 
  

Page 152



Page 37 of 41 
 

 
STATUTORY NOTICE 

 
The Statutory Notice would be published on the Council’s website and posted at or near the main 
entrance to the schools that are named as part of the consultation process.  Copies of the notice would 
be made available to all schools in the proposal to distribute to pupils, parents, guardians, and staff 
members (the school may also distribute the notice by email).  The notice will set out the details of the 
proposals and invite anyone who wishes to object to do so in writing within the period specified. 
 
DETERMINATION OF THE PROPOSALS 

 
The Cabinet will determine the proposals. Cabinet may decide to approve, reject or approve the 
proposals with modifications.  In doing so, Cabinet will take into account any statutory objections that it 
has received. 
 
DECISION NOTIFICATION 

 
Following determination of proposals all interested parties will be informed of the decision which will be 
published electronically on the Council’s website. 
 
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 

 
Who will be the governors of the new school? 
A temporary Governing Body will be established should the proposal go ahead. A new Governing Body will 
be established when the school opens in September 2020. 
 
Who will be the Headteacher of the new school? 
The temporary Governing Body will work with the Archdiocese and local authority to appoint the 
Headteacher of the new school. The aim is for the Headteacher to be appointed in order to start on 
September 1st 2020. 
 
What will happen with the staff? 
It is anticipated that the staff of the schools would be incorporated into the new school. Details of the 
staffing structure would be decided upon by the Headteacher and Governing Body of the new school. 
 

What will the proposal mean for children currently attending the four schools? Will my child be offered 
a place at the new school? 
All children attending the four schools at present will be guaranteed a place at the new school. 
All families who wish to apply for a place in the reception classes as part of the 2019/20 primary school 
place admissions process should follow the normal procedures for the four schools as set out in the ‘A 
Guide to Policy and School Admission Arrangement 2018-2019‘ which can be found at 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/admissions-and-appeals/school-admissions/ 
 
What will the admission arrangements be for children applying for a place in the Reception Class of the 
primary school for September 2020? 
The current governing bodies will continue to be the admitting authority for September 2020.  Children 
can start full time education in the September following their fourth birthday. 
 
  

Page 153

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/admissions-and-appeals/school-admissions/


Page 38 of 41 
 

What will the admission arrangements be for children applying to the Nursery Class of the new school? 
For September 2019 parents should apply through the current admissions policy of the schools.  From 
September 2020 a new admissions policy will be drawn up for future admissions. 
 
Will there be any changes to the local catchment area if the proposal goes ahead? 
There will be no change the catchment area because of the proposal. 
 
What will be the name of the school?  
The temporary Governing Body in conjunction with current staff and pupils will seek views on the name 
of the school.  This will be undertaken in conjunction with the Archdiocese who formally open the school. 
 
What about school uniform? 
This discussion will be had with the temporary Governing Body in conjunction with the current leaders of 
the schools – options will be considered and a consensus taken on the best way forward for September 
2020. 
 
What about policies? 

This will be a decision of the Governing Body and the Headteacher of the school.  The school will review 
its policies to ensure that all children in the school are covered by the school’s governance and 
safeguarding policies. 
 

How will links between the schools and the individual parishes be retained – what role will the 
Archdiocese play to ensure that parishes do not feel isolated from the process? 
Whereas Catholic primary schools usually link with the individual parish from which their pupils are 
drawn, a Catholic secondary school covers a wider catchment area and will normally have links with a 
number of parishes.  In the same way a 3-16 school will have links with all local parishes. 
 
The membership of the temporary Governing Body will be drawn from all the parishes. 
  

Page 154



Page 39 of 41 
 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM 

 
 

CREATION OF A SINGLE 3-16 CATHOLIC SCHOOL WITHIN MERTHYR TYDFIL 
 
Your views matter, please tell us what you think about the proposals by: 

 completing the online response form at https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/single-3-16-catholic-
school/ 

 answering the consultation questions and adding your points of view on this form, which should be 
returned to the address at the bottom of the form.  
 
Please note that all comments must contain the full name and full postal address of the person making 
the comments. 
 

The closing date for responses to this consultation is 30th June 2019. 
 

Unfortunately no responses received after this date can be considered by the Council. 
 

Consultation responses will not be counted as objections to the proposals, although considered by Cabinet 
when making its decision. 
 

Objections can only be registered following publication of a Statutory Notice. 
 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
 

  Name of current School 

1.  Parent   

2.  Pupil   

3.  Governor   

4.  Member of staff   

5.  Local resident   

6.  Other (please specify)    
 

QUESTIONS 
1. Do you support the proposal to create a 3-16 Catholic faith school from September 2020 by 
discontinuing St Aloysius RC, St Illtyd’s RC, St Mary’s RC and Bishop Hedley RC Schools and opening a 3-16 
provision initially on the sites of the existing schools? 
 
Yes  ☐ No  ☐ 

 

If you support or do not support the proposal then please explain why. 
______________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________  
  

Page 155

https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/single-3-16-catholic-school/
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/single-3-16-catholic-school/


Page 40 of 41 
 

 

2. If you would like to suggest any changes or alternatives to the proposals, please detail these 
below. 
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
3. Any other comments 
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Thank you for your comments. 
 
Please indicate if you wish to be notified of publication of the consultation report. 
 
Yes  ☐ No  ☐ 
 
NB - Please return this form to the address below no later than Sunday 30th June 2019. 
 

Chief Education Officer, Learning Department, Unit 5, Pentrebach, Merthyr Tydfil CF48 4TQ 
 
 
NOTES  

 
 
Notes on Consultation Document 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EQUALITY MONITORING FORM 
 

 
What is your gender? 
 

 Female 
 Male 

 
At birth were you described as? 
 
 
 

 Female 
 Male 
 Intersex 
 Prefer not to say 

Disability 
 
Are your day-to-day activities limited because of 
a physical or mental health condition, illness or 
disability, which has lasted, or is expected to 
last, 12 months or more? 

 Yes – limited a lot 
 Yes – limited a little 
 No 
 Prefer not to say 

Page 156



Page 41 of 41 
 

Age 
 
What is your date of birth? 
 

 

National Identity 
 
How would you describe your national identity? 
 
 Wels
h 

 
 Englis
h 

 
 Scottis
h 

 
 Norther
n Irish 

 
 Britis
h 

 
 Oth
er (please 
specify 
 
 

 
 Pref
er not to  
say 

Ethnic Group 
 
Ethnicity – how would you describe your ethnic group? Please circle your choice 
 
White: 
 
 Welsh / English / Scottish / Northern Irish / British 
 

 
 Irish 

 
 Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

 
 Any other white background (please 
specify) 
 
 

 
Mixed/multiple ethnic groups: 
 
 White and Black Caribbean 
 

 
 White and Black African 

 
 White and Asian 

 
 Any other Asian background (please specify) 
 
 
Asian/Asian British: 
 
 Indian 

 
 Pakistani 

 
 Bangladeshi 

 
 Chinese 
 

 
 Any other Asian background (please specify) 
 
 
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: 
 
 African 

 
 Caribbean 

 
 Any other Black/African/Caribbean background (please specify) 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Glebeland Place, Town Centre – Proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 A request has been received from an elected member to introduce an on-street 

disabled only parking bay restriction in Glebeland Place opposite Merthyr Tydfil 
Combined Court Centre. 

 
1.2 A disabled parking only restriction would assist accessibility and people parking 

closer to the town centre, including the civic centre and court centre. 
 
1.3 The introduction of a parking bay would provide space for approximately two 

vehicles. 
 
1.4 The restriction would be available to vehicles displaying a blue badge and indicated 

by a traffic sign and roadmarking. 
 
1.5 Enforcement would lie with the Council’s Civil Enforcement Officers and included 

with other restrictions in the town centre and County Borough. 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Public Notice of the County Borough Council’s intention to make a permanent Traffic 

Regulation Order (as detailed in the schedule at Appendix A) under the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984, be approved. 

Date Written 19th August 2019 ** 

Report Author Martin Stark 

Service Area Engineering 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 159

Agenda Item 7



2.2 The permanent Traffic Regulation Order (as detailed in the schedule at Appendix A) 
is made subject to no objections being received, be approved. 

 
2.3 Provided no objections are received, the permanent Traffic Regulation Order (as 

detailed in the schedule at Appendix A) is presented to the appropriate Committee 
as soon as practicable, be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 A request has been received from an elected member to introduce an on-street 

disabled only parking bay restriction in Glebeland Place opposite Merthyr Tydfil 
Combined Court Centre. 

 
3.2 A disabled parking only restriction would assist accessibility and people parking 

closer to the town centre, including the civic centre and court centre. 
 
3.3 The introduction of a parking bay would provide space for approximately two 

vehicles with a waiting limit of 3 hours.  
 
3.4 The restriction would be available to vehicles displaying a blue badge and indicated 

by a traffic sign and roadmarking. 
 
3.5 Enforcement would lie with the Council’s Civil Enforcement Officers and included 

with other restrictions in the town centre and County Borough. 
 
3.6 A plan showing the proposal is available via the Background Paper link for 

information purposes. 
 
3.7 As part of the statutory Traffic regulation Order procedure, consultation has been 

carried out with the emergency services and other representative user groups for 
example Road Haulage Association and Freight Transport Association. No 
objections were received. The next stage of the Traffic Order process would be to 
give Public Notice of the Council’s intention to make the permanent Order including 
an objection period giving the opportunity for objections to be received from the 
general public. If no objections are received, the Order can be made. If objections 
are received a report would be presented to the appropriate Committee for 
consideration as soon as practicable. 

 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 There are administrative costs relating to the publishing of Traffic Regulation Order 

notices and costs associated with provision of a traffic sign with roadmarking which 
is to be met from the traffic management budget and estimated at £3,500.  

  
 
 
 

Page 160



5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
3 of 10 0 of 10 7 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts against: 
 
The Well-being objectives - the provision of a disabled parking bay will help people to 
park closer to the Civic Centre, Court Centre and town making access easier to services 
and providing better health and well-being. A disabled parking bay would provide an 
opportunity for blue badge holders to park close to services which would provide support 
and help people develop their skills. A disabled parking bay would be positive for the 
environment as it would provide easier access, help provide economic regeneration and 
people to park closer to local services making the area more attractive and an enjoyable 
place to visit. A disabled parking bay would help people enjoy good physical and mental 
health, help people to be more comfortable with the environment and promoting social 
involvement. 
 
The Sustainable Development Principles –  

 

Long term - The proposal will help people park closer to local services and help deliver 
services to the residents and citizens of the County Borough to allow them to achieve 
personal goals and outcomes. 

Prevention - The proposal is trying to identify and address problems before they arise 
by introducing a parking bay in a location close to local services to help people achieve 
their outcomes. 

Integration - The proposal fits in with the Council’s Parking Strategy. 

Collaboration - The Engineering Department has collaborated with other Council 
Departments and organisations on the proposal. 

Involvement – Liaison has been carried out with the Councillor requesting the parking 

Page 161



bay. The Council would give public notice of the proposal once advertised. 

 

The Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language -  
 
The proposal would help people of all ages to gain easier access to local services and 
better health and well-being. The proposal will incorporate the Welsh language in Public 
Notices. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language 
and Biodiversity. 
 

. 
 

 
JUDITH JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

 

Page 162



 
Appendix A 
SCHEDULE OF MEASUREMENT 
 
SCHEDULE 1 
Prohibition of Waiting 8:00am-6:00pm 
 
1. Glebeland Place (section between court centre and multi-storey car park) 
 

Both sides from a point 10 metres north-west of its junction with Castle Street for a 
distance of 83 metres in a north-westerly direction. 
 

 
2. Glebeland Place (alongside front of court centre) 
 

(i) The northern side from its junction with that part of Glebeland Place leading to 
the rear of the court centre in a south-westerly direction including the sides of 
its two cul-de-sac ends. 

 
(ii) The southern side from its junction with that part of Glebeland Place leading 

to the rear of the court centre in a south-westerly direction for a distance of 16 
metres. 

 
(iii) The southern side from a point 29 metres south west of that part of Glebeland 

Place leading to the rear of the court centre in a south-westerly direction for a 
distance of 15 metres. 

 
 
SCHEDULE 2 
Prohibition of Loading and Unloading 8:00am-6:00pm 
 
1. Glebeland Place (section between court centre and multi-storey car park) 
 

Both sides from a point 10 metres north-west of its junction with Castle Street for a 
distance of 83 metres in a north-westerly direction. 
 

 
2. Glebeland Place (alongside front of court centre) 
 

(i) The northern side from its junction with that part of Glebeland Place leading to 
the rear of the court centre in a south-westerly direction including the sides of 
its two cul-de-sac ends. 

 
(ii) The southern side from its junction with that part of Glebeland Place leading 

to the rear of the court centre in a south-westerly direction for a distance of 16 
metres. 

 
(iii) The southern side from a point 29 metres south west of that part of Glebeland 

Place leading to the rear of the court centre in a south-westerly direction for a 
distance of 15 metres. 

Page 163



 
 
SCHEDULE 3  
Disabled Parking Only 
 
Glebeland Place (opposite front of court centre) 
 
The southern side from a point 16 metres south west of that part of Glebeland Place 
leading to the rear of the court centre in a south-westerly direction for a distance of 13 
metres. 
 
 
SCHEDULE 4 
Variation of Existing Orders 
 
Vary the provisions of the “Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Various Roads Within  
The County Borough Of Merthyr Tydfil (Prohibition And Restriction Of Waiting) (Prohibition  
And Restriction Of Loading/Unloading) (Limited Waiting) (Disabled Parking) (Goods  
Vehicles Loading And Unloading) (One-Way Traffic) (Clearway) (Bus Lane) (20 Mph Speed  
Limit) (Variation ) (Revocation) Order 2014” by the deletion of schedule 2 and schedule 4. 
 

Page 164



T
C
B
s

O
F
F
I
C
E

176.8m

L
A
N
E

P
O
S
T

173.7m

STR
EET

S
T
R
E
E
T

G
LE
B
ELA

N
D

183.3m

C
A
S
T
LE

Car Park

Car Park

PH54

5
3a

56

50
53

House

Castle

Castle Hotel

Bank

9

PH

12

9

5

10
 11

Of
fic
es

O
ld
w
ay H

ouse

Co
un
cil

PC

Government

Offices

14

Exchange

Telephone

Law Courts

Merthyr Tydfil

DRAWING No.

DRAWN BY

DATE

SCALE                   

Key to Restriction Types Displayed

Existing no waiting and no
loading/unloading
0800-1800 to remain

Existing no waiting and no
loading/unloading at any
time to remain

Disabled
Persons Parking Place

  

GLEBELAND PLACE - PROPOSED TRAFFIC
REGULATION ORDER

19/08/2019

1 : 800



(c) Crown copyright. All rights reserved 

Merthyr-Tydfil 
Licence No.  2006

Page
1 of 1

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Petition from Residents of Edwards Terrace, 
Quakers Yard 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To advise Cabinet of the response to a petition previously reported to Full Council on 

the 17th July 2019, from the residents of Edwards Terrace Quakers Yard .    
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The contents of this report be noted.   
 
2.2 No remedial action will be undertaken to the highway surface at Edwards Terrace, 

Quakers Yard, be approved. 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The residents of Edwards Terrace Quakers Yard queried the status of an area of 

unadopted highway and it’s poor state of repair.  
 
3.2 Concerns have been expressed regarding the highway condition at this location for 

many months.  
 
3.3 Investigation of available records have confirmed current highway records are 

accurate and no definitive evidence has been found to amend the status of the 
unadopted highway, and thus no remedial action will be undertaken to the highway 
surface. 

Date Written 20th August 2019 ** 

Report Author Gerald Coughlan  

Service Area Engineering  

Committee Division Portfolio  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 167

Agenda Item 8



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the Authority from this report. 
 
 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
No positive or negative impacts have been identified against the Well-Being Objectives, 
the Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Characteristics, Welsh Language 
and Boiodiversity . 
 

 
 
JUDITH JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 168



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Tramroad Side North, Town Centre - Proposed 
Permanent Traffic Regulation Order 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Following the reversal of traffic flow through the High Street in Pontmorlais, 

suggestions have been received from elected members and businesses for a new 
access to be created into Pontmorlais car park from Penyard Road via Tramroad 
Side North. Capita Redstart were commissioned to investigate this proposal  
together with alternative options.   

 
1.2 To create a southbound access would require removal of existing bollards located 

near the north end of the car park and variation of an existing Prohibition of Driving 
Traffic Regulation Order which covers placement of the bollards.  

 
1.3 Access to the car park from Penyard Road to operate in a southerly direction only 

would require introduction of a One-Way Traffic Regulation Order.  
 
1.4 To prevent traffic travelling south directly from the car park along Tramroad Side 

North in the direction of Newcastle Street would require a physical closure with a 
Prohibition of Driving Traffic Regulation Order.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written 2nd July 2019 ** 

Report Author Martin Stark/Carwyn Morris  

Service Area Engineering  

Committee Division Portfolio  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 169

Agenda Item 9



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Public Notice of the County Borough Council’s intention to make a permanent Traffic 

Regulation Order (as detailed in the schedule at Appendix A) under the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984, be approved. 

 
2.2 The permanent Traffic Regulation Order (as detailed in the schedule at Appendix A) 

is made subject to no objections being received, be approved. 
 
2.3 Provided no objections are received, the permanent Traffic Regulation Order (as 

detailed in the schedule at Appendix A) is presented to the appropriate Committee as 
soon as practicable, be approved. 

 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Following the reversal of traffic flow through the High Street in Pontmorlais, 

suggestions have been received from elected members and businesses to create a 
new access into Pontmorlais car park from Penyard Road via Tramroad Side North.  

 
3.2 Currently the car park is accessed from the High Street and it is suggested that a 

new access in a south direction via Tramroad Side North would provide greater 
accessibility to the car park. 

 
3.3 Capita Redstart were commissioned to investigate the above proposal together with 

alternative options. This included the possibility of entry/egress from Pontmorlais 
roundabout however limited visibility splays prevented this becoming a viable 
solution. It was concluded that a new access via Penyard Road was the safest and 
most suitable solution.   

 
3.4 To create the new southbound access would require removal of existing bollards 

located near the north end of the car park and variation of an existing Prohibition of 
Driving Traffic Regulation Order which covers placement of the bollards.  

 
3.5 Access to the car park from Penyard Road to operate in a southerly direction only 

would require the introduction of a One-Way Traffic Regulation Order.  
 
3.6 To prevent traffic travelling south directly from the car park along Tramroad Side 

North in the direction of Newcastle Street would require a physical closure with a 
Prohibition of Driving Traffic Regulation Order.  

 
3.7 A plan showing these proposals is available via the Background Paper link for 

information purposes. 
 
3.8 As part of Statutory Traffic Regulation Order procedure, consultation has been 

carried out with the emergency services and other representative users groups such 
as the Road Haulage Association and Freight Transport Association. No objections 
have been received. The next stage of the Traffic Order process would be to give 
Public Notice of the Council’s intention to make the permanent Order including an 

Page 170



objection period giving the opportunity for objections to be received from the general 
public. If no objections are received, the Order can be made. If objections are 
received a report would be presented to the appropriate Committee for consideration 
as soon as practicable. 

    

 
 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 There are administrative costs relating to the publishing of Traffic Regulation Order 

notices which is to be met from the traffic management budget and costs are 
estimated at £2,000. Construction costs associated with the car park are estimated 
at £20,000 which is to be met from the Highway Congestion Improvement Schemes 
capital programme. 

 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
3 of 10 0 of 10 7 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are: 
 

 The Well-being objectives are that the proposal will provide better health and well-being 
to children, young people and older people. Improved accessibility to the car park will 
assist in developing the environment and safer communities and supporting people, will 
help protect, enhance and promote the environment, help people enjoy good physical 
health, promote healthy behaviours, increased levels of physical activity and will support 
people living independently where they feel safe and enjoy good physical and mental 
health. 

 
 The Sustainable Development Principles are that the proposal will also provide long 

Page 171



term benefits and deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. Suggestions were received 
for improved accessibility to the car park during liaison with the community and 
Councillors. The Engineering Department has collaborated with other organisations on 
the proposal.   

 

 The Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language are that the proposal will provide 
a positive impact on improving accessibility in the area for road users. The improvement 
will provide better health and well-being to children, young people and older people. The 
proposal will incorporate the Welsh language in Public Notices. 

 
No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language 
and Biodiversity. 
 

 
 
JUDITH JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

File ref. H10.0 
 
 

Ongoing Traffic Management Section, 
Engineering Department, Unit 5 
Pentrebach 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

 

Page 172



 
 
Appendix A 
 
SCHEDULE OF MEASUREMENT 
 
SCHEDULE 1  
ONE-WAY TRAFFIC 
Column 1       Column 2 
Road        In the direction 
 
That part of Tramroad Side North,    North to South 
Merthyr Town Centre, from its junction 
with Penyard Road to a point 28 metres 
south of the south boundary of no. 
8 Tramroad Side North. 
 
SCHEDULE 2  
PROHIBITION OF DRIVING 
 
Tramroad Side North, Merthyr Town Centre at a point 28 metres  
south of the south boundary of no. 8 Tramroad Side North. 
 
 
SCHEDULE 2  
VARIATION OF EXISTING ORDERS 
 
Vary the provisions of the “Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (Pontmorlais Area, 
Merthyr Tydfil) (Prohibition of Driving) (Prohibition of Loading and Unloading) (Limited 
Waiting) (Bus Stop Clearway) (Prohibition for Stopping Except Hackney Carriages) (One 
Way Traffic) (Prohibition of Right Hand Turn) (Prohibition of Left Hand Turn) (Revocation 
and Variation) Order 2003” by the deletion of Schedule 1. 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



10

House

Woodlands

The

Frederick

1113 10
12

Morlais 
Building

s

21

14

20

Bolgoed Place

Hotel

32

37
39

DANYPARC

TRAM
ROA

D

3

30

Gwalia Place

DA
NY
PA
RC

13

7

19

22

4

21

Temple

50

56
57

House

71

72

31
33

29

Shelter

73

74

TCB

Car Park

Thespian

Masonic 193.9m

5

1

TAFF
 VAL

E CO
URT

1

712

13
 t
o 
18

19
 t
o 
24

25 t
o 30

31 t
o 36

SIDE
NOR

TH

ROADPENYDARREN

8

28

3536

Nant Morlais

Nan
t M

orla
is

6

3

26

30

20

Park Place

48
49

Church

10

74a75a75

14

WarMeml

21

25

1

37

PH

Spiritualist

PH
PH

43

47

80

CR

Wellfield

6

PONTMORLAIS CAR PARK

TRAMROADSIDE NORTH

PENYDARREN ROAD

PROPOSED REVOCATION OF
PROHIBITION OF DRIVING ORDER
(REMOVAL OF BOLLARDS)

TRAMROADSIDE NORTH

PONTMORLAIS HIGH STREET

PROPOSED ONE-WAY ORDER

PROPOSED ONE-WAY ORDER

ROAD CLOSURE

Key:
Direction of traffic flow

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016

Ordnance Survey 100025302 "You are not permitted

to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data

to third parties in any form."

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2016

Arolwg Ordnans 100025302 "Ni chaniateir i chwi

gopio, tan-drwyddedu, dosbarthu neu werthu y data

yma i unrhyw drydydd barti mewn unrhyw ffurf"

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWING NO.:

REV.:

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN: CHECKED: APPROVED:

@ A3

DRAWING TITLE:

PROJECT TITLE:

MERTHYR TYDFIL

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

ENGINEERING DIVISION

UNIT 5

TRIANGLE BUSINESS PARK

PENTREBACH

MERTHYR TYDFIL

CF48 4TQ

Traffic Regulation Order

Tramroad Side North

P01May 2019

NTS

0003

GC/3146

E

N

S

W

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

CARE INSPECTORATE WALES PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) work closely with Local Authorities.  There are 

regular meetings with the Director of Social Services and the Heads of Adults and 
Children Services.  During these meetings there is a set agenda and inspectors 
consider the performance, inspection reports and annual report from the Local 
Authority. 

 
1.2 In previous years CIW have responded to the Directors Annual Report (ACRF) and 

highlighted what they consider good practice and areas for improvement.  
 
1.3 This year has been slightly different in that each Local Authority’s performance has 

been reviewed and this has been followed up with a letter from CIW.  The content of 
which has been shared in this report. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The content of this report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written 20th August 2019* 

Report Author Lisa Curtis Jones 

Service Area Social Services 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 177

Agenda Item 10



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 CIW published their code of practice for review of local authority social services in 

April 2019, which outlined their intention to write and publish an annual letter for local 
authorities which will: 

 

 provide feedback on inspection and performance evaluation activity completed by 
us during the year; 

 report on progress the local authority has made in implementing 
recommendations from inspections and/or child and adult practice reviews; and 

 outline the CIW forward work programme. 
 
3.2 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) received a letter in late June 

summarising the CIW review of their performance in carrying out its statutory social 
services functions.  It followed the four principles of the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA) and CIW’s increasingly collaborative and 
strengths based approach to supporting improvement.  The letter was intended to 
assist the local authority and its partners to continually improve. 

 
3.3 The content is informed by CIW’s inspection of children’s services during July 2018 

and performance evaluation activity during the course of the year, including the bi-
annual meetings held with the respective heads of service.  CIW was also involved in 
a visit to the CMHT team in Merthyr Tydfil, as part of a programme of inspections 
undertaken in partnership with Health Inspectorate Wales (HIW). 

 

4.0 SUMMARY OF STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT IN 
LINE WITH PRINCIPLES OF SSWBA 
 

4.1 Well-being 
 
4.1.1 There is keen involvement from the cabinet lead for social services.  Elected 

members recognise the challenges social services face and appreciate the 
budgetary pressures encountered by them, in the context of those faced by the wider 
authority.  The financial position of the local authority is an area of serious concern.  
An increase in the number of children becoming looked after, with the added 
expenditure on placements significantly contributed to these financial pressures.  
Information added following a meeting with CIW highlighted that increased costs 
were associated with a number of causes including an increase in children looked 
after, use of agency staff which was required to discharge the authority’s statutory 
duties, an increase in need for residential children’s provisions and an increase in 
Independent Fostering Agency placements.  The high number of entries to care in 
year is around 25% associated with improvement work and 75% new demand in line 
with safeguarding duties. 

 
4.1.2 Notwithstanding the financial situation, there is a need to accelerate the pace of 

change in updating the local authority’s in-house provision for adults, in line with the 
increasing complexity of people’s needs and expectations.  This year has seen 
particular challenges in respect of the domiciliary care provision, which has seen the 
introduction of the living wage for staff employed in the sector across the region. 

Page 178



Whilst this has been welcomed in terms of the positive wider impact on recruitment 
and retention, this has added to the overall financial stresses for Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council.  These were described by senior managers as being 
‘pressurised’, but not impacting on day to day decision-making. 

 
4.1.3 CIW inspected services focusing on looked after children and care leavers and found 

there was good corporate support for children’s services from elected members and 
the wider council.  The local authority is bringing into effect changes to its overall 
‘offer’ for care leavers via a re-tendering process and it is positive to note significant 
elements of this have been co-produced with, and informed by, feedback from young 
people. 

 
4.2 People – voice and control 
 
4.2.1 In relation to compliance with the Welsh Language Standards, CIW commented that 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council are complying with the ‘active offer’ and there 
are Welsh speaking staff able to support the identified and anticipated needs of 
service users.  There is currently low demand in Merthyr Tydfil for Welsh language 
services; the Welsh Language Officer is new in post and is currently promoting 
events for social services staff in line with ‘More than just words’.  The front door 
service is being evaluated by the local authority to ensure compliance.  Training 
opportunities for the Welsh language are being reviewed. 

 
4.2.2 During their inspection, CIW saw examples of good practice in children’s services, 

but we found this standard was not consistently delivered across all teams.  Drift was 
evident in a small number of cases involving the assessment and delivery of care to 
children and their families and we also found delays in the transfer of cases between 
teams.  There was an evident professional commitment to children and young 
people by staff, who were clearly dedicated to delivering a high standard of care.  An 
action plan was drawn up by MTCBC and the effectiveness of some of these 
measures is likely to form a focus for some of CIW’s forthcoming focussed activity.  
(This focussed activity work took place in July 2019 and CIW could see the progress 
that had been made in this area). 

 
4.2.3 CIW found that quality assurance across the service was in need of further 

development, in order to embed consistency and incorporate lessons learned from 
audit and performance management activity.  This has been addressed following the 
inspection and has much improved.  

 
4.2.4 The local authority have demonstrated a focus on meeting the needs of individuals in 

their care, and have kept CIW informed of developments throughout, particularly in 
respect of one child/young person.  

 
4.2.5 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s ability to meet the current need for children 

requiring managed care and support has seen significant challenge, with the number 
of children being looked after at its highest level in recent years.  This has been 
linked to a number of reasons, resulting in the deployment of additional staffing and 
other resources required in order to discharge the authority’s statutory duties.  

 

Page 179



4.2.6 The local authority had experienced some difficulties in recruitment and retention of 
sufficiently experienced and qualified social workers in children’s services.  However 
there has been an improvement in the recruitment to vacant posts and a reduction in 
the use of agency social workers, although still some in place due to gaps 
associated with parent leave or sickness. 

 
4.2.7 CIW sought assurance from the local authority in respect of capacity within social 

services due to key changes following a voluntary exit scheme.  MTCBC is aware of 
the need to give urgent attention to its financial challenges to enable it to deliver safe 
and sustainable services for people.  

 
4.2.8 Long-standing plans to re-shape services for adults with learning disabilities, 

focusing on the identified priority areas of employment, homes and health, are due to 
be implemented.  Regional partnerships are key to progressing this, as reflected in a 
co-produced ‘statement of intent’.  Once again, these have been identified as a result 
of significant co-production, alongside current users of these services and their 
families/interested others. 

 
4.2.9 CIW’s monitoring of the deprivation of liberty safeguards has identified the local 

authority, in common with many others in Wales, is unable to assure itself people’s 
human rights are not being breached by being deprived of their liberty unlawfully.  
CIW will continue to monitor this. 

 
4.3 Prevention 
 
4.3.1 A significant re-modelling of preventative services for children is underway.  The first 

phase of which is an ‘early help-hub’.  The next phase - supporting change - will be 
implemented following the release of funds resulting from the authority’s withdrawal 
from the existing regional IFST arrangements, enabling the new arrangements to be 
fully operational by 2020/21.  Again, the impact of these changes on outcomes for 
children and their families is likely to form a focus for some of CIW’s forthcoming 
activity. 

 
4.3.2 Outcomes from the recent inspection by HIW and CIW of the local Community 

Mental Health Team in Merthyr Tydfil will be formally reported.  Preliminary findings 
suggest that sound inter-professional relationships underpin positive outcomes for 
people utilising this service.  Issues were also highlighted in respect of the signing off 
of care and support plans, the integration of the Health Board database/shared 
access to information on WCCIS; and the need to ensure that safeguarding training 
is delivered on a multi-agency basis, and accurate records are kept in respect to this.  
A joint health & social care action plan has been developed in response to this.  The 
inspection report will be presented to Cabinet in September 2019. 

 
4.3.3 Throughout 2018 CIW’s programme of work focused on care experienced children 

and young people.  Qualitative evidence was gathered from six local authority 
children and fostering inspections, 22 self-evaluations completed by local authorities, 
challenge meetings held with those local authorities who were not subject to an 
inspection and engagement activity with care experienced children, care leavers and 
foster carers.  The report was published on their website, with key findings made in 
respect of profile, sufficiency, practice, partnerships, stability, governance and 

Page 180



corporate parenting.  Many of the areas CIW have identified for improvement are 
being considered by Welsh Government’s Ministerial Advisory Group on improving 
outcomes for care experienced children and young people and we also hope local 
authorities will consider their own contribution to addressing these findings. 

 
4.4  Partnerships 
 
4.4.1 In response to the identified need to have more robust arrangements in place for 

securing placements for children with more complex needs, children’s services are 
drawing up a revised commissioning strategy, alongside other interested parties, 
including 4C’s. 

  
4.4.2 Effective operational and strategic relationships with other regional partners have 

facilitated the implementation of some innovative projects, such as the hospital 
based, multi-agency Stay Well @ Home initiative and proposed Valley’s Life project.  
This reflects a strong commitment to co-production across its services.  The authority 
and its partners are aware that the long-term sustainability of this and future planned 
projects needs to be secured, as in the meantime they remain heavily dependent on 
short-term grant funding. 

 
4.4.3 CIW found that an effective multi-disciplinary approach in the Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub assists in promoting sound safeguarding practice. 
 
4.4.4 In respect of Bridgend participating in the recently formed Cwm Taf Morgannwg 

regional arrangements, a number of ‘shadowing’ arrangements were in place over 
the past year, for example in relation to the regional safeguarding board, this was 
brought into full-implementation from April 2019.  Other services, such as the Youth 
Offending Service and staff training arrangements, will continue to be run and 
managed in line with existing arrangements, pending further discussion.  The revised 
regional structure also presents opportunities to strengthen practice and learn from 
others. 

 
4.4.5 In its self-assessment of community-based preventative services for adults over the 

age of 65, the local authority has identified the need to do more to promote social 
enterprise and other third sector partners in providing care and support for carers.  
Initiatives designed to meet this need are likely to be developed across a regional 
footprint. 

 

5.0 CIW PERFORMANCE REVIEW PLAN FOR 2019-20 
 
5.1 CIWs scheduled thematic adult services inspection programme for 2019/20 will be 

focussing on prevention and promoting independence for older people and for 
children services thematic inspection the focus will be on prevention, partnerships 
and experiences of disabled children.  If our local authority is selected for inclusion in 
this programme, we will receive four weeks’ notice of the scheduled date of the 
inspection. 

 
 
 

Page 181



5.2 CIW will undertake engagement activities aligned to the thematic inspections and 
meet with people who receive care and support services.  CIW will be convening a 
meeting with the local authority and its key partners in the summer term to follow up 
areas identified in the self-evaluation submitted in January 2019 focusing on 
prevention and promoting independence for older people self-evaluation.  A thematic 
national report will be published upon the completion of inspections and engagement 
activities. 

 
5.3 In late 2019 CIW will pilot a joint inspection of child protection arrangements.  The 

joint inspection will be led by CIW and in partnership with HIW, Estyn, HMI 
Constabulary (HMICFRS) and HMI Probation.  With the drive towards collaboration 
and integration in public services, CIW work closely with other inspectorates to share 
intelligence and jointly plan inspections.  We will work closely with Social Care Wales 
to share information to support improvement in social care services. 

 
5.4 CIW will continue in 2019/2020 to work with HIW in jointly inspecting community 

mental health teams.  CIW will be following up recommendations made within HIW 
and CIW joint thematic review of Community Mental Health Teams as part of bi-
annual Head of Service meetings with local authorities. 

 
5.5 CIW focused activity with the local authority is likely to include following up 

inspection findings relating to children’s services and care experienced children and 
young people; their engagement in adult services will focus on people aged over 65 
in the community, and possibly day services. 

 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. 
 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
5 of 10 0 of 10 5 of 10 

Page 182



4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are working with all ages of the population and improvement 
in prevention work and working together with partners across adult and children 
services. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
LISA CURTIS-JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No  

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
CABINET REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 
To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

INSPECTION REPORT - COMMUNITY MENTAL 
HEALTH TEAM 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report outlines the outcome of the Joint Inspection by Health Inspectorate Wales 

(HIW) and Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW).  The findings of the inspection are 
contained within the body of the inspection report (Appendix 1) as opposed to being 
re-written in this report. 

 
1.2 The accompanying action plan (Appendix 2) sets out the actions and timescales in 

response to the inspection. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The contents of this report be noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The arrangements for a joint Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) has been in 

place for a number of years.  The team is sited at Keir Hardie Health Park and 
consists of a range of Health and Social Care staff. 

 
3.2 This report provides an update in respect of the inspection of the joint Community 

Mental Health Team that was undertaken by Care Inspectorate Wales and Health 
Inspectorate Wales over a 2 day period in March 2019. 

Date Written August 2019* 

Report Author Angela Edevane 

Service Area Adult Services 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 185

Agenda Item 11



 
3.3 The inspection team comprised of one HIW inspector, two clinical peer reviewers 

(one of whom was the nominated Mental Health Act reviewer) and one Care 
Inspectorate Wales (CIW) inspector.  The inspection was led by a HIW inspection 
manager. 

  
3.4 During this inspection, they reviewed documentation for patients detained under the 

Mental Health Act 1983 in order to assess compliance with the Act. 
 
3.5 Initial feedback was provided verbally at the end of the inspection and a formal report 

was received at a later date which was embargoed until 7th June 2019 (Appendix 1). 
 

4.0 INSPECTION KEY FINDINGS 
 
4.1 The feedback provided by the inspectors at the end of the inspection was extremely 

positive and outlined many positive aspects of the service including how the team 
works collaboratively to deliver positive outcomes for the people who use the 
service. 
 

4.2 The initial feedback was confirmed in the formal report and there were no areas 
identified as requiring immediate improvement. 

 

4.3 The key area for improvement was associated with the IT systems and the need to 
rationalise the current systems to improve access to information. 

 

4.4 There was an opportunity to comment on factual inaccuracies and these will appear 
in the final report but these do not have a significant impact on the outcomes of the 
report. 

 

4.5 The key areas for improvement were: 
 

 The service must ensure care and treatment plans are consistently signed by 
service users and care-coordinators to demonstrate the plan has been agreed.  

 The Health Board must ensure that staff are able to access and complete 
safeguarding training.  

 The Health Board must consider how they can facilitate better engagement and 
understanding between GPs and the CMHT.  

 The Health Board must ensure staff are compliant with mandatory training.  

 The Health Board must provide HIW with the actions and progress on addressing 
the long standing issues with the IT system, including ensuring the Crisis team 
have access to the CMHT records.  

 
4.6 These areas have been included in an action plan that has been developed in 

response to the inspection report (Appendix 2). 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report 

Page 186



 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are the inspection report indicates that the Community Mental 
Health Team is meeting the wellbeing outcomes of the people they support which covers 
some of the protective characteristics due to the diversity of the service user group they 
support. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 

 

 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



 

       

 

HIW & CIW: Joint Community Mental 

Health Team Inspection (Announced) 

Merthyr Tydfil Community Mental Health Team, Cwm 

Taf Morgannwg University Health Board 

 

Inspection date: 5 and 6 March 2019 

Publication date: 7 June 2019 

 

 

EMBARGOED UNTIL PUBLICATION 

Page 189



 

 

This publication and other HIW information can be provided in alternative formats or 

languages on request. There will be a short delay as alternative languages and 

formats are produced when requested to meet individual needs. Please contact us 

for assistance. 

Copies of all reports, when published, will be available on our website or by 

contacting us:  

 

In writing: 

Communications Manager 

Healthcare Inspectorate Wales  
Welsh Government 

Rhydycar Business Park 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 1UZ 

Or via 

Phone: 0300 062 8163 

Email: hiw@gov.wales  

Website:  www.hiw.org.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Digital ISBN XX 

© Crown copyright 2019  

Page 190

mailto:hiw@gov.wales
http://www.hiw.org.uk/


 

 

Contents 

1. What we did ....................................................................................................... 6 

2. Summary of our inspection ................................................................................ 7 

3. What we found ................................................................................................... 9 

Quality of patient experience .......................................................................... 10 

Delivery of safe and effective care ................................................................. 15 

Quality of management and leadership .......................................................... 20 

4. What next? ....................................................................................................... 23 

5. How we inspect community mental health teams............................................. 24 

Appendix A – Summary of concerns resolved during the inspection .............. 25 

Appendix B – Immediate improvement plan ................................................... 26 

Appendix C – Improvement plan .................................................................... 27 

 

 

Page 191



 

Page 2 of 29 

HIW report template version 2 

 

Healthcare Inspectorate Wales (HIW) is the 
independent inspectorate and regulator of 
healthcare in Wales  

Our purpose  

To check that people in Wales receive good quality healthcare 

Our values  

We place patients at the heart of what we do. We are: 

 Independent  

 Objective  

 Caring  

 Collaborative  

 Authoritative 

Our priorities  

Through our work we aim to:  

Provide assurance: Provide an independent view on 

the quality of care 

Promote improvement: Encourage improvement 

through reporting and sharing of 

good practice 

Influence policy and standards: Use what we find to influence 

policy, standards and practice 

Page 192



 

Page 5 of 29 

  
Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

 

Our purpose  
 
To regulate, inspect and improve adult care, childcare and social 
services for people in Wales  

 

Our values  
 
Our Core values ensure people are at the heart of everything we do 
and aspire to be as an organisation.  

 

 Integrity: we are honest and trustworthy  

 

 Respect: we listen, value and support others  

 

 Caring: we are compassionate and approachable  

 

 Fair: we are consistent, impartial and inclusive  

 

Our strategic priorities  
 
We have identified four strategic priorities to provide us with our 
organisational direction the next three years. These are:  
 

 To consistently deliver a high quality service  

 

 To be highly skilled, capable and responsive  

 

 To be an expert voice to influence and drive improvement  

 

 To effectively implement legislation  

 

Page 193



 

Page 6 of 29 

1. What we did  

Healthcare Inspectorate Wales (HIW) and Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

completed a joint announced community mental health inspection (CMHT) of 

Merthyr Tydfil CMHT within Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board on 5 

and 6 March 2019.  

Our team, for the inspection comprised of one HIW inspector, two clinical peer 

reviewers (one of whom was the nominated Mental Health Act reviewer) and one 

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) inspector. The inspection was led by a HIW 

inspection manager.  

During this inspection, we reviewed documentation for patients detained under 

the Mental Health Act 1983 in order to assess compliance with the Act.   

HIW and CIW explored how the service met the Health and Care Standards 

(2015) and the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. HIW also 

consider how services comply with the Mental Health Act 1983, Mental Health 

Measure (2010), Mental Capacity Act (2005).  

Further details about how we conduct CMHT inspections can be found in Section 

5.  

Page 194



 

Page 7 of 29 

2. Summary of our inspection 

Overall, we found evidence that the service provided safe and 

effective care, but identified some areas where the service was not 

fully compliant with all Health and Care Standards (2015).  

Throughout this inspection, we have identified areas of noteworthy 

practice. It was particularly positive to find a truly integrated CMHT, 

with a team of health and social care staff who were supportive of 

each other and committed to improving the care of service users.  

We found care and treatment plans and statutory documentation for 

service users detained under the Mental Health Act to be detailed 

and completed to a high standard. Care was planned in a way that 

was person centred and responsive to the needs of service users. 

However, this good work was hampered by staff needing to work 

around issues with Information Technology (IT) systems, which 

present a risk to the care and safety of patients if the right 

information is not available to the right staff, at the right time, 

including the Crisis team.  

 

This is what we found the service did well: 

 Service user feedback was very positive and they were involved in their 

care and treatment 

 There was good access to the CMHT, including the acceptance and 

flexibility around self-referrals 

 Care was planned in a way that was person centred and responsive to 

the needs of service users 

 Care and treatment plans and statutory documentation for service 

users detained under the Mental Health Act were detailed and 

completed to a high standard 

 There was good management and leadership of the service 

Page 195



 

Page 8 of 29 

 The service was a good example of truly integrated working between 

health and social care staff. 

This is what we recommend the service could improve: 

 Compliance with mandatory training, including  safeguarding 

 Recording signatures of service users and care-coordinators on care 

and treatment plans to demonstrate their agreement 

 Better engagement and understanding between GPs and the CMHT  

 Progress and solutions to ensure the IT systems are fit for purpose and 

enable the right information to be available to the right staff, at the right 

time.   

Page 196



 

Page 9 of 29 

3. What we found 

Background of the service 

Merthyr Tydfil provides community mental health services at Keir Hardie Health 

Park, Merthyr Tydfil within Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board.  

The staff team includes two team leaders (one employed by the health board 

and one employed by the local authority), two consultant psychiatrists, one 

specialty doctor, one junior doctor, seven community psychiatric nurses (CPN), 

one occupational therapist, one occupational therapy assistant (vacant), seven 

social workers (including those acting as Approved Mental Health 

Practitioners), one senior social worker, three psychologists, one assistant 

psychologist, one trainee psychologist, two health care support workers, and an 

administrative team.  

 

Page 197



 

Page 10 of 29 

Quality of patient experience  

We spoke with patients, their relatives, representatives and/or 

advocates (where appropriate) to ensure that the patients’ 

perspective is at the centre of our approach to inspection. 

Patients we spoke with were positive about their care and support 

from CMHT and getting access to help if needed.  

Overall, it appears that care is provided in a timely way and the 

CMHT look to engage patients in groups and clinics whilst waiting 

to access therapies. 

We found there was good access to the CMHT service, including 

the acceptance and flexibility around self-referrals.  

During our inspection, we distributed HIW questionnaires to service users to 

obtain their views on the service provided. In total, we received 15 completed 

questionnaires. Service user feedback in the questionnaires was generally 

positive. Some service users said the support they have received has made a 

big difference to their lives. However, one service user said they felt they had 

been overlooked which made them feel frustrated. 

We also spoke with a small number of service users during the course of our 

inspection who were very positive about the communication and support they 

received from the CMHT.  

Care, engagement and advocacy 

We found evidence that service users receive appropriate care for their needs. 

The majority of service users who completed a questionnaire said the service 

provided by the CMHT ‘completely meets their needs’ or ‘meets most of their 

needs’. All service users who completed a questionnaire felt the CMHT had 

involved a member of their family, or someone close to them, as much as they 

would have liked. Two thirds of the service users who completed a questionnaire 

said they had been given information (including written) by their CMHT. 

All of the service users who completed a questionnaire said they knew how to 

contact their care-coordinator if they had a concern about their care. Almost all 

service users also said they felt staff usually gave them enough time to discuss 

their needs, treatment and listened to them carefully.  

Page 198



 

Page 11 of 29 

Two thirds of service users who completed a questionnaire said they had been 

offered the support of an advocate to potentially help them access information 

they may need, or to support them in situations where they didn’t feel able to 

speak for themselves. We saw advocacy services were available to service 

users, including independent mental health advocates which were typically 

provided through a mental health charity called Mind. We were also told that Mind 

can work as advocates for service users who need help with their finances and 

benefits. Staff also told us they can arrange for specific advocacy services to 

meet the needs of service users, such as those with learning disabilities.  

We found the CMHT had a system for service users to provide feedback on their 

experiences. We also saw the service had held a 'have your say day' with service 

users to gain understanding of their views. We saw the feedback from this 

workshop and staff gave examples of how they had considered and implemented 

changes as a result.  

Service users who completed a questionnaire were most likely to have their 

social and accommodation needs completely met by the services provided 

through the CMHT; service users were least likely to have their employment 

needs completely met by the services provided through the CMHT.  

Staff explained how the CMHT were involved in projects with third sector 

organisations to support service users in the community, including to help them 

with housing and to return to work. Staff told us that the CMHT have a dispersed 

housing scheme meeting twice a week. This is a project with Merthyr Tydfil 

housing association, to help service users move on from supported 

accommodation to maintain a tenancy of their own, with the aim of increasing 

their independence. One of the service users we spoke with had benefited from 

this housing project and told us of the positive difference this had made to their 

life and recovery. We saw this to be noteworthy practice.   

Access to services  

Of the service users who had completed a questionnaire, the time they had been 

in contact with the CMHT ranged from less than a year to more than 10 years. 

Most of these service users had last seen someone from the CMHT in the last 

month and found it easy to access support from the CMHT when they need it. 

They also said that when thinking about their own needs, they had been seen by 

the CMHT about the right amount of times. 

The majority of service users who completed a questionnaire had been referred 

to the CMHT by their GP. From the responses in the questionnaire, service users 

had either been seen straight away after their referral (less than a week), or it 

had taken longer to be seen by the CMHT after their referral (about four weeks 

or longer). 

Page 199



 

Page 12 of 29 

We found there was good access to the CMHT service. Referrals were dealt with 

in a timely manner with no unnecessary delay in addressing service users’ needs.  

Staff told us they receive referrals from a wide range of sources, including from 

other health or social care professionals, police and prisons. The CMHT also 

accepted self-referrals, including individuals who had previously been service 

users. We were also told the CMHT are flexible in their approach to people re-

referring back into the CMHT at any time.  

Following an initial referral into the CMHT, we were told cases were allocated 

within a week and individuals were seen for an assessment within the 

recommended guidelines of four weeks.   

Urgent referrals were dealt with by the duty team1, which was available Monday 

to Friday 9am to 5pm. Assessments, if needed, would be provided the same day 

by staff working duty. We found the duty team rota was shared between health 

and social service staff. Staff we spoke to said this system appeared to work well. 

Referrals that required an assessment under the Mental Health Act2 were passed 

to one of the Approved Mental Health Professionals3 (AMHP) for action. An 

AMHP rota was developed and maintained by the social services CMHT 

manager, who is also an AMHP, to ensure there is always someone available to 

carry out assessments. Staff said they felt well supported in their role as an 

AMHP and benefitted from a high level of peer support. Staff also said they were 

supported by the CMHT leader to perform this role.  

The CMHT has a weekly single point of entry multidisciplinary team meeting, with 

both health and social care staff, where new and existing cases are discussed. 

We were told the focus of this meeting is to match the needs of service users to 

a practitioner with the most appropriate skills and interest. Staff told us they would 

prioritise service users with high needs and those currently inpatients within the 

                                            

 

 

1 Members of the CMHT allocated on a rota basis to providing advice to service users and 

professionals in need of secondary mental health support, assessing service user referrals and 

conducting urgent service user assessments. 

2 https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/nhs-services/mental-health-services/mental-health-act/ 

3 The role of the AMHP is to coordinate the assessment of an individual who is being considered 

for assessment under the Mental Health Act 1983. 

Page 200

https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/nhs-services/mental-health-services/mental-health-act/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mental_Health_Act_1983


 

Page 13 of 29 

mental health unit. It was positive to hear from a range of staff that this meeting 

was effective and their respective skills and input was valued and supported. 

Staff explained that any referrals received after this would be screened and 

assessed daily by the CMHT. Staff also said the CMHT had developed an internal 

triage process to make sure that appropriate referrals were made to different 

parts of the service. We saw this as noteworthy practice.  

The service was able to demonstrate that they signposted individuals to other 

services, such as, third sector organisations, where their needs would be more 

appropriately met. We found the CMHT has regular meetings with the police and 

other agencies, such as the ambulance service and third sector. The meetings 

are held to discuss people they are frequently in contact with and how they can 

best manage peoples’ individualised risks through a multi-agency approach. This 

helps to prevent inappropriate referrals into services and police reporting. 

We found the CMHT has communication systems with other mental health 

services in order to provide effective support to service users. There are weekly 

interface meetings with the primary care mental health service, weekly ward 

rounds for service users admitted to the mental health unit and twice weekly 

meetings with the Crisis team.  

Staff said the CMHT would facilitate the access of existing service users who 

need crisis support, with the Crisis team. Staff also said that new service users 

have direct access to Crisis team and would not need to be assessed by the 

CMHT first. This is positive because it means service users do not need to attend 

multiple assessments before receiving care.   

Most service users who completed a questionnaire said they knew who to contact 

if they needed support out-of-hours. All but one of those service users who had 

contacted the service in the last 12 months said they got the help they needed. 

The majority of service users also said they knew how to contact the CMHT if 

they had a crisis and all of those who had contacted the CMHT in a crisis in the 

last 12 months said they got the help they needed.  

Staff explained that if service users did not attend for their appointments, the 

CMHT would be proactive and explore the reasons behind this and provide 

additional support if needed, rather than simply closing their case. This means 

that the needs of service users are considered in a holistic way.  

In order to help facilitate access to the consultant psychiatrist for service users 

who don't live close to Merthyr Tydfil, one of the consultant psychiatrists runs a 

weekly clinic within a GP practice in another part of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 

area. We noted this as a good way to enable service users to access the 

treatment they need more easily.  

Page 201



 

Page 14 of 29 

We explored some of the waiting times for access to psychology and medical 

appointments. We were told that non-urgent medical appointments usually take 

place within three to four weeks, but could be seen more quickly depending on 

their acuity. Staff said that for psychological services an initial assessment would 

take place in under one month, with a wait of three to four months for one to one 

intervention/treatment.  

It was positive to find the CMHT had attempted to help service users get access 

to therapies more quickly through running groups and clinics, including 

stabilisation group, anxiety sessions and psychology clinics. We saw feedback 

from service users following the 'have your say day' showed they valued sessions 

on anxiety and indicated that more sessions like this would help service users 

get support more quickly. We advised the service to consider this.  

As in a number of areas of Wales, staff explained there were often issues with 

transporting service users to hospital for assessment and/or treatment. The 

service was primarily reliant upon the Welsh Ambulance Service Trust (WAST) 

for transport provision, and average waiting times were between four to six hours. 

We were told that this often meant delays for service users accessing the care 

and treatment needed.  

The transport delay had the potential to negatively impact directly on the service 

user experience and their health and well-being. It also had the potential to 

directly impact upon staff accompanying service users, who would also be 

required to wait long periods of time. To help resolve these potential  issues,  staff  

explained that the health board had a private contract in place with St John's 

ambulance and they could access this service for transport, if WAST were not 

able to attend in a timely way. It was positive to see the health board had been 

proactive in trying to address this issue and staff told us they had not had 

difficulties in accessing this alternative ambulance service if required.  

 

Page 202



 

Page 15 of 29 

Delivery of safe and effective care 

We considered the extent to which services provide high quality, safe 

and reliable care centred on individual patients. 

Overall, we found service users were being provided with safe and 

effective care by the CMHT team. Care was planned in a way that 

was person centred and responsive to the needs of service users.  

The CMHT environment was well maintained and fit for purpose 

and we found evidence that medicines were administered safely.  

We found care and treatment plans and statutory documentation for 

service users detained under the Mental Health Act were detailed 

and completed to a high standard.  

There was a multidisciplinary approach to planning and providing 

care and treatment to service users, with a good level of 

engagement from service users directly into their care plans. 

However, we noted it was not always clear whether the care plan 

has been signed to indicate it had been agreed with service users.  

A robust safeguarding process was described. However, we found 

that some staff were not up-to-date with safeguarding training. 

Managing risk and promoting health and safety 

Overall, we found the CMHT environment was well maintained and fit for 

purpose. The CMHT is located within Kier Hardie Health Park which is 

designated as a public access building and contains a range of other healthcare 

services, including GP practices, the primary mental health team and the drug 

and alcohol team. This means the location is convenient and accessible for 

service users.  

The CMHT waiting room, clinic and therapy rooms were spacious and provided 

a pleasant environment for service users to receive care.  

CMHT staff are located in an open plan office, together with other service teams. 

Through discussions with staff, we found that the open plan office environment 

was conducive to communication and joint working across the team. It also 

helped contribute to the physical sense of integration between health and social 

care staff.   

Page 203



 

Page 16 of 29 

Medicines Management 

We found the clinic room was well maintained and fit for purpose in order to 

facilitate safe injectable medication to service users. We found there were 

appropriate facilities to enable effective infection control.  

We looked at a number of medication records and whilst we found them to be 

appropriate, we noticed that the medication charts didn’t have sufficient space 

for community teams to use easily. We advised the health board to consider how 

this could be improved.  

The clinic room is used to run two separate clinics for antipsychotic medications. 

Staff explained that the CMHT can also facilitate service users to have injectable 

medication at home, if they prefer this. We saw this as a good way of enabling 

service user choice.  

It was also positive to find that the CMHT ran a health and well-being clinic for a 

range of service users, including those with eating disorders and those who need 

to have the physical effects of their antipsychotic medication monitored. Staff said 

this clinic had been successful and had become increasingly popular with service 

users. 

Assessment, care planning and review 

Overall, we felt that care was planned in a way that was person centred and 

responsive to the needs of service users.  

Service users we spoke with were very positive about the care they had received 

from the CMHT and felt involved in their care plans. Almost all service users who 

completed a questionnaire felt either very, or quite, involved in the development 

of their care plan. Just over two thirds of the service users who completed a 

questionnaire said they received a copy of their care plan. The majority of service 

users, who had been in contact with the CMHT for more than a year, said they 

had a formal meeting or review with their care-coordinator to discuss how their 

care is working and felt involved in these meetings. Service users also felt they 

were given the opportunity to challenge any aspect of their care during their 

formal meeting or review. 

We reviewed a sample of care and treatment plans and found these to be of a 

high standard. It was positive to see the use of 'I statements' within these care 

plans which help demonstrate that the views and wishes of service users have 

been incorporated and encourages staff to write the care plan from the service 

user's perspective. We also saw evidence of holistic and person centred support 

being provided to service users, including support for carers.  

Page 204



 

Page 17 of 29 

We saw evidence that most service users had seen and agreed to their care and 

treatment plans. However, we found it was not always clear whether the care and 

treatment plan had been signed by the service user or care-coordinator to 

demonstrate the plan had been agreed by both parties.  

 

Improvement needed 

The service must ensure care and treatment plans are consistently signed by 

service users and care-coordinators to demonstrate the plan has been 

agreed.  

Patient discharge arrangements 

During this inspection, we were not able to see evidence of discharge planning 

within the care and treatment plans we reviewed. However, we found that care 

and treatment plans showed elements of timely internal referrals to other parts of 

the service such as occupational therapy and psychology.  

Safeguarding 

Staff we spoke with were clear about their responsibilities in relation to 

safeguarding adults and children. Staff described a clear process for reporting 

any safeguarding concerns. Staff also said the CMHT has a good relationship 

with the multi-agency safeguarding hub in Pontypridd which oversees the 

safeguarding activity in Rhondda Cynon Taf. Staff said they receive good support 

and advice from this hub to support robust safeguarding practice. 

Staff also said they have relationships with children’s services and have seen 

positive outcomes for service users and their children through working closely 

with children's services to support the family.  

Although there were appropriate safeguarding practices in place, we found that 

a number of healthcare staff were not up-to-date with their mandatory 

safeguarding training. Staff told us this was due to a lack of available training 

courses. We discussed the importance of addressing this with staff during the 

inspection.  

 

Improvement needed 

The health board must ensure that staff are able to access and complete 

safeguarding training.  

Page 205



 

Page 18 of 29 

Compliance with specific standards and regulations 

Mental Health Act Monitoring 

We reviewed the statutory documents of two service users.  

At the time of our inspection, only three service users were receiving treatment 

under the Mental Health Act, one of whom was on Section 17 leave4. We 

reviewed two records of service users under the Mental Health Act. We found 

both records to be fully compliant with the Mental Health Act and Code of 

Practice.  

We found that the admission and detention process recorded in both documents 

were within legal constraints and of a high standard. Records were well 

organised, detailed and comprehensive.  

We saw evidence that regular Mental Health Act audits were undertaken. We 

were told that all legal issues are monitored at a monthly Mental Health Act 

monitoring committee which is attended by senior members of the health board.    

We found Mental Health Act training is held regularly for staff and training 

packages are available online.  

Monitoring the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010: Care planning and 

provision 

We found that the CMHT were using appropriate tools to assess service users' 

needs, and found that this addressed the dimensions of life as set out in the 

Mental Health Measure, and the domains set out in the Social Services and Well-

being (Wales) Act 2014. 

We found that the assessment of service users' needs was proportionate and 

appropriate. We found there was a multidisciplinary, person centred approach to 

assessment, care planning and review. Records demonstrated that service users 

were involved in the development of the care and treatment plans.    

                                            

 

 

4 This means that while a person is detained under the Mental Health Act, they may be able to 

leave the hospital if authorised by the doctor or clinician in charge of their care (also known as 

the Responsible Clinician). This leave is often referred to as ‘Section 17 leave’ as it refers to 

Section 17 of the Mental Health Act 

Page 206



 

Page 19 of 29 

Care plans were generally well structured and person centred and reflected 

service users’ emotional, psychological and general health and well-being needs. 

We also found that carer involvement within care and treatment plans was 

documented.  

We found there were weekly audits of care and treatment plans with a named 

person responsible for actions identified.  

Compliance with Social Services and Well-being Act 

Overall, we found that the views and wishes of service users were the main focus 

of the work conducted by the CMHT.  

During inspection, we found evidence that the principles set out in the Social 

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, were being supported. This is 

because we were told by service users that they were being supported to actively 

participate in their assessments and the design of their care and treatment plans. 

Page 207



 

Page 20 of 29 

Quality of management and leadership 

We considered how services are managed and led and whether the 

workplace and organisational culture supports the provision of safe 

and effective care. We also considered how the service review and 

monitor their own performance against the Health and Care 

Standards and the Social Services and Well-being Act. 

We were pleased to find an effective model of service management 

and a positive culture of true integration within the CMHT. We felt 

this was good practice and is a model that other CMHTs could learn 

from. 

Throughout this inspection we have identified areas of noteworthy 

practice which demonstrate the commitment and proactivity of the 

team in continuing to improve the care provided to their service 

users.  

However, we were concerned to find the long standing difficulties 

around IT systems meaning that other health services, including the 

Crisis team, do not have access to CMHT records. This could 

impact upon service user care and safety if the right up-to-date 

information is not available to the right service staff at the right time. 

 

Leadership, management and governance arrangements 

We found that all staff demonstrated a clear passion and commitment to 

delivering a good level of care and treatment to their service users. 

It was very positive to see strong integration within the CMHT between health 

and social care staff. It was clear in all our discussions with staff that they see 

themselves as a truly integrated team and are proud of the work they do. As 

mentioned earlier in this report, staff told us that multidisciplinary working is 

positive and all members of staff are valued and actively encouraged to 

participate within multidisciplinary team meetings. We saw that integrated 

working was also supported by the layout of the office environment which 

encouraged staff members of different disciplines to sit together. It was evident 

from our discussions with staff that there was good peer support amongst the 

team, with staff from different disciplines learning from and supporting each other.  

Page 208



 

Page 21 of 29 

We found strong, effective and supportive management and leadership was 

provided by the two CMHT leaders who appeared to work seamlessly together 

to support all CMHT staff and to deliver a high quality service. Staff we spoke 

with were positive about the support they received from both CMHT leaders and 

felt they were able to approach either leader for advice. A number of staff 

members we spoke with particularly mentioned the positive culture within the 

team and felt this was of personal and professional benefit to them.  

At the time of the inspection, the staff team were stable with a low level of 

sickness absences across the team. Staff told us that if a care-coordinator is off 

for more than a few weeks, their caseload is reallocated. This minimises the 

impact on the care of service users.  

We found the CMHT used an electronic allocation system when assigning a 

caseload to staff. Staff explained that this system was able to facilitate the 

weighting of caseloads based on complexity, and this was taken into account 

alongside other caseloads and responsibilities (such as AMHP roles), when 

assigning work to practitioners. We noted this as a good way to ensure caseload 

allocation was manageable for staff and assigned fairly.  

As highlighted earlier, it was positive to see a weekly consultant led clinic based 

in a GP practice, within the Cwm Taf Morgannwg area. However, in discussions 

with staff, it appeared that collaborative working with GPs across the health board 

was mixed. Whilst we were told there are positive relationships with a number of 

GPs, with others we were told of a lack of understanding and engagement with 

the CMHT.  

We saw evidence that healthcare staff had completed annual appraisals. Staff 

explained that social services were introducing appraisals for social care staff 

from April 2019. Staff told us they were able to access training and were 

supported to attend training to assist with their professional development. 

However, when we looked at the mandatory training compliance for health staff, 

we noticed that update training was needed on violence and aggression, 

safeguarding and moving and handling. 

In our review of documentation and discussions with staff, we were concerned to 

find the inherent difficulties around the IT systems. Whilst the CMHT has 

integrated health and social care records on an IT system called WCCIS, other 

health services, including the Crisis team, do not have access to this system. 

This means that staff have to record information on different IT platforms and 

have to work around the IT system to ensure that information is shared with other 

relevant health and social care professionals, in a secure and timely way. Staff 

explained that this may cause possible risk to service user care and safety if the 

right up-to-date information is not available to the right service staff at the right 

time. For example, the Crisis team, who may see CMHT service users out-of-

Page 209



 

Page 22 of 29 

hours, are reliant on the diligence of CMHT staff to ensure they can access the 

latest information about service users who may need crisis support. 

We discussed our concerns with senior members of the health board during the 

inspection, who assured us that this was captured as a high risk on the 

organisation's risk register. However, given this is a long standing issue, a more 

robust IT solution is needed.   

Improvement needed 

The health board must consider how they can facilitate better engagement 

and understanding between GPs and the CMHT.  

The health board must ensure staff are compliant with mandatory training.  

The health board must provide HIW with the actions and progress on 

addressing the long standing issues with the IT system, including ensuring 

the Crisis team have access to the CMHT records.   

Page 210



 

Page 23 of 29 

4. What next? 

Where we have identified improvements and immediate concerns during our 

inspection which require the service to take action, these are detailed in the 

following ways within the appendices of this report (where these apply): 

 Appendix A: Includes a summary of any concerns regarding patient 

safety which were escalated and resolved during the inspection 

 Appendix B:  Includes any immediate concerns regarding patient 

safety where we require the service to complete an immediate 

improvement plan telling us about the urgent actions they are taking  

 Appendix C:  Includes any other improvements identified during the 

inspection where we require the service to complete an improvement 

plan telling us about the actions they are taking to address these areas 

The improvement plans should: 

 Clearly state when and how the findings identified will be addressed, 

including timescales  

 Ensure actions taken in response to the issues identified are specific, 

measurable, achievable, realistic and timed 

 Include enough detail to provide HIW and the public with assurance 

that the findings identified will be sufficiently addressed. 

As a result of the findings from this inspection the service should: 

 Ensure that findings are not systemic across other areas within the 

wider organisation 

 Provide HIW with updates where actions remain outstanding and/or in 

progress, to confirm when these have been addressed. 

The improvement plan, once agreed, will be published on HIW’s website. 

 

Page 211



 

Page 24 of 29 

5. How we inspect community mental 

health teams 

Our inspections of community mental health teams are announced. The service 

receives up to 12 weeks notice of the inspection.   

Feedback is made available to service representatives at the end of the 

inspection, in a way which supports learning, development and improvement at 

both operational and strategic levels. 

We check how CMHTs are meeting the Health and Care Standards 2015, Social 

Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014 comply with the Mental Health Act 

1983 and Mental Capacity Act 2005. We consider other professional standards 

and guidance as applicable.  

These inspections capture a snapshot of the standards of care within community 

mental health teams. 

Further detail about how HIW inspects mental health and the NHS can be found 

on our website. 

 

 

Page 212

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/150402standardsen.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
http://hiw.org.uk/about/whatwedo/mentalhealth/?lang=en
http://hiw.org.uk/docs/hiw/guidance/170328inspectnhsen.pdf


 

Page 25 of 29 

Appendix A – Summary of concerns resolved during the inspection 

The table below summaries the concerns identified and escalated during our inspection. Due to the impact/potential impact on patient 

care and treatment these concerns needed to be addressed straight away, during the inspection. 

 

Immediate concerns identified Impact/potential impact 
on patient care and 
treatment  

How HIW escalated the 
concern 

 

How the concern was 
resolved 

No immediate concerns identified  

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 213



 

Page 26 of 29 

Appendix B – Immediate improvement plan 

Service:    Merthyr Tydfil CMHT 

   

Date of inspection:  5 and 6 March 2019 

The table below includes any immediate concerns about patient safety identified during the inspection where we require the service 

to complete an immediate improvement plan telling us about the urgent actions they are taking.  

  

Immediate improvement 
needed 

Standard Service action Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

No immediate improvements 

needed 

     

  

P
age 214



 

Page 27 of 29 

Appendix C – Improvement plan 

Service:    Merthyr Tydfil CMHT 

   

Date of inspection:  5 and 6 March 2019 

The table below includes any other improvements identified during the inspection where we require the service to complete an 

improvement plan telling us about the actions they are taking to address these areas. 

 

Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

Delivery of safe and effective care  

The service must ensure care and 

treatment plans are consistently 

signed by service users and care-

coordinators to demonstrate the 

plan has been agreed. 

3.5 Record 

keeping 

 Health and Social 

Care Leads 

  

The health board must ensure that 

staff are able to access and 

complete safeguarding training. 

2.7 

Safeguardin

g children 

and adults at 

risk 

  Health Leads    

P
age 215



 

Page 28 of 29 

Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

Quality of management and leadership 

The health board must consider 

how they can facilitate better 

engagement and understanding 

between GPs and the CMHT.  

The health board must ensure 

staff are compliant with mandatory 

training.  

The health board must provide 

HIW with the actions and progress 

on addressing the long standing 

issues with the IT system, 

including ensuring the Crisis team 

have access to the CMHT records.   

Health and 

Care 

Standards - 

Governance

, Leadership 

and 

Accountabili

ty; 7.1 

Workforce; 

Social 

Services 

and Well-

being 

(Wales) Act 

- Part 8 

 Health Leads     

 

The following section must be completed by a representative of the service who has overall responsibility and accountability for 
ensuring the improvement plan is actioned.  

Service representative  

Name (print):    

Job role:    

P
age 216



 

Page 29 of 29 

Date:     

 

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2  

Action Plan 
 
Service:    Merthyr Tydfil CMHT  
Date of inspection: 5 and 6 March 2019 
 
 
The table below includes any other improvements identified during the inspection where we require the service to complete an 
improvement plan telling us about the actions they are taking to address these areas. 
 

Improvement needed Standard Service action Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

Delivery of safe and effective care  
 
The service must ensure care 
and treatment plans are 
consistently signed by service 
users and care-coordinators to 
demonstrate the plan has been 
agreed. 

3.5 Record 
keeping 

The service recognises, 
obtaining a signature from 
service users is not always 
done in a timely manner.  
Through the audit process we 
have identified improvements 
in this area and we will work 
together to further explore 
potential digital solutions that 
may improve compliance in 
this area.  
Progress on this in all teams 
will be monitored through the 
Care & Treatment Planning 
Monitoring Group. 
 

Health and Social 
Care Leads 

Directorate 
manager and 
head of adult 
services  

31st October 
2019 

P
age 219



Improvement needed Standard Service action Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

The health board must ensure 
that staff are able to access and 
complete safeguarding training. 

2.7 
Safeguarding 
children and 
adults at risk 
 

Alternative safeguarding 
training is being sourced and 
we will ensure  this training is 
captured on the  Electronic 
Staff Record, the Health 
Board aim is to achieve and 
maintain a minimum of 85% 
compliance at all times  

 Health Lead Health team 
leader 

31st July 2019 

Quality of management and leadership 
 
The health board must consider 
how they can facilitate better 
engagement and understanding 
between GPs and the CMHT.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Health and 
Care 
Standards - 
Governance, 
Leadership 
and 
Accountability
; 7.1 
Workforce; 
Social 
Services and 
Well-being 
(Wales) Act - 
Part 8 

The Health Board 
acknowledges that 
improvement in 
communication between 
mental health services and GP 
practices requires continued 
work. 
 
A new Health Board Mental 
Health management structure 
is being developed that will aid 
working and engagement at 
primary care cluster levels and 
new Clinical Director roles will 
have responsibility for leading 
this improved engagement 
with primary care. The 
structure will be implemented 
through 2019.  

Health Leads   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Health 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Clinical Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant 
Director 
Operations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
31st October 
2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 220



Improvement needed Standard Service action Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

The health board must ensure 
staff are compliant with 
mandatory training.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The health board must provide 
HIW with the actions and 
progress on addressing the long 
standing issues with the IT 
system, including ensuring the 
Crisis team have access to the 
CMHT records.   

Most of the team are 
compliant in many areas of 
mandatory training and this 
has improved in the last month 
to achieve 80% or above in 
almost all areas. The Team 
leader through supervision 
and personal development 
reviews will ensure that the full 
team are at a minimum 85% 
compliant with their mandatory 
training requirements and this 
will be evident on the 
Electronic Staff Record.  
 
There is a risk assessment in 
place for this issue with clear 
actions to work towards 
resolving issues with the 
national Welsh Community 
Care Informatics System 
(WCCIS) and the Local 
Authorities who have led on 
system roll out. 
 
Progress on these actions are 
reported on monthly to the 
Executive lead for mental 
health. One area of action 
relates to teams, which would 

Health 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Health & Local 
Authority 

Team Leader 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Service 
Local Authority 
& Assistant 
Director 
Operations 
Health Board  

31st July 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
31st October 
2019 
 

P
age 221



Improvement needed Standard Service action Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

include crisis having access to 
information and solutions are 
being progressed as joint 
organisations to achieve this. 
 

 
The following section must be completed by a representative of the service who has overall responsibility and accountability for 
ensuring the improvement plan is actioned.  
 

Service representative  
 

Name (print):   
Job role:  
Date:  

 

P
age 222



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

SCHOOL BALANCES 2018-2020 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
  
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update with respect to schools balances 

at the financial year end 2018/19 and the financial risk and sustainability of school 
budgets following the setting of school budgets and indicative Medium Term 
Financial Plans (MTFPs) 2019-2022. 

 
1.2 Since 2015/16 the local authority has implemented resource monitoring, challenge 

and intervention policies that have enabled and supported the recovery of very low 
aggregate schools balances and the recovery of individual schools’ budgets from a 
deficit position. 

 
1.3 The report shows that overall the management of schools’ financial resources is 

consistently good although an increasing number of individual schools have excess 
balances above regulatory thresholds at the 2018-19 financial year end and are 
subject to local authority challenge regarding use of these balances. 

 
1.4 However, this position is set within a context of balances that are expected to 

diminish significantly over the medium term based on current funding levels.  The 
number of schools categorised as medium to high financial risk (AMBER) in 2019/20 
has increased from eight to thirteen schools with aggregate levels of schools 
balances projected to reach an overall deficit position in 2020/21 and 2021/22.  .   

 
1.5 Next steps have been identified in order to continue to monitor, scrutinise, support, 

and intervene in schools with regards to financial performance and sustainability, 
with a particular focus on those schools categorised AMBER.  

  

Date Written 22nd  August 2019 

Report Author Joanna Lewis 

Service Area Learning Department 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 223

Agenda Item 12



2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 In response to the low level of school balances at 31st March 2014 and 31st March 

2015, circa £358k and £214k respectively, and the high number of schools ending 
those financial years in deficit (ten and then nine), the Schools’ Financial Monitoring, 
Scrutiny and Intervention Policy was implemented to risk assess the financial 
sustainability of schools and to target appropriate local authority challenge and 
support. 
 

2.2 At the same time the Direction of Schools’ Excess Balances and Clawback Policy 
was implemented.  This policy allows the local authority to direct the use of, and if 
necessary, clawback balances above the regulatory thresholds of £50k for Nursery 
schools and £100k for Secondary/Special schools.  The policy requires schools to 
spend their excess balances after one year, enables the local authority to direct 
spend after two years and if appropriate, to clawback the excess balances after three 
years of excess balances.  In accordance with the Schools Funding Regulations 
(Wales) 2010 any balances clawed back by the local authority must be spent on 
pupils in year as part of the local authority’s overall spend on schools. 
 

2.3 These policies were revised in July 2019 implementing new excess balance 
thresholds that reflect the relative size of schools alongside the monetary value of 
the regulatory thresholds.  The new excess balance thresholds are: 

 Primary – Greater of £50k or 5% 

 Secondary/Special – Greater of £100k or 4% 
 

2.4 The local authority has a benchmark target for aggregate schools’ balances held at 
the financial year end to be 3% of formula funding and also recommends that 
individual schools hold balances within the following ranges: 

 Primary - between 2% and 4 %, and within the excess balance limits 

 Secondary/Special – between 2.5% and 3.5%, and within the excess balance 
limits  

 

2.5 Good resource management in schools is the result of effective leadership and 
governance and Estyn describes ‘Good’ resource management in the following 
terms: 

 Staffing and financial resources are managed and deployed effectively to support 
learning improvement 

 The impact of resources on teaching and learning is kept under review and 
future needs are planned for 

 The school’s spending decisions relate well to priorities for improvement and the 
benefit of the pupils 

 The pupil deprivation grant is well spent 

 The use of shared resources through efficient partnership work or federation 
provides good value for money because it contributes to improved and generally 
good outcomes for pupils in aspects which the school alone could not provide. 

 
2.6 Since 2015/16 onwards the key measures of success that the local authority has 

used to judge ‘Good’ resource management in schools are: 

 No schools with an unplanned financial deficit; 

Page 224



 All schools with a licensed deficit deliver against their recovery plan and balance 
their budget in line with their Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 All schools with a surplus balance in excess of regulatory thresholds will 
successfully deliver their excess balances spending plan; and 

 No school will hold excess balances for three consecutive years requiring local 
authority clawback. 

 

3.0 SCHOOLS FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2018/2019 

 
3.1 The local authority’s schools’ balances held in reserve at 31st March 2019 were 

£1,751,867.  However, during March 2019 the Welsh Government (WG) 
Professional Learning & Cluster Funding was paid into schools budgets from the 
Central South Consortium (CSC) – if this is not taken into consideration, the 
balances held reduce to £1,458,503.   
 

3.2 The WG Professional Learning & Cluster Funding from CSC was given to schools in 
March 2019, and as this funding was received late into the authority the schools did 
not have time to plan the spending effectively.  This additional income needs to be 
provided earlier in the financial year if schools are to plan for it to be spent effectively 
during the year.  
 

3.3 The adjusted balance of £1.46 Million is 3.8% of formula funding, and is £312k 
above the local authority’s 3% target for aggregate schools’ balances.  This is lower 
than balances held the previous year i.e. at 31st March 2018 of £1,581,040 or 4.1% 
of formula funding. 

.   
3.4 Nine schools have adjusted year-end balances higher than the new excess balance 

thresholds.  Further details are provided in Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1: Schools above Excess Balances Thresholds (Primary Greater of £50k/5%, 
Secondary/Special Greater of £100k/4%) @ 31st March 2019.  

 

School 
2018/2019  Excess  Year 

Adjusted Balance £000s % Reserve Balance £000s   

Cyfarthfa Park Primary 83 5.6% 9 1 

Gellifaelog Primary 81 8.6% 31 1 

Goetre Primary 98 5.4% 8 1 

Trelewis Primary 59 7.1% 9 1 

Coed Y Dderwen Primary 51 5.2% 1 2 

St Illtyd’s RC Primary 59 9.1% 9 2 

St Aloysius RC Primary 70 10.3% 20 2 

Twynyrodyn Primary 137 10.3% 17 2 

Pen y Dre High 135 4.7% 20 2 

 

3.5 All schools with excess balances have provided excess balance plans to the local 
authority detailing the reasons for the balances being held and the planned use of 
those balances in the current financial year 2019/20.  These plans have been 
approved by the Chief Officers for Learning and Finance. 

Page 225



 

3.6 The 2018/19 year end is the second consecutive year that no school closed the 
financial year with a deficit budget.  It is also the forth consecutive year that no 
school has closed with an unplanned and unlicensed deficit, evidencing continued 
improvement in financial monitoring by schools and the local authority.  In 2013-14 
there were nine schools in a financial deficit position and in 2014/15 there were six 
schools in this high risk position. 
 

3.7 Following the closure of the 2018/19 accounts in May 2019, all schools set their 
2019/20 budgets by 31st May 2019 in line with statutory requirements.  
 

3.8 Appendix 1 details schools’ 2019/20 budgets and indicative three year MTFPs 2019-
2022 alongside their 2018-19 year end balances. 

 
3.9 The aggregate level of school balances budgeted in 2019/20 is just under £1 million 

which shows an expected £800k reduction in balances year on year.  This estimated 
year-end balance for schools is 2.5% of formula funding which is £205k lower than 
the benchmark local authority target of 3%.  

 
3.10 The level of aggregate schools’ balances over the MTFP period indicates that 

schools balances are currently projected to decline into an overall deficit budget 
position of - £3k in 2019/20 and -£1m in 2021/22, by which time 15 schools are at 
risk of being in a deficit budget position. 
 

3.11 In August 2019, following confirmation of their indicative MTFPs, each school was 
categorised for financial risk and sustainability and have been advised of their 
categories.  See Table 2 below for a summary of these details. 
 
Table 2: Financial Risk Categorisation 2018/19 and 2019/20  

 
Financial Risk Category Judgement No. of Schools 

2018/19 
 

2019/20 
 

RED HIGH RISK 1 0 

AMBER MEDIUM TO HIGH 7 13 

YELLOW LOW TO MEDIUM 10 8 

GREEN LOW 9 6 

TOTAL 27 27 

 
3.12 The number of schools at medium to high risk i.e. AMBER has increased from eight 

to thirteen which is an increase from 30% to 48%.  These risks are based on the 
indicative financial pressure schools are expecting to face based on 2019/20 funding 
levels.  Further budget reductions from 2020/21 onwards will increase the risk to 
schools being able to set sustainable budgets over the medium term and more work 
will need to done to support and challenge schools to identify and implement 
appropriate budget reductions in a timely manner to ensure they are able to deliver 
their curriculum requirement within sustainable budgets.   

Page 226



 

4.0 NEXT STEPS 
 
4.1 The local authority will continue to monitor schools finances during 2019/20 in 

accordance with the appropriate financial monitoring policies and schools 
categorised AMBER will be sent a Statement of Recommended Financial Practice, 
outlining financial monitoring requirements and restrictions in line with the local 
authority policy.  

 
4.2 These schools will be required to attend financial monitoring meetings with the local 

authority and additional training on financial management in schools where 
considered appropriate.   

 
4.3 The local authority will liaise with the Schools Forum and schools regarding savings 

requirements for the 2020/21 formula funding and provide schools with relevant and 
timely information to support robust financial planning for their 2020/21 budgets.  

 
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
No positive or negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development Principles, the Protected Characteristics, Welsh Language or 
Biodiversity. 

 

Page 227



 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING 
  

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Schools Balances 2017-2019 Cabinet 
Report 

24th October 2018 Intranet 

LMS Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation 
2019-20 Cabinet Report 

17th July 2019 Intranet 

Schools Financial Monitoring, Scrutiny & 
Intervention Policy (v2.0) 

July 2019 Learning Department 

Direction of Schools Excess Balances & 
Clawback Policy (v2.0) 

July 2019 Learning Department 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

N 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of each 

proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 228



 £ 
Adjusted

£
 % of FA  £  % of FA 

Assessment of Risk 

(Provisional)
 £  % of FA  £  % of FA 

ABERCANAID COMMUNITY 27,423£                      19,682                     2.7% 20,409£                   2.4% 27,027£                   3.0% 40,318£                     4.4%

BEDLINOG COMMUNITY PRIMARY 16,969£                      10,434                     2.6% 3,858£                     1.0% 9,343-£                      -2.2% 12,363-£                     -2.9%

CAEDRAW PRIMARY 23,061£                      14,641                     1.6% 16,952£                   1.7% 4,579£                      0.4% 10,940£                     1.0%

CYFARTHFA PARK PRIMARY 93,591£                      82,618                     5.6% 61,757£                   4.1% 26,684£                   1.8% 36,525£                     2.3%

DOWLAIS PRIMARY 50,808£                      42,011                     5.1% 22,523£                   2.5% 40,694-£                   -4.5% 135,375-£                   -14.9%

EDWARDSVILLE PRIMARY 50,822£                      39,391                     2.8% 65,515£                   4.2% 145,085£                 9.0% 198,975£                   12.0%

YSGOL GYNRADD COED Y DDERWEN 59,032£                      50,606                     5.2% 8,331£                     0.8% 40,784-£                   -4.0% 68,005-£                     -6.4%

GELLIFAELOG PRIMARY 89,654£                      81,066                     8.6% 36,159£                   3.9% 8,500£                      0.9% 19,905-£                     -2.0%

GOETRE PRIMARY 110,958£                    97,816                     5.4% 29,544£                   1.4% 26,317-£                   -1.2% 82,879-£                     -3.7%

GWAUNFARREN PRIMARY 27,376£                      18,393                     1.9% 10,852£                   1.1% 112,596-£                 -11.2% 191,614-£                   -18.6%

HEOLGERRIG PRIMARY 37,230£                      29,187                     3.5% 15,943£                   1.9% 1,057-£                      -0.1% 12,254-£                     -1.3%

PANTYSGALLOG PRIMARY 38,776£                      30,542                     3.4% 48,829£                   4.9% 70,020£                   7.0% 111,892£                   10.9%

ST ILLTYD'S R.C. PRIMARY 67,093£                      59,288                     9.1% 3,090£                     0.5% 97,925-£                   -15.2% 207,443-£                   -31.6%

ST ALOYSIUS R.C. PRIMARY 78,318£                      70,432                     10.3% 17,569£                   2.6% 20,743-£                   -2.9% 39,987-£                     -5.5%

ST MARY'S R.C. PRIMARY 43,596£                      35,669                     4.2% 218£                        0.0% 66,274-£                   -8.1% 136,258-£                   -16.6%

TRELEWIS PRIMARY 67,399£                      59,123                     7.1% 47,468£                   5.4% 28,910£                   3.2% 17,428£                     1.9%

TROEDYRHIW PRIMARY 49,973£                      41,860                     5.1% 19,439£                   2.3% 37,317-£                   -4.4% 114,897-£                   -13.4%

TWYNYRODYN COMMUNITY 148,392£                    137,257                   10.3% 39,865£                   3.3% 121,944-£                 -9.7% 249,917-£                   -19.6%

YNYSOWEN COMMUNITY 33,070£                      23,379                     2.3% 82,631£                   7.0% 88,818£                   7.6% 102,903£                   8.7%

YSGOL Y GRAIG PRIMARY 27,217£                      18,994                     2.3% 30,808£                   3.2% 970£                         0.1% 6,352£                       0.6%

YSGOL RHYD Y GRUG 31,131£                      22,293                     2.3% 28,679£                   2.7% 33,258-£                   -3.2% 69,319-£                     -6.4%

YSGOL SANTES TUDFUL 75,847£                      62,676                     4.1% 15,025£                   0.9% 11,333£                   0.7% 27,393-£                     -1.6%

TOTALS 1,247,738£                1,047,358£                4.8% 625,465£                2.7% 196,326-£                 -0.8% 842,276-£                   -3.5%

AFON TAF HIGH 112,563£                    93,441                     3.2% 66,856£                   2.1% 21,539£                   0.7% 14,157£                     0.4%

BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH 23,697£                      5,822                        0.2% 16,254£                   0.7% 19,156£                   0.8% 22,758£                     0.9%

CYFARTHFA HIGH 146,918£                    110,597                   2.2% 11,869£                   0.2% 168,996-£                 -3.3% 528,877-£                   -10.3%

PEN-Y-DRE HIGH 150,919£                    134,575                   4.7% 125,593£                3.9% 78,801£                   2.3% 63,150£                     1.8%

TOTALS 434,096£                    344,435£                    2.6% 220,572£                1.6% 49,500-£                   -0.3% 428,812-£                   -3.0%

GREENFIELD SPECIAL 80,032£                      66,710                     2.2% 145,060£                4.5% 242,927£                 7.2% 236,960£                   7.0%

TOTALS 80,032£                      66,710£                      2.2% 145,060£                4.5% 242,927£                 7.2% 236,960£                   7.0%

GRAND TOTALS 1,761,867£                1,458,503£                3.8% 991,096£                2.5% 2,900-£                      0.0% 1,034,128-£               -2.5%

Note

2020/2021 MTFP2018/2019 Outturn 2021/2022 MTFP2019/2020 Approved Budget 

P
age 229



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

NEET’s Prevention and Performance 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
  
1.1 The report outlines how the local authority has performed with regards to Not in 

Education, Employment or Training (NEET) prevention and how it continues to 
support those young people identified through the Early Identification Toolkit (EIT) as 
the highest risk of becoming NEET.   

 
1.2 The report provides an update on the progress of the first year of the NEET Strategy 

2018-21 and the key priorities to be taken forward in the second year. 
 
 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The impact of the implementation of the Youth Engagement and Progression 

Framework (YEPF) and the local NEET Strategy can be demonstrated through the 
consistently good performance of the local authority in relation to the number of 
young people becoming NEET when they leave school at 16.  The longer-term 
impact of this support can also be demonstrated through the sustained reduction in 
unemployment of the 16-24 year old age group. 
 

2.2 Following on from the success of the NEET Strategy 2013-16, the NEET Strategy 
2018-21 was formulated to ensure that mechanisms and systems continue to be 
improved and developed.  The current strategy is focused on ensuring that young 
people who are at risk of not engaging in education, employment or training or who 
have become NEET are supported appropriately to reintegrate into education and/or 
the labour market. 

Date Written July 2019 

Report Author Chris Hole/Samantha Morgan 

Service Area Community Wellbeing 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 231

Agenda Item 13



 
2.3 The new strategy has the following key objectives: 

 

 Continue to ensure effective early identification at pre and post 16 

 Maintain and improve the brokerage and co-ordination of support 

 Ensure provision meets the needs of young people 

 Strengthen employability skills and opportunities for employment and training 
 

3.0 CAREERS WALES DESTINATION SURVEY 2018 OUTCOMES 
 
3.1 For 2018, the published Welsh Government NEET figure in Merthyr Tydfil was 1.1%, 

equating to six young people.  This placed the local authority in joint 4th position in 
Wales, which was up from joint fifth for 2017 when the figure was 1.3% (seven young 
people).  The 2018 figure remains below the Wales average of 1.6%.  Between 2012 
and 2017 there were no Year 11 leavers in Merthyr Tydfil with an ‘unknown’ 
destination.  In 2018, there was one young person with an ‘unknown’ destination and 
this was as a result of operational delays in completion of the destination survey at a 
national level caused by issues around GDPR. 

 
3.2 Table 1 provides the trend in performance for Merthyr Tydfil since 2012 and from 

2013 when the YEPF was introduced across Wales. 
 

Table 1 
 

NEET % -  Year 11 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – Trend Data 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

6.2% 
(44 yp) 

 

1.87% 
(13 yp) 

2.6% 
(16 yp) 

1.6% 
(10 yp) 

1.03% 
(6 yp) 

1.3% 
(7 yp) 

1.1% 
(6 yp) 

All 
Wales: 
4.2% 

All 
Wales: 
3.7% 

All  
Wales: 
3.1% 

All  
Wales: 
3.1% 

All  
Wales: 
2.0% 

All 
Wales: 
1.6% 

All 
Wales: 
1.6% 

 
3.3 Since 2016, these figures have not included young people who are registered on the 

Educated Other Than At School (EOTAS) Plasc, so for 2018 there were an 
additional nine young people who were NEET but not included in the published 
figure.  During Year 11 these young people were tracked by the NEET team and 
either offered or received support to access a post 16 opportunity from relevant 
projects and partners, such as Careers Wales, Inspire to Achieve (I2A) and 
Communities for Work (C4W). 

 
3.4 This success has carried through to the older age group and there has been a 

significant improvement in the 16-24 year old youth employment figure over the 
same period.   
 

3.5 Overall, the improvement in the unemployment rate for 16-24 year olds in Merthyr 
Tydfil has been at an accelerated pace in comparison to the Wales average and has 
reduced significantly from 36.3% in March 2012. (Source: Stats Wales).   

Page 232



Since March 2017 the revised data is not sufficiently robust for publication and has 
been withdrawn from Stats Wales.  This applies to the ILO Unemployment Rate for 
16-24 year olds and the Economic Inactivity Rate (excluding students) for 16-24 year 
olds. 

 
3.6 However, the employment rate for 16-24 year olds in Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates an 

improving trend for 47.6% in March 2016 to 58.5% in March 2019. 
 
3.7 In 2016, several projects were established in the local authority to support young 

people furthest from the labour market into education, employment or training.  Since 
the introduction of these projects a total of 789 young people have been supported 
by post 16 employability projects (I2W, CFW/CFW+, I2A College Merthyr Tydfil), 
against a combined target of 988 to date. 

 
3.8 Analysis of Careers Wales data for the 16-18 age group shows that the number of 

young people dropping out of EET on an annual basis has shown a steady decline 
from 182 in 2015-16 to 139 in 2018-19.  The number of young people re-entering 
projects has also shown a steady decline from 76 in 2015-16 to 42 in 2018-19.  This 
is referred to as the NEET ‘churn’.  This would indicate that young people are 
receiving suitable support to re-engage and sustain EET. 

 

4.0 CHARACTERISTICS OF 2018 SCHOOL LEAVERS WHO BECAME 
NEET 

 
4.1 An analysis of the 15 young people who were NEET at the point of the Careers 

Wales destination survey took place and each young person displayed one or more 
of the following: 

 Twelve young people were ragged ‘red’; two were ragged as ‘green’ and one was 
‘amber’. 

 Five were identified as having significant barriers to entering employment, 
education or training, e.g. anxiety disorders; risk of harm to others. 

 Four had previously entered a job or training on leaving school, but had dropped 
out prior to the destination survey. 

 One young person moved to Cardiff during the summer, so it was not possible to 
offer support locally, but they still appeared on the local authority NEET figure. 

 Two young people entered a destination the week after the destination survey 
closed. 

 

5.0 POSITION STATEMENT 2019 SCHOOL LEAVERS 
 
5.1 As a result of early identification and the work of the school NEET panels, 133 Year 

11 young people have been supported and tracked over the academic year 2018-19.  
This is made up of 80 mainstream young people and 53 young people who are on 
the EOTAS Plasc due to being on an alternative programme of education.  The 
number of young people in Year 11 being tracked and supported has increased 
significantly from 97 during academic year 2017-18 and 84 the year before. 
 

5.2 Through the professional judgement of members of the school NEET panels there 
are currently 28 Year 11 leavers deemed to be ‘high risk NEET’, 16 of which have an 
intended destination.   

Page 233



However, according to Welsh Government guidance to Careers Wales, these 16 
young people will be unable to access transition support over the summer period due 
to them having an intended destination, which may increase the likelihood of them 
being NEET at the close of the 2019 destination survey. 

 
5.3 This issue and the risks associated with these young people have been raised with 

Careers Wales in the NEET Steering group, but it is a national policy that is unlikely 
to change for this year at least.  This could impact on future performance within this 
area due to having to wait for young people to either drop out of provision over the 
summer or for them to be identified as not entering a destination as late as the 
middle of October. 

 

6.0 NEET STRATEGY 2018-21 –  PROGRESS TO DATE 
 
6.1 Since the introduction of the new NEET Strategy in March 2018 a number of key 

developments have been progressed during Year One and should be noted. 
 

6.1.1 Aim 1 – Continue to ensure effective early identification at pre and post 16 

 Following the pilot of the Early Identification Toolkit (EIT) for 11-16 year olds, a 
move from a paper-based system to the use of Capita One for recording of 
professional judgements took place from September 2018.  Capita One is now 
used to record and report on the ‘RAG’ status of young people aged 11-16. 

 In partnership with education officers, an early identification toolkit and 
accompanying guidance, focused on primary age children has been developed. 
It is hoped that this will be used proactively to target support at children of 
primary age across preventative services. 

 Some destination information from the College Merthyr Tydfil is now being 
shared with the local authority.  
 

6.1.2 Aim 2- Maintain and improve the brokerage and co-ordination of support 

 A series of reports have been developed in Capita One, which will improve 
tracking arrangements and enable the measurement of the impact of 
interventions on young people within a more systematic approach. 

 
6.1.3 Aim 3- Ensure provision meets the needs of young people 

 Monthly meetings have been established between the Children Looked After 
(CLA) Co-ordinator and the NEET’s Co-ordinator to monitor the progress of CLA 
young people aged 11-16, with a focus on Year 11.  This ensures that this 
vulnerable group of learners is able to access additional support via the school 
NEET Panels and that their post-16 transition is monitored. 

6.1.4 Aim 4- Strengthen employability skills and opportunities for employment and training 

 The Economic Regeneration Department has taken the learning from the 
business skills research and incorporated this information into their draft 
Economic Development Strategy. 

 European funded post-16 employment projects have secured extensions to 
December 2022, thus ensuring continuity of support for the near future. 

 
6.2 The following key actions for Year Two have been agreed by the NEET Steering 

Group and are currently being progressed: 
 

Page 234



 Pilot the Early Identification Toolkit at Key Stage 2 with eight primary schools.  
This will be completed at the end of the Summer term 2019, followed by an 
evaluation. 

 Within the Learning Department, pilot across the NEETs and wider prevention 
teams a shared Capita One team to develop reports and improve the quality and 
use of data.  This arrangement is currently under review. 

 In conjunction with the Economic Regeneration Department, College Merthyr 
Tydfil and Careers Wales, understand how post-16 employment projects have 
contributed to the improvement in unemployment for 16-24 year olds.  

 Explore ways of improving the destination information of college leavers along 
with their potential support requirements with the Economic Regeneration 
Department, College Merthyr Tydfil and Careers Wales. 

 Develop the use of Capita One across all service areas that engage with children 
and young people so that data is more easily accessible and can be utilised to 
support intervention.  This will require growth for the Learning Department both in 
terms of staffing and capital. 

 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 It has been identified that there are currently no financial implications associated with 

this report. 
 

8.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5  0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
The main positive impacts are that young people aged 11–25 at risk of becoming NEET 
are identified and supported in order to make a successful transition from school into a 
post 16 destination and are also able to access appropriate support if they become 
NEET at post 16.  
There are no negative impacts identified in this report. 

 

Page 235



 

 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING 
  

 
COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 
LEARNING 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

 

 

Page 236



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET – INFORMATION REPORT 
 

Date Written 20th August 2019 

Report Author Sarah Ostler/Chris Hole  

Service Area Community Wellbeing 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 
 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

FLYING START PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
  

1.1 The purpose of the report is to share with elected members and colleagues the 
performance outcomes of the Flying Start programme 2018-19 within Merthyr Tydfil 
and where possible put this into the context of non-Flying Start, Cwm Taf or national 
performance data. 

 
1.2 The health indictors continue to be challenging and impact on the long-term 

development and health related outcomes of our communities and the impact these 
issues can have on future achievement in life and within education.  It is recognised 
that these needs cannot be addressed through a single programme and many are 
related to the wider poverty agenda and require a culture shift across communities. 

 
1.3 To provide early information on the work underway to develop a vulnerability profile 

for 0-4years alongside the recent review of Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA) data 
which could with Welsh Government (WG) approval assist to shape future targeting 
of Flying Start services in the context of a geographical versus needs led approach.  

 
 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Flying Start is a Welsh Government funded early intervention child poverty 

programme and has been available in Merthyr Tydfil since 2007- 2008.  Flying Start 
is a geographically targeted programme aimed at children 0-47 months and their 
families.  There are four core entitlements including: funded part time childcare for 2-
3 year olds; an enhanced health visiting service, access to parenting support and 
access to Early Language Development support.  Flying Start locally also offers a 
number of other elements in response to identified needs including family support 
and targeted midwifery services.   

Page 237

Agenda Item 14



 
2.2 Across Wales, Merthyr Tydfil has the highest percentage of its population (40%) with 

access to Flying Start with a cap figure of 1204 children.  In total 1,393 children 
benefitted from the programme over the year out of a population of 2,996.  

 
2.3 Developments in neuroscience alongside research such as the Adverse Childhood 

Experiences (ACES) has identified the first 1,000 days of a child's life from ‘the 
womb’ through to a child's 2nd birthday as a critical period that sets the life path for a 
person's personal and intellectual development as well as their lifelong health and 
wellbeing trajectory. 

 
2.4 Flying Start is geographically targeted at the most disadvantaged areas in Wales and 

was originally available in three areas based on WIMD data and school catchment. 
The programme expanded in 2012/13 utilising income benefit household data and 
moved into an additional nine LSOA whilst keeping original catchment areas.  The 
Welsh Government has allowed a small number of children (16) living outside of 
geographically targeted areas access to Flying Start services.  The approach taken 
to outreach locally is to continue to offer Flying Start to those high need families who 
move outside of the area.  This report seeks to outline two areas of work that will 
influence future targeting of services; the development of a vulnerability profile and 
newly published LSOA data.   

 
2.5 Whilst this report enables comparisons against nationally published performance 

data for 2018/19, both local data and associated health data have also been 
provided to illustrate some of the challenges within the population and faced by 
services. 

 

3.0 FLYING START PERFORMANCE   
 
3.1 Health: The national performance data identifies that during 2018/19, 1190 children 

were allocated to Health Visitor caseloads.  This represents a decrease of 41 
children on the previous year. Wider Health team engagement with families (face to 
face contacts) decreased significantly during 2018/19 to 6169 (-30%) this equates to 
a decrease from 1.5 to 1.3 contacts per child on the caseload. Additionally, during 
2018-19, there has been a decrease in engagements by health visitors from 5.3 
contacts per child to 3.9 contacts per child on caseloads.  These decreases are 
concerning but can in part be attributed to three vacant Health Visitor caseloads for 
periods of approximately four months plus sporadic Community Nursery Nurse 
vacancies during the year.  This has dropped Merthyr Tydfil to joint 14th and Joint 
18th respectively. 

 
3.2 Live births across Merthyr Tydfil again decreased slightly in 2017/18 to 707; 

however, of the births 40% (283) were in a Flying Start area, which remains 
consistent with the allocated population percentage for the programme. 

 
3.3 A healthy birth weight is identified as being above 2500 grams.  Merthyr Tydfil has 

seen this low birth weight indicator remain stubbornly higher than the Welsh average 
as identified below.  However according to local data provided by Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg UHB, in 2017/18 levels have improved in Flying Start areas to equal the 
Welsh average of 5.6%. 

Page 238



 
 
3.4 In 2017, according to the national stats release for Flying Start children receiving 

breast milk at 10 days old was identified as 20% in Flying Start areas and 29% in 
non-Flying Start areas.  This demonstrated an improving picture in Flying Start areas 
of 2% in comparison to the previous year but remains well below the Welsh average, 
which is 35% and 51% respectively.  

 
3.5 The data published by WG relates to 2017, however more up to date and a wider set 

of data is available locally for Flying Start areas from Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB. 
This data whilst unverified by WG in a stats release demonstrates that since 2017 
there has been a reduction in all three breast feeding indicators at ten days, six 
weeks and six months following birth.  
 

 
 
3.6 The percentage of children being fully immunised by their 4th birthday has also 

decreased to 88% (down 3%) in 18/19 within Merthyr Tydfil as a whole, but remains 
slightly above the Welsh average. This decrease is more strongly reflected within 
Flying Start areas with a 5% downturn in immunisations (8th in comparison to other 
Flying start areas in Wales) and non-Flying Start areas experiencing a slight 
decrease (1%) over the same period (14th in Wales).  

 

Page 239



 
 

3.7 Children having a healthy weight are measured as part of the Child Measurement 
programme aged 4-5.  Within Flying Start areas the data identifies that 63.7% of 
Flying Start children have a healthy weight whilst in non-Flying Start areas this rises 
to 68.4%.  Both of these data sets are below the Welsh average of 70.6% and 74.2% 
respectively.  This ranks Merthyr Tydfil as 22nd in Wales and demonstrates that the 
gap between Flying Start and non-Flying Start children for this indicator is widening.   

 

 
 

3.8 Closely related to both the healthy weight and breast-feeding indicators is the 
prevalence of dental caries (decayed, missing or filled teeth) encountered by children 
by the age of five years across Merthyr Tydfil.  In 2014/15 this was 56.5% compared 
to a Welsh average of 34.2%.  A further report is due to be published August 2019 
with data from 2016-17.  

 

 

Page 240



3.9 Childcare and Education: The number of eligible families being offered childcare in 
2018/19 rose to 100% with 287 of the 294 offered places taking up the offer; this was 
a 2% rise.   

 

 
 

When comparing the take up of childcare, Merthyr Tydfil Flying Start (18/19) has 
remained jointly ranked 2nd in Wales and is significantly above the Welsh average of 
88%.  

 

3.10 Attendance at childcare sessions within Flying Start is not a national indicator and 
therefore cannot be compared nationally at present.  Within Merthyr Tydfil the 83% 
attendance rate as remained consistent for the last four years, despite a focus on 
attendance which has included introducing an updated attendance policy and 
process to monitor and follow up absences more rigorously. 

 

 
 
3.11 After good progress in reducing unfilled spaces (those commissioned through the 

existing model but not required) in 2016/17 & 2017/18, a 4% increase has been seen 
in 2018/19.  An average of 10% fewer children were eligible for childcare during 
2018/19 which impacted on demand for childcare places.  Childcare is a demand led 
service and the nature of changing birth rates will mean that numbers eligible for  
childcare will be subject to localised fluctuations.  Driving down on unfilled spaces 
needs to be balanced alongside providing financial stability to the sector and 
retaining a quality workforce that may be required each term.   

Page 241



3.12 A review of the childcare commissioning model is scheduled to take place which will 
consider the changing requirements across the population with a view to reducing 
the number of unfilled places.  It should be noted that through the current model of 
commissioning Merthyr Tydfil Flying Start has 96% of group based early years 
providers across the County Borough registered to take Flying Start children.  
Through this registration, each provider has to demonstrate a commitment to 
achieving all of the quality standards, systems and processes required by Flying 
Start.  The net effect of this is the raising of quality across the sector through 
influencing practice in almost all providers. 

 
3.13 In 2017/18 there was a 4% increase in the number of non-Flying Start children 

recorded on PLASC (joint 1st in Wales) but a 5% decrease in the number of Flying 
Start children recorded (12th in Wales).  Over all Merthyr’s average remains 
consistent at 98% and ranks Merthyr Tydfil as joint 2nd in Wales for this indicator.   

 

 
 
4.0 FOUNDATION PHASE PROFILE (COMPACT) OUTCOMES 
 
4.1 During 2018/19, 291 children were eligible for Flying Start childcare.  Ten of these 

children either declined a childcare place or did not attend.  281 (100%) of the 
remaining children had initial and final assessments which were included in the FPP 
analysis.  Of these children, 155 were boys and 126 were girls.  The following data 
analysis includes outcomes for children with additional learning needs (ALN) and 
English as an Additional Language (EAL).   It also includes outcomes for 16 (6%) of 
those 281 children who attended childcare for one term or less due to parental 
choice or moving out of the area.  

 
4.2 In 2018-19, 43% of children including ALN & EAL achieved Outcome 1 in all four 

areas of development at final assessment.  This figure increases to 47% when ALN 
& EAL children are excluded.  This shows a decrease on 2017-18, where the figures 
were 45% and 52% respectively.  The Foundation Phase Profile compact is made up 
of outcomes for each individual component, the expected outcomes are Gold or 
above at initial assessment and Outcome 1 or above at final assessment. These are 
identified below for each category (including ALN & EAL): 

Page 242



 

 Personal & Social Development, Wellbeing & Cultural Diversity – 40% of children 
achieved Gold or above at initial assessment and 76% of children achieved Outcome 
1 or above at final assessment. Value added = 36% (a 3% increase on 2017/18). 

 Language, Literacy & Communication Skills – 33% of children achieved Gold or above 
at initial assessment and 67% of children achieved Outcome 1 or above at final 
assessment. Value added = 34% (a 2% decrease on 2017/18). 

 Mathematical Development – 14% of children achieved Gold or above at initial 
assessment and 49% of children achieved Outcome 1 or above at final assessment. 
Value added = 35% (a 4% decrease on 2017/18). 

 Physical Development – 49% of children achieved Gold or above at initial assessment 
and 77% of children achieved Outcome 1 or above at final assessment. Value added 
= 28% (a 2% decrease on 2017/18). 

4.3 The table below identifies that children entering Flying Start settings in 2018/19 were 
overall at a lower starting point than those entering settings in 2017/18. Decreases 
were seen in Personal & Social Development and Physical Development, with 
Language Development at the same level and Mathematical Development 1% higher 
than in 2018/19.  The average percentage difference across all areas of development 
at initial assessment between 2017/18 and 2018/19 was -1.75%.  

 
4.4 Final outcomes in 2018/19 were lower than the previous year across all areas of 

development.  Notably Personal & Social Development levels of children entering 
settings in 2018/19 were 6% lower than the previous year, this difference has been 
halved by final assessment, showing greater added value than the previous year.  

 
Comparison 2017/18-2018/19 
 

 % of 
children 
Gold or 
above at 

initial 
assessment 

2017/18 

% of 
children 
Gold or 
above at 

initial 
assessment 

2018/19 

% 
difference 

from 
2017/18 

to 
2018/19 

% of 
children 

Outcome 1 
or above at 

final  
assessment 

2017/18 

% of 
children 

Outcome 1 
or above at 

final  
assessment 

2018/19 

% 
difference 

from 
2017/18 

to 
2018/19 

Personal 
& Social 

46% 40% -6% 79% 76% -3% 

Language 33% 33% 0% 69% 67% -2% 

Maths 13% 14% +1% 52% 49% -3% 

Physical 51% 49% -2% 81% 77% -4% 

Average 
% 
difference  

 -1.75% 
 

 -3%  
 

 
Total number of children 2017/18 = 324     Total number of children 2018/19 = 281 

 
 
 

Page 243



4.5 Education and Early Years are currently implementing a joint approach to the 
strategic use of the Council’s Capita One system.  A Capita One development team 
is shared across the children and communities grant programmes to develop the 
system with a phased approach to implementation.  The system will improve long-
term tracking of the impact of Flying Start through to age seven and potentially up to 
age 16.  It is understood that whilst data may not be published this can still be 
analysed to ensure effectiveness of interventions and assist when considering the 
range of services that may be supporting a family through early years or with older 
siblings. 

 
5.0  KEY ISSUES - ACCESS TO FLYING START SERVICES 
 
5.1   Welsh Government (WG) recently issued more updated Lower Super Output Area 

(LSOA) income benefit household data for consideration by local authorities.  A local 
review of the data indicates that the majority of LSOA’s currently eligible for Flying 
Start services in Merthyr Tydfil haven’t changed.  However, there could be scope, 
should WG choose to allow Local Authorities greater flexibility to enable certain 
LSOA areas to be replaced.  This could lead to two potential options for future in 
depth consideration, to introduce a new geographical area or free up capacity for an 
expansion of the Outreach provision, utilising a more needs based approach.  This 
approach would allow Flying Start services to be provided to those pockets of 
poverty outside of the current LSOA’s, however this would only be possible with a 
robust vulnerability tool to ascertain those individuals eligibility for outreach.   

 
5.2 Over the last two years, the Local Authority has worked in partnership with the Welsh 

Government, Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB and Rhondda Cynon Taff on an Early 
Years Co-integration project.  The focus has been to review the Early Years system 
in the context of providing the right services, to the right families at the right time.  A 
key priority has been the future development of a vulnerability profile tool that will 
draw upon a number of different data sets across health, education and social care.  
The tool will enable the targeting of support at an individual child and family level but 
will also be used to consider population level data to assist with the planning and 
shaping of services.  Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB are leading on the development of 
the tool and once finalised it should offer an alternative approach to geographical 
targeting, however this will require a shift in approach from the Minister and Welsh 
Government as they have always insisted that Flying Start should not be a needs 
assessed programme.  

 
5.3 The service is currently awaiting WG feedback on the future targeting of Flying Start. 

Welsh Government has advised that they will publish an options paper and once this 
is available, it would enable Merthyr Tydfil to be in a strong position to offer their 
feedback within a local context and recommend a way forward.  

 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 There are currently no financial implications associated with this report. 

 
 
 

Page 244



7.0    INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5  0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
The main positive impacts are increasing access to services for children and families. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 

SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Flying Start statistical 
release 18-19 
 
Flying Start termly 
monitoring reports 
 
 
Flying Start expansion 
update Cabinet Report  

July 2019  
 
 
September 2018- 
December 2018 and 
March 2019 
 
January 2013 
 
 

Cwm Golau Integrated Children’s 
Centre  
 
Cwm Golau Integrated Children’s 
Centre 
 
 
Cwm Golau Integrated Children’s 
Centre 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET – INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Garden Rent Review 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Information Report to advise Cabinet of the intention to increase Garden Rents. 
 
1.2 Garden rents relate to parcels of Council owned land typically adjoining residential 

properties which are utilised by adjoining owners for additional garden space. 
 
1.3 Garden tenancies are annual rolling tenancies with the provision that they are 

changeable and terminable of 3 months’ notice. 
 
1.4 A recent review of the garden portfolio identified that there are varying rents adopted 

per square meter and it is the Councils intention to align all rents being charged. 
 
1.5 The proposal is that historic garden tenancies will be brought in line with the current 

rental charge of £100.00 p/a up to a maximum of 50sq meters with an additional 
charge of £2.26 per sq meter thereafter. 

 
1.6 There are 28 Garden Tenancies and 23 tenants will be affected by the increased 

rent. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written August 2019 

Report Author Fiona James 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Division Information 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 247

Agenda Item 15



2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The public sector faces stringent challenges over the coming years, with constrained 

budgets determining radical re-thinking about how and where services should be 
delivered in the future. 
 

2.2 Effective Asset Management within the public sector is essential in responding to 
these challenges, specifically in the areas of delivering financial efficiencies through 
reducing the size of property portfolios, re-shaping property portfolios to align to 
more efficient service delivery models, and developing strategies that set a robust 
path for the property portfolio. 

 
2.3 One of the asset categories that have been identified for review are the garden 

tenancies. 
 

2.4 There are currently 28 Garden Tenancies, with varying rents dependent on size and 
when the agreement commenced. 
 

2.5 The smallest garden tenancy occupies approx. 23square meters and the largest 
occupies 268square meters. 

 
2.6 As part of a recent exercise undertaken by the Estates Department it was identified 

that within the garden portfolio rents vary and we therefore propose to streamline the 
portfolio to ensure all tenants are paying the same per sq m. 
 

2.7 Records indicate that some older gardens tenancies are paying less per sq m 
therefore there is scope to increase the rental income for this portfolio by adopting 
the current minimum charge for all tenancies. 
 

3.0 RENTAL CHARGES 
 

3.1 A recent review identified that the garden rents vary depending on when the tenancy 
commenced. It is therefore proposed that all tenancies regardless of commencement 
should be charged the same amount per square meter. 

 
3.2 Tenancies prior to 2016 were charged a minimum of £50.00 per annum up to a 

maximum of 50sq meters with an additional £2.26per ten sq meters thereafter. 
 
3.3 All tenancies granted post 2016 are charged at £100.00 per annum up to a maximum 

of 50sq meters with an additional £2.26per sq meter thereafter. 
 
3.4 The following table sets out pre 2016 tenancy rental charges and the post 2019 

rental/proposed rents 
 

Tenancies taken prior to 
2016 rents 

Range from £25.00 to £145.00 p/a 
 

Tenancies post 2016 
rents and proposed rents  

Range from £100.00 to £592.00 p/a 

 

Page 248



3.5 In the interest of continuity, fairness and good governance it is proposed to 
implement a rent review aligning all tenancies to post 2016 rental charges. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 If the Council did not increase the garden rents to streamline the portfolio then there 

is a continuous loss of potential income. The current total income received would 
remain at £1,404.18 per annum.  
 

4.2 Increasing historic garden rents and aligning all tenancies to the current charging 
schedule of £100.00 per annum up to a maximum of 50sq meters with an additional 
£2.26per sq meter thereafter would see the Councils revenue increase to £4,788.80 
per annum. 

 
 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
 
It is considered that as a result of completing this impact assessment that positive, 
negative and non-applicable impacts have been identified. However some subject 
headings are not applicable to the proposal.  
 
However, it is considered that the proposal is likely to create positive outcomes for 
communities due to the increase in revenue income.   
 
The continued use of land for garden purposes allows individuals to benefit for additional 
outside space where in some areas they may have little or no garden. 
 

Page 249



It should be taking into consideration that there will be a negative impact to tenants 
financially due to some having to pay a higher rent than they are used to however 
methods can be put in place to assist tenants such as payment options i.e. payment 
plans. 
 

 
 
JUDITH JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 
 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 250



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET – INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Garage Rent Review 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This Information Report is to advise Cabinet of the intention to increase Garage 

Rents. 
 
1.2 There are two types of garage tenancies. Garage plots and Garage structures. 
 
1.3 Garage plots are where the tenant owns the garage and they pay a ground rent to 

the Council.  
 
1.4 Garage structures are where the Council own the garage and the land and these 

rents are set slightly higher. 
 
1.5 Garage rents have not increased since the last rent review in 2016. This was to allow 

tenants time to adjust to the increased rental payments. 
 
1.6 Current rents are set at £2.00 p/w for garage plots and £5.00 p/w for garage 

structures. 
 
1.7 The proposed rental increase will set rents at £5.00 p/w for garage plots and £7.00 

p/w for garage structures. 
 
1.8 Garage tenancies are annual rolling tenancies with the provision that they are 

changeable and terminable of 3 months’ notice. 
 
 
 

Date Written August 2019 ** 

Report Author Fiona James 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Division Information 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 11th September 2019 

Page 251

Agenda Item 16



 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The public sector faces stringent challenges over the coming years, with constrained 

budgets determining radical re-thinking about how and where services should be 
delivered in the future. 
 

2.2 Effective Asset Management within the public sector is essential in responding to 
these challenges, specifically in the areas of delivering financial efficiencies through 
reducing the size of property portfolios, re-shaping property portfolios to align to 
more efficient service delivery models, and developing strategies that set a robust 
path for the property portfolio. 

 
2.3 One of the asset categories that have been identified for review are the garage 

tenancies. 
 

2.4 There are currently 85 Garage Tenancies, these consist of a few different types of 
tenancies; 
 

 Garage Structure Tenancies – These are where the Council own the land and the 
garage structure. – There are 12 of these.  

 Garage Plot Tenancies – These are where the Council own the land and the 
garage structure has been built by the tenant. – There are 73 of these 

 
N.B There are 2 Garage structure tenants that pay a lower rent, these are exceptions 
due to them being part of a historic Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) The rent for 
these tenants is frozen for the lifetime of their tenancies. 

 
2.5 As part of a recent exercise undertaken by the Estates Department it was identified 

that we are charging significantly less than other public sector organisations, thus 
presenting the opportunity for the Council to review current rents. 
 

2.6 The last Garage rent review was undertaken by the Council was in 2016. 
 

 
 

3.0 COMPARABLES 
 

3.1 In 2011 the Estates Department took valuation advice from the District Valuer (DV) 
who suggested that we were charging significantly less than our neighbouring 
authorities. Following on from the advice taken, the Council implemented a rent 
review in 2016. Values advised by the DV in 2011 were; 

 

 Garage plots to be between £1.50 and £3.00 per week 

  Garage structures to be between £5.00 and £10.00 per week 
  
 
 

 

Page 252



3.2 The following table sets out previous rental charges, current rental charges and the 
proposed rents 

 
 

 
3.4 The proposed new rent has been determined based on recent enquires with              

neighbouring authorities, other public sector organisations and private landlords. The 
exercise identified the following; 

 

 Trivallis Housing Association have garage structure rents are £6.53 p/w for 
housing tenants and £7.83 p/w for non-housing tenants 

 Blaenau Gwent Council charge £120 p/a for single garage plots and £250 p/a 
for double plots. These charges are for garage plot tenancies. 

 Bron Afon Housing Association charge £10.82 p/w for garage structure 
tenancies. 

 A private company in the Rhondda charge £40.00 p/w for garages 
 

3.5 It is considered that some tenants may find it difficult to meet the increased rental 
charges and therefore tenants will have to ability to pay their annual rent in 
instalments subject to them making personal arrangements with the Councils Sundry 
Debt department. 

 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 If the Council did not increase the garage rents then the current total income    

received would remain at £10,365.32 p/a.  
 

4.2 Increasing garage rents would see the Councils revenue increase to £22,547.92 p/a. 
 
 
 
 

 Rent prior to 2016 Current Rent Proposed Rent 

Garage Plot 

Tenancies 

0.76p p/w (£40.00 p/a) 2.00 p/w (£104.00 p/a) £5 p/w (£260.00 p/a) 

Garage 

Structure 

Tenancies 

Ranged between 0.76p and £2.40 p/w     

(£40.00 p/a and £124.80 p/a) 

 

 

£5.00 p/w (260.00 p/a) £7.00 p/w (£364.00 p/a) 

Page 253



5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
 
It is considered that as a result of completing this impact assessment that neither positive or 
negative impacts are applicable. The subject headings are not applicable to the proposal.  
 
However, it is considered that the proposal is likely to create positive outcomes for communities 
due to the increase in revenue income.   
 
There will be a negative impact to tenants financially due to the rent being increased, however 
methods can be put in place to assist tenants regarding payment options. 

 
 
JUDITH JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 254



Document is Restricted

Page 255

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 259

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 13,14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Formal Approval Of A New Welsh Government Sustainable Management Scheme (Sms) Project Entitled Taf Bargoed Catchment Restoration
	4 Highway Adoption
	5 Petition from residents of Alexander Road, Penydarren (Park Ward)
	6 School Reorganisation 3-16 Voluntary Aided School
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7 Glebeland Place, Town Centre – Proposed Traffic Regulation Order
	Appendix 1

	8 Petition from residents of Edwards Terrace, Quakers Yard
	9 Tramroad Side North, Town Centre - Proposed Permanent Traffic Regulation Order
	Appendix 1
	Sheets and Views
	0003



	10 Care Inspectorate Wales Performance Review
	11 Inspection Report – Community Mental Health Team
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	12 Schools Balances 2018-2020
	Appendix 1

	13 NEETs Prevention and Performance
	14 Flying Start Programme Performance
	15 Garden Rent Review
	16 Garage Rent Review
	17 YMCA – Professional Team Appointment
	18 MTCBC Change Programme – Quarter One Progress 2019-2020

